



Université catholique de Louvain

Louvain Drug Research Institute

Siponimod-loaded extracellular vesicles to stimulate remyelination in the central nervous system

Viridiane Gratpain

Thèse présentée en vue de l'obtention du grade de docteure en Sciences biomédicales et pharmaceutiques

Director: Professor Anne des Rieux

À Vianney, avec toute mon admiration

"La plus grande gloire n'est pas de ne jamais tomber mais de se relever à chaque chute" Confucius

REMERCIEMENTS

On a l'habitude de comparer une thèse à un marathon. Cependant, à la différence d'un marathon, une thèse ne se fait pas en solitaire, mais avec l'aide et le soutien de nombreuses personnes. Au moment de fermer ce chapitre de ma vie, je ne peux que remercier tous ceux qui ont contribué, de près ou de loin, chacun à sa manière, à cet accomplissement.

Tout d'abord, je souhaite remercier ma promotrice, Prof. Anne des Rieux, pour m'avoir accueillie dans son équipe en 2018 lors de mon stage de fin d'études et pour m'avoir ensuite donné la possibilité de réaliser une thèse. Les vésicules extracellulaires m'étaient totalement inconnues lorsque je suis arrivée au laboratoire, mais tu as réussi à me transmettre ton engouement pour le sujet. Ton énergie débordante et ta positivité ont été une source de motivation lorsque je doutais des EVs. Merci également de m'avoir fait confiance en me laissant une certaine liberté scientifique.

Je remercie également les membres de mon comité – Prof. Muccioli, Prof. Préat, Prof. Miron, Dr. L. d'Auria et Prof. van Pesch – pour leur accompagnement et leurs suggestions tout au long de cette thèse ainsi que pour leur disponibilité lorsque j'avais des questions et les améliorations apportées à ce manuscrit. Merci aussi aux membres externes de mon jury – Prof. Morille et Prof. Vandenbroucke – d'avoir accepté de juger ce travail mais aussi pour la discussion très intéressante lors de ma défense privée, grâce à leur expertise dans le domaine des vésicules extracellulaires, ce qui a permis d'améliorer la qualité de ce manuscrit.

Je tiens aussi à remercier les Professeures Brun et Gazeau du laboratoire MSC de l'Université Paris-Cité pour leur accueil chaleureux et leur encadrement lors de mon bref passage dans leur équipe. Merci à tous les membres de leur équipe pour leur précieuse aide professionnelle mais aussi de m'avoir intégrée si rapidement à leur groupe.

Un immense merci à la Team AdR d'avoir été, durant toutes ces années, l'équipe parfaite pour réaliser une thèse. Même quand rien n'allait, passer la porte du laboratoire a toujours été un moment agréable, grâce à toutes ces discussions plus ou moins intelligentes, ces moments de rires et ces chansons partagées. Merci à Ariane pour toutes les discussions interminables, les fous rires, les essais sportifs ou autres, les voyages, bref, pour tous les moments partagés et ceux à venir ; à Yasmine pour son sourire, sa bienveillance, ses gaffes et les city-trips ; à Marie d'avoir été la partenaire rêvée pour partager l'aventure EVs ; à Floriane pour tous les moments « brainsto » et autres conversations en tout genre ; à Paloma pour ses cours d'espagnol même si je reste une piètre

élève ; à Valéry de m'avoir montré que tout problème a sa solution ; à Niki pour sa gentillesse ; à Jingjing et Zhanjun de m'avoir fait découvrir la gastronomie chinoise et à Ana pour son expertise dans les EVs.

ADDB ne serait rien sans son équipe de l'ombre composée de ses techniciens et de sa secrétaire. Merci à Bernard et Kevin pour leur support technique et leur grand professionnalisme mais avant tout pour les innombrables discussions et les bons moments partagés lors des trails et courses à pied. Merci aussi d'avoir toujours du café dans votre bureau, cela m'a été fort utile. Merci à Murielle pour son éternelle bonne humeur et son aide précieuse dans la mise en page de ce manuscrit.

Merci à l'équipe des TPs : Alessandra, Baptiste, Marie, Gwenaëlle, Kevin et Nathalie. Être assistante a été une expérience très enrichissante mais elle n'aurait sûrement pas été la même sans vous et sans tous ces bons moments passés au magasin des TPs ou dans le bureau de Nathalie.

Merci à toutes les personnes ayant travaillé ou travaillant en ADDB et qui ont contribué / contribuent à faire de ce laboratoire un espace de travail convivial. J'ai été heureuse de pouvoir partager avec vous de nombreux repas à la cafétéria mais aussi en dehors du laboratoire, de faire des sorties ciné, théâtre, acrobranche et même d'aller lancer des haches. Un merci particulier à Mathilde pour sa joie de vivre, ses recettes de cuisine et son soutien psychologique durant toutes ces années.

Finalement, je remercie ma famille, mes parents, mes frères et ma sœur pour leur soutien indéfectible mais avant tout d'avoir toujours été là pour moi et d'avoir toujours cru en moi. Toutes ces années d'études et cette thèse qui s'en est suivie n'auraient pas été possibles sans vous. Alors, tout simplement, merci d'être vous !

FOREWORD

Multiple sclerosis is a chronic, inflammatory demyelinating disorder of the central nervous system (CNS) and the most common cause of non-traumatic neurological disability in young adults. Despite significant progress in understanding the disease's pathogenesis and slowing its progression, with currently seventeen approved treatments, none of these therapies can repair the myelin sheath that is damaged during the disease. Myelin regeneration, known as remyelination, is a natural process that occurs following demyelination. However, due to chronic inflammation and the impaired differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPC) into oligodendrocytes – the CNS-resident cells responsible for myelin production – the efficacy of remyelination decreases as the disease progresses. Therefore, it is crucial to develop therapies that can both reduce inflammation and stimulate remyelination.

We have previously observed that stem cells from human apical papilla (SCAP) demonstrate antiinflammatory and neuroprotective effects through their secretome, particularly when exposed to a pro-inflammatory environment. This secretome includes both soluble factors and extracellular vesicles (EVs). Based on these findings, we hypothesized that EVs derived from SCAP could recapitulate the therapeutic properties of their parent cells. Furthermore, combining these EVs with a drug possessing pro-remyelination effects, such as siponimod, could potentially resolve inflammation and promote remyelination, two critical aspects of multiple sclerosis.

This thesis manuscript has thus been divided into 4 parts:

In **part I – Introduction**, key concepts essential for understanding this thesis will be outlined. This section will cover the physiopathology of multiple sclerosis, current and emerging therapies, as well as siponimod and its possible involvement in remyelination. Additionally, the biogenesis of extracellular vesicles and their potential use as drug delivery systems will also be discussed.

In part II – Aims, the main objectives of the thesis will be described.

In part III – Results, the main findings from this thesis will be presented. This result section is divided in two different experimental chapters. The first chapter, 'Influence of a pro-inflammatory stimulus on the miRNA and lipid content of human dental stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles and their impact on microglia activation' explores how EV composition is affected by a pro-inflammatory stimulus and assesses the ability of EVs to reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in both *in vitro* and *ex vivo* models. The second chapter, 'Siponimod-loaded EVs increased oligodendrocyte progenitor cell differentiation', focuses on using EVs as drug delivery

system for siponimod and investigates their effects on myelination and oligodendrocyte progenitor cell differentiation.

In **part IV – General discussion**, the main achievements of this PhD thesis will be presented, followed by a critical discussion regarding this work.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I INTRODUCTION	17
CHAPTER I: MULTIPLE SCELOSIS	19
I. EPIDEMIOLOGY	19
II. ETIOLOGY	20
II.1. Environmental factors	20
II.1.1. Epstein-Barr virus	20
II.1.2. VITAMIN D AND SUN EXPOSURE	20
II.1.3. Obesity	21
II.1.4. Smoking	21
II.2. GENETIC AND EPIGENETIC FACTORS	22
III. PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS	23
III.1. Cells involved in MS	25
III.1.1. T-CELLS	25
III.1.2. B-CELLS	26
III.1.3. MICROGLIA CELLS	27
III.1.4. Astrocytes	
III.1.5. OLIGODENDROGLIAL CELLS	29
III.2. LESIONS IN MS	
IV. CURRENT TREATMENTS FOR MS	33
IV.1. SUBTYPES OF MS	
IV.2. Approved therapies for MS	34
IV.2.1. Acute relapses	34
IV.2.2. DISEASE-MODIFYING THERAPIES	35
V. THE FUTURE OF MS TREATMENT	
V.1. Animal models of MS	
V.1.1. EXPERIMENTAL AUTOIMMUNE ENCEPHALOMYELITIS	
V.1.2. THEILER'S MURINE ENCEPHALOMYELITIS VIRUS	40
V.1.3. Lysolecithin-induced focal lesion	40
V.1.4. ETHIDIUM BROMIDE INJECTION	41
V.1.5. Cuprizone	41

V.2.	STEM CELL THERAPIES
V.2.1	. AUTOLOGOUS HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL TRANSPLANTATION
V.2.2	2. MESENCHYMAL STEM CELL THERAPY
V.3.	REMYELINATION THERAPY
Chapter	II: SIPONIMOD AND SPHINGOSINE-1-PHOSPHATE MODULATORS
I. Sp	PHINGOSINE-1 PHOSPHATE AND SPHINGOSINE-1 PHOSPHATE RECEPTOR EXPRESSION
II. EI	FFECTS OF SPHINGOSINE-1-PHOSPHATE RECEPTOR MODULATORS ON THE IMMUNE SYSTEM .47
II.1.	EFFECTS OF S1P ON LYMPHOCYTE RECIRCULATION
II.2.	EFFECTS OF SPHINGOSINE-1-PHOSPHATE RECEPTOR MODULATORS ON LYMPHOCYTE RECIRCULATION
II.2.1	1. FINGOLIMOD (FTY720)
II.2.2	2. FROM FINGOLIMOD TO SIPONIMOD
III. E1 SY	FFECTS OF SPHINGOSINE-1-PHOSPHATE RECEPTOR MODULATORS ON THE CENTRAL NERVOUS
III.1.	OLIGODENDROCYTE PROGENITOR CELLS AND OLIGODENDROCYTES
III.2.	ASTROCYTES AND MICROGLIA
III.3.	ENDOTHELIAL CELLS OF THE BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER
Снарт	ER III: EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES
I. IN	TRODUCTION TO EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES
I.1.	NOMENCLATURE, BIOGENESIS, AND COMPOSITION
I.1.1.	NOMENCLATURE
I.1.2.	EXOSOME AND MICROVESICLE BIOGENESIS
I.1.3.	EV COMPOSITION
I.2.	EV INTERACTION WITH CELLS
II. Ex	XTRACELLULAR VESICLE ISOLATION
III. Ex	XTRACELLULAR VESICLES AS THERAPEUTICS FOR CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM DISEASES
IV. E	XTRACELLULAR VESICLES AS NANOMEDICINES FOR CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM DISEASES 7
IV.1.	RNA
IV.2.	SMALL MOLECULES
IV.3.	PROTEIN/PEPTIDE
V. E	V ACCUMULATION IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM
V.1.	IMPACT OF ADMINISTRATION ROUTE77
V.2.	SURFACE MODIFICATION OF EV TO IMPROVE BIODISTRIBUTION
VI. TI	HE CHALLENGE OF EV-THERAPEUTIC TRANSLATION TO THE CLINIC

PART II AIM OF THE THESIS
PART III RESULTS
CHAPTER I: INFLUENCE OF A PRO-INFLAMMATORY STIMULUS ON THE MIRNA AND LIPID CONTENT OF HUMAN DENTAL STEM CELL-DERIVED EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES AND THEIR IMPACT ON MICROGLIAL ACTIVATION
I. INTRODUCTION
II. MATERIAL AND METHODS
II.1. Cell culture and isolation of EVs92
II.2. EV CHARACTERIZATION92
II.2.1. PROTEIN QUANTIFICATION92
II.2.2. NANOPARTICLE TRACKING ANALYSIS (NTA)
II.2.3. DISSOCIATION-ENHANCED LANTHANIDE FLUORESCENCE IMMUNOASSAY (DELFIA®)93
II.2.4. WESTERN BLOT
II.3. IMPACT OF A PRO-INFLAMMATORY STIMULUS ON SCAP-EV MIRNA CONTENT94
II.4. INFLUENCE OF SCAP ACTIVATION ON EV LIPID CONTENT
II.5. IMPACT OF SCAP-EVs ON BV2 CELL ACTIVATION95
II.6. IMPACT OF SCAP-EVS ON MOUSE SPINAL CORD ACTIVATION96
II.7. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS97
III. RESULTS97
III.1. CHARACTERIZATION OF SCAP-EVs97
III.2. IDENTIFICATION OF SCAP-EV MIRNA CONTENT
III.3. IMPACT OF SCAP ACTIVATION ON EV COMPOSITION100
III.3.1. MIRNA CONTENT
III.3.2. LIPID CONTENT
III.4. IMPACT OF SCAP-EVS ON MICROGLIAL PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE EXPRESSION 103
III.5. IMPACT OF SCAP-EVS ON PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE EXPRESSION IN SPINAL CORD SECTIONS
III.6. IMPACT OF THE PROTEIN FRACTION OF ACTIVATED SCAP CONDITIONED MEDIUM ON MICROGLIAL PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE EXPRESSION
IV. DISCUSSION 106
V. CONCLUSION110

CHAPTER II EV-LOADED WITH SIPONIMOD INCREASED OLIGODENDROCYTE PROGENITOR CELL DIFFERENTIATION
I. INTRODUCTION
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS
II.1. Cell culture
II.2. PRODUCTION OF SCAP-EVS LOADED WITH SIPONIMOD (EV-SIPONIMOD) BY TURBULENCE STIMULATION
II.3. EV CHARACTERIZATION117
II.3.1. NANOPARTICLE TRACKING ANALYSIS (NTA) 117
II.3.2. MARKER ANALYSIS BY NANOFLOW CYTOMETRY (NANOFCM) AND WESTERN BLOTTING 118
II.3.3. DETERMINATION OF SIPONIMOD LOADING IN EVS 118
II.4. IMPACT OF EV-SIPONIMOD ON BV2 CELL ACTIVATION118
II.5. IMPACT OF EV-SIPONIMOD ON MYELIN WRAPPING IN VITRO119
II.5.1. ISOLATION AND CULTURE OF OPC ON ELECTROSPUN NANOFIBERS
II.5.2. IN VITRO MYELINATION
II.5.3. Immunostaining and confocal microscopy
II.6. IMPACT OF EV-SIPONIMOD ON OLIGODENDROCYTE PROGENITOR CELL DIFFERENTIATION IN A PRIMARY MIXED GLIAL CULTURE
II.7. RNA EXTRACTION, REAL-TIME QPCR, AND RNA SEQUENCING ANALYSIS120
II.8. EV UPTAKE BY MIXED GLIAL CELLS
II.8.1. STAINING OF EVS
II.8.2. EV UPTAKE STUDY
II.9. IMPACT OF EV-SIPONIMOD ON REMYELINATION IN A FOCAL DEMYELINATED LESION IN VIVO
II.10. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS
III. RESULTS
III.1. TURBULENCE INDUCED HIGH-YIELD PRODUCTION OF SCAP-DERIVED EVS ENCAPSULATING SIPONIMOD123
III.2. EV-SIPONIMOD REDUCED PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE EXPRESSION IN MICROGLIAL CELLS
III.3. EV-SIPONIMOD SEEMED TO INDUCE MYELINATION125
III.4. EV-SIPONIMOD INDUCED OPC DIFFERENTIATION IN A PRIMARY MIXED GLIAL CULTURE IN VITRO
III.5. EV WERE TAKEN UP BY MIXED GLIAL CELLS OR INTERACTED WITH THEM126
III.6. IMPACT OF EV-SIPONIMOD ON REMYELINATION IN A FOCAL DEMYELINATED LESION IN VIVO

IV. D	DISCUSSION	128
V. Co	ONCLUSION	131
PART IV (GENERAL DISCUSSION	133
I. M	IAIN ACHIEVEMENTS	135
I.1.	PRODUCTION AND ISOLATION OF EVS DERIVED FROM ACTIVATED AND N ACTIVATED SCAP	10N- 135
I.2.	THE COMPOSITION OF SCAP-EV CARGO WAS IMPACTED BY A PRO-INFLAMMAT	'ORY 135
I.3.	ACTIVATED SCAP-EVS PARTIALLY RECAPITULATED THE IMMUNOMODULAT PROPERTIES OF THEIR PARENT CELLS	'ORY 136
I.4.	ENCAPSULATION OF SIPONIMOD INTO SCAP-EV DURING EV PRODUCTION	136
I.5.	SCAP-EV ENCAPSULATING SIPONIMOD COULD DECREASE PRO-INFLAMMAT CYTOKINE EXPRESSION AND ENHANCE OPC DIFFERENTIATION <i>IN VITRO</i>	'ORY 136
II. GI	ENERAL DISCUSSION	137
II.1.	WHAT IS THE INFLUENCE OF OUR EXPERIMENTAL SETTING ON OUR RESULTS?	137
II.1.1	1. HOW CAN EV PRODUCTION AND ISOLATION METHODS AFFECT THE RESULTS?	. 137
II.1.2	2. Are RP89 the best source of EVs?	. 138
II.1.3	3. ARE EVS AND SIPONIMOD DOSES RELEVANT?	. 139
II.1.4	4. CAN THE TIMING INDUCE DIFFERENT EFFECTS?	. 140
II.1.5	5. CAN THE STORAGE CONDITIONS HAVE AN IMPACT ON THE RESULTS?	. 141
II.1.6	6. WHY DID WE CHOOSE THE LYSOLECITHIN MODEL?	. 142
II.2.	ENCAPSULATION OF SIPONIMOD INTO EVS, AS SIMPLE AS IT LOOKS LIKE?	142
II.3.	EVS AS NANOMEDICINE, A UTOPIA?	144
II.3.1	1. HOW FAR ARE WE FROM CLINICS?	. 144
II.3.2	2. ARE THERE REAL ADVANTAGES TO USE EVS COMPARED TO SYNTHETIC NANOCARRIERS?	145
II.3.3	3. MY PERSONAL VIEW ON THE QUESTION	. 147
III. PE	ERSPECTIVES	148
IV. Co	ONCLUDING REMARKS	150
REFEI	RENCES	153

ABBREVIATION LIST

AHSCT	Autologous hematopoietic	IGF	Insulin growth factor
	stem cell transplant	IL	Interleukine
BACE1	Beta-site APP cleaving	ILV	Intraluminal vesicle
	enzyme 1	IN	Intranasal
BBB	Blood-brain barrier	IP	Intraperitoneal
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic	ISEV	International society of
	factor		extracellular vesicles
CIS	Clinically isolated syndromes	IV	Intravenous
CNS	Central nervous system	LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
DAMP	Damage associated molecular	LPA	Lysophosphatidic acid
	pattern	LPC	Lysophosphatidylcholine
DMT	Disease-modifying therapy	MAG	Myelin-associated
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid		glycoprotein
DNAse	Deoxyribonuclease	MBP	Myelin basic protein
EAE	Experimental autoimmune	MHC	Major histocompatibility
	encephalomyelitis		complex
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus	miRNA	microRNA
EMA	European medicines agency	MISEV	Minimal information for
ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complex		studies of extracellular
	required for transport		vesicles
EV	Extracellular vesicle	MOG	Myelin oligodendrocyte
FDA	Food and drug		glycoprotein
	administration	mRNA	messenger RNA
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor	MS	Multiple sclerosis
GalC	Galactoceramide	MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein	MVB	Multivesicular body
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-Macrophage	NAWM	Normal-appearing white
	Colony Stimulating Factor		matter
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen	NF- <i>¤</i> B	Nuclear factor-kappa B
Iba-1	Ionized calcium-binding	NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
	adaptor molecule 1		receptor
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase	OPC	Oligodendrocyte progenitor
IFN	Interferon		cell

PDGF	Platelet-derived growth	TMEV	Theiler's encephalomyelitis
	factor		virus
PDGFRα	Platelet-derived growth	TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
	factor receptor α		
PLGA	Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)		
PLP	Myelin proteolipid protein		
PPMS	Primary progressive multiple		
	sclerosis		
PTEN	Phosphatase and TENsin		
	homolog		
RNA	Ribonucleic acid		
RRMS	Relapsing-remitting multiple		
	sclerosis		
RT-qPCR	Real time quantitative		
	polymerase chain reaction		
S1P	Sphingosine-1-phosphate		
SEC	Size exclusion		
	chromatography		
siRNA	small interferent RNA		
SLO	Secondary lymphoid organ		
SNARE	Soluble N-ethylmaleimide-		
	sensitive factor attachment		
	protein receptor		
SphK	Sphingosine kinase		
SPMS	Secondary progressive		
	multiple sclerosis		
Тсм	Central memory T-cell		
TCR	T-cell receptor		
T _{EM}	Effector memory T cell		
TFF	Tangential flow filtration		
TfR	Transferrin receptor		
TGF	Transforming growth factor		
Th	T helper cells		

PART I INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER I: MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

I. EPIDEMIOLOGY

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic, inflammatory, demyelinating, and neurodegenerative disorder of the central nervous system (CNS). In 2023, it has been reported that MS affects approximately 2.9 million people worldwide [1, 2]. The global prevalence in 2020 was estimated at 35.9 per 100,000 people with a pooled incidence rate of 2.1 per 100,000 people per year [2]. Women are more at risk of developing MS as they constitute 73% of MS patients [1, 2]. The disease typically manifests between 20 and 40 years old, with an average age of MS diagnosis being 32 years old [2].

A regional disparity in both prevalence and incidence is observed, with Europe having the highest prevalence and incidence rates, followed by the Americas, South East Asia, and Africa (Figure 1).

In both hemispheres, we observed an association between increasing latitude towards the poles and increasing prevalence of MS. This is known as the latitudinal prevalence gradient [2].



Figure 1. Map showing geographic variations in MS prevalence per 100,000 people/country [2].

II. ETIOLOGY

MS is a complex disease caused by a combination of environmental, genetic, and epigenetic factors [3].

II.1. ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

Several environmental factors such as Epstein-Barr virus infection, smoking, obesity in adolescence, and low vitamin D (associated with a lack of sun exposure) are known to play a part in MS development [4].

II.1.1. Epstein-Barr virus

For decades, viral infections have been suspected to play an important role in MS onset and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) is at the top of the list. EBV is a herpes virus, which targets B cells and can stay in a latent state within the cells. A recent study on more than 10 million young adults showed that the risk of MS is 32-fold higher after infection with EBV and established a link between EBV infection and MS. Other viruses such as cytomegalovirus did not increase MS risk [5]. Moreover, a mechanistic link between MS and EBV has been recently demonstrated. Indeed, Lanz et al. highlighted a molecular mimicry between the EBV transcription factor EBV nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) and the central nervous system protein glial cell adhesion molecule (GlialCAM). Thus, after EBV infection, the immune system targets also GlialCAM in the myelin sheath [6]. The immortalization of naïve and resting B cells by EBV has also been proposed as a potential mechanism triggering MS, as well as the migration of EBV-infected B cells to the CNS, the deregulation of autoimmune control following EBV infection, and the interaction between EBV and HLA [7].

II.1.2. Vitamin D and sun exposure

Due to various epidemiological observations, which highlighted a dependence between the latitude and MS incidence, a large number of studies focused on sun exposure and vitamin D levels as an environmental factor for MS. Thus, a case-control study showed that low sun exposure in early life was associated with an increased risk of MS later in age [8]. Later, Munger et al. provided evidence that an increased 25-hydroxyvitamin D level was associated with a decrease in MS activity [9]. This could be explained by the general immunomodulatory role of vitamin D. Indeed, some studies showed that vitamin D supplementation resulted in the stimulation of regulatory T-cells (Tregs) and thus an increase of the production of IL-10, a decrease of the pro-inflammatory T helper (Th) 17 lymphocytes, which led to a decrease of IL-17 production and finally an attenuation of B-cell immunoreactivity [10]. Vitamin D seems also to have direct effects on the CNS as neurons, astrocytes, microglia, and oligodendrocytes express the vitamin D receptor. However, the potential neuroprotector and remyelinating effects of vitamin D remain to be explored [10].

Besides vitamin D level, sun exposure seems also to have benefits for MS-related immune parameters through other mechanisms involving enhanced levels of cis-urocanic acid and melatonin, which both have immunoregulatory effects [11, 12].

II.1.3. Obesity

Observational studies reported an association between obesity during adolescence and future risk of MS [4]. To confirm these results, Mokry et al. performed a Mendelian randomization study, which highlighted an association between a genetically elevated body mass index and an increased risk of MS [13]. Moreover, a significant interaction between the human leukocyte antigen HLA-DRB1*15 and obesity was observed in two case-control studies [14]. The mechanism behind the obesity-MS relationship is far from clear. However, at least three pathways seem to be involved. First, obesity induces chronic low-grade inflammation due to the secretion of inflammatory mediators by adipose tissue macrophages. Second, levels of circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D are lower in obese people than in normal-weight people. Third, adipose tissue produces leptin, a promotor of the pro-inflammatory response, proportionally to body fat mass [14]. In a case-control study, it has been shown that leptin was a risk factor for MS among young individuals [15]. This adipokine promotes autoreactive T-cell proliferation and proinflammatory cytokine secretion while inhibiting the proliferation of regulatory T cells [16, 17]).

II.1.4. Smoking

Several small studies followed by a large case-control study suggested a dose-response relationship between smoking and MS risk [4]. This could be explained by the irritation caused by smoking, which can lead to chronic lung inflammation. This inflammation promotes the activation of the immune system [18]. Furthermore, some studies highlighted a link between smoking and DNA methylation with exposure response relationship [19]. However, in 2020, two Mendelian randomization studies did not confirm any causal relationship between smoking and MS risk [20, 21]. Thus, further investigation still has to be done to elucidate the role of smoking in MS risk.

II.2. GENETIC AND EPIGENETIC FACTORS

Although MS is not a Mendelian disease and does not have an inheritance pattern, various studies have shown a higher incidence and prevalence in family members of patients compared with the general population. Thus, the risk of MS in family members of affected individuals is estimated at 4% for siblings, 2% for parents, and 2% for children. Moreover, it is now established that about 20% of MS patients have a family member affected by the disease [22]. Altogether, these results provide strong support for a significant but complex genetic etiology in MS [23].

In 2019, the International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium published a meta-analysis of 15 genome-wide association studies. This led to the identification of 233 statistically independent associations with MS susceptibility, which are genome-wide significant: 32 risk associations are on the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) locus, one is on chromosome X and 200 risk associations are in the autosomal non-MHC genome [24]. These results confirmed the involvement of many components of both adaptive and innate immunity [25]. In the polymorphic MHC region, the HLA gene cluster on chromosome 6p21 has been identified as the strongest genetic locus for MS [26]. The evidence accumulated from familial studies suggested that MS had one locus with moderate effect (HLA-DRB1*15:01) and many loci with small effects [22]. Furthermore, carriers of the HLA DRB1*15:01 allele are about three times more likely to develop MS than non-carriers [3]. While non-MHC MS risk alleles outnumber MHC MS risk alleles, some studies have shown that their impact on the disease is generally modest with an odd ratio of less than 1.2. In contrast, the 32 MHC effects contribute to approximately 4% of the total heritability in MS [25]. However, functional interpretation and translation to an understanding of the pathophysiology remain a challenge, since the exact mechanism by which HLA-coded products contribute to MS susceptibility is still unknown [25]. Recently, HLA-DRB1:15 has been associated with phenotypic markers of disease progression but progress still has to be made on this topic [23]. In 2023, the same consortium published a genome-wide association study that identified a significant association with rs10191329 in the DYSF-ZNF638 locus, where the risk allele is linked to a reduction in the median time to requiring a walking aid by approximative 3.7 years in homozygous carriers. Additionally, a suggestive association was found between rs149097173 in the DNM3-PIGC locus with a shortening in the median time to requiring a walking aid of a median of 3.3 years [27].

Finally, environmental factors can also interact with genetic risk loci through epigenetic factors such as DNA methylation, histone modification, and non-coding RNA alterations [28]. Thus, a

link between smoking and DNA methylation involved in MS pathogenesis has been established, as explained in the previous section [19].

III. PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

It is now well-established that the adaptative immune cells play a key role in the clinically defined pathology of the disease. However, the lingering question is whether these immune cells initiate the primary pathology (outside-in model) or represent a normal immune response targeted against a preceding oligodendrocytosis (inside-out hypothesis) (Figure 2) [29]. In the outside-in model, a dysregulation of the peripheral immune system leads to the infiltration of T- and B-cells into the central nervous system through a disrupted blood-brain barrier (BBB) [30]. These immune cells attack the myelin, leading to the degeneration of oligodendrocytes and the loss of myelin. This results in the release of myelin debris, which are then engulfed by the innate immune cells such as microglia. These cells act as antigen-presenting cells to T-cells, which will lead to an exacerbation of demyelination and oligodendrocytosis [29]. This model highlights the crucial role of immune cells in promoting inflammation and demyelination in multiple sclerosis [30]. However, it has been shown that the presence of inflammatory cells alone cannot induce demyelination as they can be found in both demyelinated and non-demyelinated sites. Moreover, it has been observed that peripheral inflammatory cells were absent in one-third of the CNS brain lesions [29]. The second hypothesis that may explain the etiopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis is the inside-out hypothesis. In this model, the oligodendrocyte degeneration is governed by an internal metabolic dysfunction of microglia and astrocytes. This leads to demyelination, gliosis, and release of cytokines and chemokines, which compromise the integrity of the BBB [29, 31]. Additionally, the gradual degradation of oligodendrocytes results in the release of antigenic myelin proteins into the circulatory and lymphatic systems. Altogether, this allows the entry of peripherally circulating Tand B-cells within the CNS [30]. When T-cells interact with antigen-presenting cells through major histocompatibility complex, they become activated. This activation causes the release of inflammatory mediators such as cytokines, nitric oxide, and glutamate, which exacerbate the degenerative process. This hypothesis is consistent with the observation of a low presence of parenchymal T- and B-cells in active demyelinating sites during the early stages of the disease. However, the degeneration of oligodendrocytes in MS seems to be more heterogeneous than currently understood [29]. Furthermore, if this hypothesis is correct, it is essential to elucidate the underlying mechanisms of primary oligodendrocyte death. It is presumed that these two hypotheses operate simultaneously in MS patients to contribute to the formation of inflammatory demyelinating lesions.



Figure 2. Outside-in and inside-out mechanisms during the pathogenesis of MS, adapted from [30]. The outside-in mechanism illustrates the infiltration of reactive CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells, along with B-cells, from the periphery across a leaking blood-brain barrier into the central nervous system. Once inside the CNS, resident cells and infiltrating B-cells become activated, releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines and anti-myelin antibodies, respectively. This immune response leads to demyelination, oligodendrocyte damage, and neurodegeneration. Conversely, the inside-out mechanism is initiated by axonal injury resulting in Wallerian degeneration. This process activates microglia and induces oligodendrocyte apoptosis, followed by demyelination. The activation of CNS-resident cells triggers the release of cytokines, causing the BBB to become leaky. Immune cells from the periphery can then infiltrate the CNS, exacerbating the degeneration process. APC: antigen presenting cells; BBB: blood-brain barrier; ROS: reactive oxygen species; NO: nitric oxide. Created with Biorender.

While disruption of the BBB is the main mechanism by which immune cells infiltrate the brain, recently identified osseous channels connecting skull or vertebral bone marrow to the brain provide an alternative route. These channels enable the migration of myeloid cells including neutrophils and B-cells directly from the bone marrow into the CNS, though the exact mechanism remains unclear. Additionally, it has also been demonstrated that autoreactive T-cells can migrate to the bone marrow and amplify myelopoiesis, thereby enhancing CNS inflammation [32, 33].

In any case, the pathophysiology of MS involves numerous cells including adaptive immune cells (T- and B-cells), as well as glial cells (microglia, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes).

III.1. CELLS INVOLVED IN MS

III.1.1. T-cells

T-cells, also known as T lymphocytes, play a pivotal role in the adaptive immune response by producing cytokines that mediate inflammation and regulate immune cells [34]. T-cells express the T-cell receptor (TCR) on their surface, which recognizes antigen fragments presented on MHC molecules. This recognition involves CD4 or CD8, depending on the T-cell subtype. For decades, CD4+ T-cells were considered the main adaptive immune effectors in MS, as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, the most widely used model of MS, is driven by Th1 CD4+ cells [35]. Both Th1 and Th17 CD4+ cells are found deep within MS lesions, with a higher prevalence of Th1 cells. Th1 cells produce cytokines such as IFN-y and TNFa, with IFN-y levels increasing prior to disease exacerbation. This cytokine enhances the antigen-presenting activity by increasing MHC molecule expression and activates microglia, leading to phagocytosis and direct oligodendrocyte killing. Th17 CD4+ cells, on the other hand, secrete IL-17, IL-21 and IL-22. While IL-17 is essential for normal defense mechanisms, its role in MS may be linked to glutamate excitotoxicity. IL-21 may affect lymphocyte infiltration in lesions while IL-22 promotes BBB disruption [36]. Recent evidence has highlighted the secretion of IL-17 by CD8+ T-cells in active MS lesions, in equivalent amounts to CD4+ T-cells [37]. Furthermore, a phase II study has shown that the therapeutic depletion of CD4+ T-cells did not yield any therapeutic benefits in MS patients, while depletion of all T-cells significantly reduced MS relapses and new lesion development [38]. Additionally, analysis of infiltrating T-cells in human brain lesions revealed the presence of CD8+ T-cells in a greater number than CD4+ T-cells, regardless of disease stage [39]. This suggests a potentially significant role of CD8+ T-cells in MS disease. These cells recognize antigens presented by MHC class I molecules and induce their target cell death by introducing granzymes and perforin into their cytosol [36]. In MS, the expression of the MHC-I is gradually upregulated in astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, neurons, and axons, depending on the lesion activity [40]. The pathogenicity of CD8+ T-cells has been supported by various studies, which have demonstrated their increased numbers in acute and chronic lesions, up-regulation of cytotoxic mediator granzyme B, correlation with axonal injury severity, and higher prevalence in MS patients compared to healthy individuals [39].

While MS was initially viewed as being driven by T-cells, recent advancements in B-cell therapies have demonstrated significant efficacy in treating all forms of MS, highlighting the substantial contribution of B-cells in the CNS of MS patients [41, 42].

III.1.2. B-cells

B-cells, also known as B lymphocytes, are the main effector of humoral immunity. Their precise role in MS is unclear but their crosstalk with T-cells is considered a central aspect of the disease pathogenesis [41-43]. Indeed, T-cells support B-cell proliferation and differentiation, and B-cell depletion significantly diminishes the pro-inflammatory responses of CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells [42, 44].

Studies have revealed abnormalities in B-cells in MS, including their propensity to produce excessive pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (such as TNF α , IL-6, GM-CSF, lymphotoxin- α), which contribute to inflammation propagation [45, 46]. Additionally, B-cells exhibit defective regulatory functions with a low number of transitional B regulatory cells, produce soluble toxic factors that harm oligodendrocytes and neurons, present antigens to T-cells driving brain-homing T-cell proliferation, and contribute to the formation of tertiary lymphoid-like structures in the CNS, which seem to act as local sites of antigen presentation and lymphocyte activation [42, 43]. In early and active lesions, CD20+ B-cells predominate, while effector B-cells are present at later stages. Although these cells may have potential anti-inflammatory functions, studies have shown that B-cells in MS patients exhibit deficient production of IL-10 compared to healthy controls, which may explain why B-cells in patients are less capable of downregulating immune responses [42].

While B-cells are involved in MS, the role of autoantibodies and their link to pathogenesis remain uncertain. Studies suggest the formation of autoantibodies against various CNS components like neurons, glia, and immune cells [44, 47]. Currently, no autoantibody has been identified for diagnostic use [48]. The causal antigen also remains unknown, though some studies hypothesized the involvement of the Epstein-Barr virus in B-cell overactivation [43].

In addition to the adaptive immune system, the innate immune system also contributes to multiple sclerosis through the microglia cells, which are the most predominant immune cells within lesions [49].

III.1.3. Microglia cells

Microglia cells are the resident macrophages of the CNS. They represent 10 - 20% of the glial cells and are thus the most abundant immune cells in the CNS [50]. Under normal conditions, these cells maintain CNS homeostasis by continuously surveying the environment through their motile protrusions [51]. They stand prepared to respond to insults such as viral and bacterial infections, toxins, and local tissue injury [52].

In MS patients, activated microglia are found in the CNS lesions (Figure 3). They are the major source of reactive oxygen species and produce nitric oxide radicals. Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells are particularly vulnerable to oxidative stress due to their lower expression levels of antioxidant enzymes. Microglia cells also contribute to excitotoxicity by producing glutamate [50]. Moreover, they act as antigen-presenting cells through MHC class I and II molecules, which are expressed at low levels in physiological conditions [51]. Microglia cells can also form small clusters of at least 4 up to 50 cells that are in contact with each other, named microglia nodules. These nodules are considered to precede lesion formation and are associated with axons undergoing Wallerian degeneration [53]. Microglia nodule as putative precursors of lesion formation in MS is consistent with the inside-out hypothesis.

Early after demyelination, microglia cells secrete many pro-inflammatory cytokines in active lesions, including IL-6, IL-1β, IL-12, IL-18, IL-23, and TNFα but also chemokines such as CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CCL7, CCL12, and CCL22. They can cause damage to the myelin sheath and oligodendrocytes, thereby contributing to CNS inflammation in MS patients [52]. Proinflammatory microglia persist within the lesion until resolution or inactivity occurs. Subsequently, a transition to an immunoregulatory phenotype is observed, promoting remyelination through the expression of anti-inflammatory markers such as CD206, arginase-1, IL-4, and IL-10. TNFa and IL-1 β , also produced by these cells, stimulate OPC survival and proliferation during this phase [51, 54]. Furthermore, microglia cells are involved in the phagocytosis and clearance of myelin debris through the receptor TREM2. This process is critical in remyelination. Indeed, reduced myelin debris clearance has been associated with impaired remyelination [52]. Microglia also produce IGF1 and FGF2, which promote oligodendrocyte proliferation and support neuronal repair [50]. Recently, single-cell RNA sequencing has expanded our understanding on microglia in MS. Thus, it led to the identification of two functional subtypes of "microglia inflamed in MS" (MIMS) at the chronic active lesion edge. The first subtype, MIMS-foamy, is involved in myelin phagocytosis and clearance, while the second subtype, MIMS-iron, may contribute to the breakdown of immune tolerance in the presence of immunoglobulin immune complexes in MS [55, 56].



Figure 3. Effects of microglia-derived factors on oligodendrocyte lineage depending on microglial subsets, adapted from [57]. Pro-inflammatory microglia secrete cytokines and reactive oxygen species that can directly damage oligodendrocytes, resulting in demyelination and disease progression. At the opposite, immunoregulatory microglia secrete cytokines and growth factors which promote OPC migration and differentiation, resulting in remyelination and disease progression. ROS: reactive oxygen species; OPC: oligodendrocyte progenitor cells. Created with Biorender.

Thus, microglia cells have a complex role in balancing the risk of potential harm to CNS tissue and supporting tissue repair.

III.1.4. Astrocytes

Astrocytes are the most abundant cell type in the CNS, as they represent approximately 30% of the glial cells [58, 59]. They support the neurons and the oligodendrocytes by providing energy substrates and trophic factors but also maintaining extracellular medium composition, pH, and electrolyte balance [59]. Additionally, astrocytes contribute to maintaining BBB integrity and are a major component of the glia limitans, regulating molecule entry into the brain parenchyma [58].

In MS, astrocytes exhibit a hypertrophic morphology in the active margins of demyelinating lesions, suggesting their early and active involvement in lesion development [60]. Initially, astrocytes

promote an inflammatory environment in MS lesions by releasing inflammatory mediators such as CCL2, IL-1 β , TNF α , glutamate, and nitric oxide, leading to endothelial cell apoptosis and downregulation of tight junction protein expression, thereby increasing BBB permeability [61-64]. Astrocytes also actively recruit T-cells into the CNS parenchyma by producing chemoattractant molecules such as CCL20, CXCL10, IL-6, and tissue plasminogen activators which increase T-cell binding to endothelial cells [65, 66]. Activation of NF- α B pathway by IL-1 β and TNF α is pivotal for establishing neuroinflammation [29]. Furthermore, the reactive astrocytes contribute to excitotoxic injury as the expression of glutamate-degrading enzymes is reduced, leading to excessive extracellular glutamate [59]. In patients, astrocytes also form glial scars, which act as a physical barrier that blocks OPC migration into demyelinated areas. Thus, OPC are almost sequestered at the lesion edges, leading to a failure of remyelination [67, 68]. Moreover, secretion of substances that interfere with remyelination (e.g. hyaluronan, FGF2, TNF α , IL-6) is also upregulated in the glia scar [69]. However, this scar may support demyelinating axons by confining inflamed areas and preventing the spread of immune cells and toxic levels of extracellular ions, metabolites, or DAMPs into the areas of repair [31, 58].

Over time, astrocytes transition to a more protective phenotype, secreting retinoic acid and antiinflammatory cytokines (IL-4, IL-10, and IL-27), which limit BBB damage and inflammation [59]. Similar to microglia cells, astrocytes possess detoxification activities and express BDNF in lesions, promoting neuronal survival and regulating oligodendrocyte generation and remyelination [31].

III.1.5. Oligodendroglial cells

Oligodendroglial cells include oligodendrocytes and oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPC). Oligodendrocytes are the CNS resident cell types responsible for myelin production. Myelin, consisting of oligodendroglial plasma loops tightly wound concentrically around the axon, facilitates saltatory conduction of neuronal action potential between nodes of Ranvier, enhancing nerve conduction speed and energy efficiency. Myelin also provides trophic support to neurons [70, 71]. Oligodendrocytes derive from OPCs. These stem cells, which represent 5 to 8% of the glial population, possess self-renewal potential and rapidly proliferate in response to injury [71, 72]. They are distributed throughout the CNS in both white and grey matter and require various molecules such as Olig1, Olig2, Nkx2.2, Nkx2.6, MyT1, and Sox-10 for differentiation [73-75].

In MS, pro-inflammatory and oxidative injuries lead to demyelination and oligodendrocyte loss, associated with progressive axonal degeneration and neurological decline. However, recovery from relapses in acute inflammatory lesions involves several mechanisms including remyelination.

Remyelination is a spontaneous regenerative process wherein demyelinated axons are ensheathed with new myelin sheaths, leading to functional recovery and clinical remittance [70, 71]. Prior to oligodendrocyte formation, the lesions are repopulated by OPCs. This migration is strongly governed by chemotactic cues such as PDGF, CXCL12, and semaphorin 3F which are chemoattractants, and netrin-1, semaphorin 3A, ephrins, CXCL1, and tenascin C which are chemorepellents [70, 71, 76, 77]. Activated by the pro-inflammatory environment and cytokines (e.g. TNFa, IL-1β, IL-11, and CXCL12), OPCs mature into pre-oligodendrocytes expressing oligodendrocyte marker O4 and transition into non-motile and proliferative cells with a complex morphology. Subsequently, pre-oligodendrocytes differentiate into immature oligodendrocytes [78]. These cells have undergone cell cycle arrest while oligodendrocyte marker O4 but not OPC markers such as A2B5 and PDGFRa. Immature oligodendrocytes elaborate arborizations and acquire maturity-associated markers (e.g. GalC) without forming myelin. The final step of remyelination involves the differentiation of immature oligodendrocytes into mature cells, synthesizing myelin components, and compacting myelin membranes around axons [70] (Figure 4). In MS, completely remyelinated lesions, termed shadow plaques, exhibit a relative decrease in myelin thickness and internodal length compared to the original parameters [70, 71]. Despite this, the myelin sheaths provide full functional recovery for axons and act as protective physical barriers against inflammatory molecules. However, remyelination becomes insufficient as MS progresses in most patients due to various factors [70, 79] :

- Interruption of remyelination due to inflammation.
- Secretion of CXCL1 and ephrins by glia scars, impeding OPC migration into lesions.
- Exhaustion of OPC sources following repeated demyelination episodes. However, contrary evidence suggests a failure in differentiation rather than recruitment.
- Reactivation of Wnt signaling pathways and developmental myelination regulators (e.g. LINGO-1, PSA-NCAM), leading to impaired OPC differentiation.
- Physiological aging and epigenetic age acceleration of glial cells. The exact mechanism underlying the accelerated aging remains to be clarified but could be linked to the exhaustion of glial cells [80, 81].



Figure 4. OPC differentiation, adapted from [82]. In MS lesions, microglia, and astrocytes express factors that recruit OPCs to the lesion site. These OPCs, identified by markers such as A2B5 and PDGFR α , are attracted to the area of damage. Once at the lesion, OPCs differentiate into immature oligodendrocytes in response to differentiation-promoting signals. These immature cells further mature into myelinating oligodendrocytes, which produce and restore myelin. Created with Biorender

III.2. LESIONS IN MS

MS is characterized by focal demyelinated areas in the white and grey matter of the CNS called lesions or plaques [83]. They indicate a loss of myelin sheath [84]. Lesions in MS patients are associated with axonal and neuronal loss that correlates with patient disability, astrocytic gliosis, and BBB breakdown [3, 83, 85].

In white matter, focal lesions include demyelinating lesions, inactive lesions, chronic active lesions, and slowly expanding lesions [86]. Active demyelinating lesions characterize the early disease stages [85, 87]. These lesions present an active lymphocyte infiltration (mainly CD8+ T-cells) associated with microglial activation mostly at the edge and in the periplaque [85]. Macrophages are principally in the centre and contain remnants of the destroyed myelin sheaths [87]. More precisely, minor myelin proteins such as MOG and MAG are rapidly degraded within macrophages while MBP and PLP persist in macrophages for 6 to 10 days [49]. The presence of large reactive astrocytes is also observed as well as a perivascular inflammation. Axons are relatively preserved but loss or

fragmentation occurs where damage is the most severe [49]. Inactive lesions mainly characterize later disease stages [85]. These lesions are sharply circumscribed and hypocellular [49, 85]. They present well-defined demyelination with dense fibrillary scars between the demyelinated axons [87]. A reactive astrocyte gliosis is observed as well as a decrease in mature oligodendrocyte number [49]. Finally, the number of microglia is reduced in the centre of the demyelinated plaque while activated microglia are in the periplaque [85, 87]. The density of lymphocytes is lower than in active lesions. In patients with a longer disease duration, chronic active lesions are observed. Macrophages are recruited at the edges. Fewer macrophages are present at the centre [85].

Slowly expanding lesions are also lesions, that affect patients in later disease stages [87]. These lesions consist of an inactive demyelinated centre surrounded by a rim of activated microglia. Few macrophages containing myelin debris are present at the edge, as well as an active axonal injury, leading to transected axons. Altogether, this suggests a very slow rate of ongoing demyelination and axonal damage [85].

Besides the focal lesions described above, macroscopically normal white matter with signs of diffuse inflammation and neuro-axonal damage can also be observed. They are called normal-appearing white matter (NAWM) and are pronounced in patients with progressive MS while they are spared in early MS stages [87]. Contrary to what researchers think, NAWM occurs independently from focal lesions. They are characterized by axonal degeneration and demyelination, diffuse T-cell infiltration (mostly CD8+), widespread microglia activation, diffuse axonal injury, and astrocytic gliosis.

Extensive cortical demyelination can also be observed in grey matter, more specifically in the forebrain and the cerebellum [85]. Grey matter lesions may appear as subcortical white matter lesions or may occur independently from white matter damages [49]. These lesions present some differences compared to white matter lesions: the degree of inflammation, the microglia activation, and the macrophage recruitment are much less compared with what happens in white matter [85, 87]. In consequence, there is less global tissue injury. However, cortical demyelination may have an impact on neuronal, dendritic, and axonal functions, viability, and survival [49].

IV. CURRENT TREATMENTS FOR MS

IV.1. SUBTYPES OF MS

The International Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials in MS defined four clinical courses of MS (Figure 5):

- Relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS): this form is characterized by recurrent relapses, which are the clinical expression of acute focal or multifocal inflammatory demyelination in the CNS [88]. It affects around 85% of the patients. Between relapses, a complete or incomplete neurological recovery is observed [85].
- Clinically isolated syndrome (CIS): this is the first clinical presentation of a disease that shows characteristics of inflammatory demyelination that could be MS but has yet to fulfill the criteria of dissemination in time [89]. In 2/3 of cases, CIS evolves in RRMS while in one-third of cases, the patients remain with monophasic illness, at least clinically [90].
- Primary progressive MS (PPMS): this form is characterized by a progressive accumulation
 of disability from the onset, leading to progressive and permanent neurological deficits for
 more than one year without relapses [85, 89]. PPMS affects around 15% of the MS
 population and is most commonly observed in males and older patients [88].
- Secondary progressive MS (SPMS): this form is characterized by a progressive accumulation of disability after an initial relapsing course [89]. In this case, a progressive and irreversible disability occurs independently of the presence of relapses [85]. SPMS commonly follows a period of well-defined RRMS (three or more years) with 90% of untreated RRMS patients becoming SPMS after 25 years [88]. With a more complete diagnosis of benign MS, the use of disease-modifying therapies, and lifestyle modifications, the disease course has changed, resulting in a lower risk of conversion to SPMS and a delay in the age at which patients reached disease milestones [91-93]. However, there are no clear clinical, imaging, immunologic, or pathologic criteria to determine the transition point when RRMS converts to SPMS.

CIS and RRMS can be active or not active, with activity determined by clinical relapses and or MRI activity. Progressive disease (PPMS and SPMS) can be active and with progression, active but

without progression, not active but with progression, or not active and without progression (stable disease). The progression is measured by clinical evaluation assessed at least annually [89].



Figure 5. MS clinical course [83]. Four clinical courses have been described for MS: Relapsing-remitting MS in which relapses are separated by periods characterized by a lack of disease progression; Clinically isolated syndrome, which is the first clinical presentation of the disease showing characteristics of inflammatory demyelination but without dissemination in time; Primary progressive MS in which the disease progresses from the onset; Secondary progressive MS which characterizes a progressive accumulation of disability after an initial relapsing course.

IV.2. Approved therapies for MS

The current therapeutic approach for MS includes relapse treatment to accelerate clinical recovery and disease-modifying therapies (DMTs) to reduce MS relapses, delay the progression of disability, and limit new inflammation in the CNS [94].

IV.2.1. Acute relapses

Relapses are defined as clinical episodes manifested as discrete episodes of neurological dysfunction lasting at least 24h, occurring in the absence of fever, infection, or acute concurrent medical illness. Symptoms usually peak within 1 to 2 weeks and then gradually ameliorate over the following 2 to 4 weeks without intervention [95, 96]. Not all relapses require treatment. However, when treatment is needed, most neurologists recommend high doses of oral or intravenous corticosteroids, such as methylprednisolone, administered for a short duration to reduce inflammation and end the relapse faster [94]. In cases where corticosteroid therapy proves ineffective, plasmapheresis, which leads to a positive response in 72% of patients, should be performed [3, 95, 96].

IV.2.2. Disease-modifying therapies

Advances in understanding the pathogenesis and progression of MS have led to major progress in its treatment. Current management strategies focus on reducing disease activity and slowing disease progression using DMTs [96]. DMTs alter the course of relapsing MS by exerting immunomodulatory or immunosuppressive effects. They reduce the rate of relapses, decrease the accumulation of MRI lesions, and stabilize disability. However, they do not confer benefits in the later secondary progressive phase (SPMS), during which neurodegenerative mechanisms become clinically predominant [96, 97]. Only Ocrelizumab has demonstrated efficacy in slowing progression in patients with PPMS [98].

The European Medicines Agency (EMA) and the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) have approved 17 DMTs for relapsing MS (Table 1).

Two different therapeutic approaches are used in the treatment of MS: escalation therapy and induction therapy [99]. The escalation approach involves the early initiation of first-line DMTs such as IFN- β -1a and 1b, glatiramer acetate, dimethyl fumarate, and teriflunomide. If the treatment is ineffective or partially effective, the therapy is switched to second-line drugs, including mitoxantrone, natalizumab, and fingolimod. In contrast, the induction approach starts with the early use of immunosuppressant drugs typically recommended as a second-line or third-line treatments in patients with very aggressive or active MS disease. This initial step is followed by long-term maintenance treatment, usually with immunomodulatory agents. A cohort study with prospective data showed that the escalation approach was associated with a lower risk of conversion to SPMS compared to induction therapy [91].

Table 1. Overview of DMT's approved by EMA and FDA for multiple sclerosis. Nrf2: nuclear factor erythroid 2–related factor 2; NF-xB: nuclear factor-kappa B; S1P: Sphingosine-1-phosphate; APC: antigen-presenting cell; MHC: major histocompatibility complex; PML: progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy; ITP: immune thrombocytopenia; CNS: central nervous system; BBB: blood-brain barrier

Drug	Year of licensing	Mechanisms of action	Indication	Frequency of administration	Common side effects	Ref.			
Oral administration									
Fingolimod (Gilenya®)	2011	S1P receptor modulator, inhibition of lymphocyte egression from lymphatic tissues	RRMS	0.5 mg / day	Bradyarrhythmia, heart, block, increased risk of, infections, lymphopenia, liver dysfunction	[100]			
Teriflunomid (Aubagio®)	2013	Pyrimidine synthesis inhibitor (dihydroorotate dehydrogenase inhibitor), inhibition of autoreactive B- and T-cell proliferation	RRMS	7 or 14 mg / day	Nausea, diarrhea, alopecia, skin rash, hepatotoxicity	[3]			
Dimethyl fumarate (Tecfidera®)	2014	Possible Nrf2 pathway activator and NF-¤B inhibitor, reduction of inflammatory cytokine release	RRMS	2 x 240 mg / day	Flushing, gastrointestinal symptoms, lymphopenia	[3, 96]			
Cladribine (Mavenclad®)	2017	Synthetic deoxyadenosine analog, B- and T- cell depletion	RRMS	3.5 mg/kg, cumulative dose over 2 years	Lymphopenia, increased risk of infection, headache	[96]			
Siponimod (Mayzent®)	2019	S1P receptor modulator, inhibition of lymphocyte egression from lymphatic tissues	RRMS	0.25 – 2 mg / day	Headache, nasopharyngitis, urinary tract infection, falls	[101]			
Ozanimod (Zeposia®)	2020	S1P receptor modulator, inhibition of lymphocyte egression from lymphatic tissues	RRMS	0.92 mg / day	Upper respiratory tract infection, elevated liver enzymes, orthostatic hypotension	[102]			
Ponesimod (Ponvory®)	2021	S1P receptor modulator, inhibition of lymphocyte egression from lymphatic tissues	RRMS	20 mg / day	Upper respiratory tract infection, elevated liver enzymes, hypertension	[103]			
---------------------------------------	---	--	------------------	------------------	---	-------------	--	--	--
		Subcutaneo	ous administrati	on					
IFN β-1b (Betaferon®, Extavia®)	IFN β-1b1995Downregulates expression of MHC molecules on APC, alters cytokine expression, inhibits T-cell proliferation, and blocks trafficking of inflammatory cells to CNS		RRMS	250 μg / 2 days	Influenza-like symptoms, injection site reactions, lymphopenia	[3]			
IFN β-1a (Rebif®)	1998	1998 Downregulates expression of MHC molecules on APC, alters cytokine expression, inhibits T-cell proliferation, and blocks trafficking of inflammatory cells to CNS		3 x 44 μg / week	Influenza-like symptoms, injection site reactions, rhinitis, headache	[3]			
Glatiramer acetate (Copaxone®)	Glatiramer acetate (Copaxone®)2003 - 2015Amino acid copolymer, alters T-cell differentiation inducing proliferation of anti-inflammatory lymphocytesPegIFN β-1a (Plegridy®)2014Downregulates expression of MHC molecules on APC, alters cytokine expression, inhibits T-cell proliferation, and blocks trafficking of inflammatory cells to CNSOfatumumab (Kesimpta®)2021Human anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, depletes B- cells		RRMS	20 – 40 mg / day	Injection-site reactions, lipoatrophy, post- injection general reaction	[3, 104]			
PegIFN β-1a (Plegridy®)			RRMS	125 µg / 2 weeks	Injection-site reactions, influenza-like symptoms	[96]			
Ofatumumab (Kesimpta®)			RRMS	20 mg / 4 weeks	Injection-site reactions, nasopharyngitis, headache, upper respiratory tract and urinary tract infections	[105]			
Intramuscular administration									
IFN β-1a (Avonex®)	1997	Downregulates expression of MHC molecules on APC, alters cytokine expression, inhibits T-cell proliferation, and blocks trafficking of inflammatory cells to CNS	RRMS	30 µg / week	Influenza-like symptoms, muscle aches, asthenia, chills, fever	[3]			

	Intravenous administration								
Natalizumab (Tysabri®)	2006	Humanized monoclonal antibody, α4β1 integrin inhibitor, prevents lymphocytes from entering the CNS across the BBB	RRMS	300 mg / 4 weeks	PML, upper respiratory tract and urinary tract infections, infusion reactions	[96]			
Alemtuzumab (Lemtrada®)	2013	Humanized anti-CD52 monoclonal antibody, depletes B- and T-cells (CD4+ and NK cells)	RRMS	12 mg/ m ² / year (2 courses in total)	Autoimmune thyroid disease, ITP, Goodpasture's syndrome, infusion reactions	[96]			
Ocrelizumab (Ocrevus®)	2017	Humanized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, depletes B-cells	RRMS/PPMS	600 mg / 6 months (4 courses in total)	Infusion reactions, chest infection, herpes infection	[106]			
Mitoxantrone (Noventrone®)	2000	Synthetic anthracenedione derivative, neoplastic and immunomodulatory agent, suppresses macrophage, T- and B- cell proliferation, decreases proinflammatory cytokine secretion	RRMS	12 mg/ m ² / 3 months	Cumulative dose-dependent cardiomyopathy, acute leukemia	[107, 108]			

V. THE FUTURE OF MS TREATMENT

MS is a complex disease with no definitive cause and effective cure. Therefore, animal models are indispensable for unraveling the underlying mechanisms of MS and evaluating new treatments.

V.1. ANIMAL MODELS OF MS

Various animal models are commonly used in MS research. For a long time, these models were categorized into two groups: disease models and mechanism models. Disease models attempt to replicate the disease as accurately as possible. This category regroups the inflammatory models such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV). In contrast, mechanism models provide a more reductionist approach and are used to study a specific aspect of the pathology like demyelination and remyelination process. This category includes toxin-induced models such as focal injection of toxins (lysolecithin or ethidium bromide) and oral administration of cuprizone.

V.1.1. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

EAE is an autoimmune model characterized by inflammation, myelin damage, and neurodegeneration following immunization with CNS antigen (frequently MOG) emulsified in an adjuvant to elicit T-cell responses and thus increase immune response [109, 110]. It particularly models the inflammatory aspects of MS [70, 109]. However, the remyelination is not extensive, which may be due to the dense infiltration of macrophages and microglia in the lesion over a prolonged time, and to the extensive axonal lost which occurs in this model [111] [70].

Although this model has significantly contributed to our understanding of MS mechanisms and led to the development of several therapeutics for early MS (IFN- β -1 α , IFN- β -1 β , glatiramer acetate, natalizumab, and mitoxantrone) [29, 83, 109, 110], it was not able to predict significant side effects of the immunotherapeutic approaches [29]. Furthermore, it is important to use caution when interpreting the data obtained from this model, as it has a few drawbacks. Firstly, while EAE animals have a localized inflammation in the spinal cord, inflammation in MS is usually spread within the brain. Secondly, EAE is a monophasic disease, while MS has a more relapsing-remitting disease course. Thirdly, there are differences in the immune system between species. Lastly, the T-cell response in EAE is heavily biased towards CD4+ T-cells, whereas CD8+ T-cells dominate in MS [83, 109].

V.1.2. Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus

TMEV is a single-stranded RNA picovirus able to induce immune-mediated death of oligodendroglial cells, axonal damage, and demyelination in both white and grey matter of the CNS [70]. This natural pathogen of mice results in a neurological disease that has a biphasic course [110]. The first phase, known as the acute phase, occurs one week after the injection and is characterized by the infection and the apoptosis of neurons in the grey matter of the brain. The second phase, known as the chronic phase, occurs one month after injection and is characterized by the infection of glial cells and macrophages, inflammatory demyelination, apoptosis of oligodendrocytes, and axonal degeneration in the white matter of the spinal cord [112, 113]. Although the CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell response is important in the neuropathogenesis of this disease, it is not sufficient to induce demyelination, as the persistence of infectious virus is needed for that to happen [110].

V.1.3. Lysolecithin-induced focal lesion

Lysolecithin, also known as lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC), is a phospholipid commonly used to study remyelination in white matter tracts [114]. It induces demyelination in specific areas of the CNS, which can be observed within a few days. Spontaneous remyelination is typically observed by 14 days and becomes extensive by 6 weeks [70, 110]. The exact mechanism of action is not yet fully understood but it is now assumed that LPC disrupts membranes, including myelin, by inserting into lipid bilayers to form micelles [114, 115]. This insertion can lead to cell membrane permeability and necrotic cell death even below the critical micellar concentration. Recently, alternative mechanisms have been described including those involving receptor-mediated responses. Although no receptor is known to directly bind LPC, it has been shown that LPC could act through G-protein coupled receptors [114]. Additionally, LPC may act via lysophosphatidic acid (LPA). Indeed, in vivo, LPC is hydrolyzed into LPA by autotaxin, and it has been demonstrated that injection of LPA into spinal cord white matter was sufficient to induce demyelination [70, 114]. However, these two mechanisms are believed to be secondary to membrane destabilization and are unlikely to drive primary demyelination following LPC injection [114]. Furthermore, LPC may trigger an inflammatory response by acting as a chemo-attractant for monocytes [110]. However, there are confounding issues of toxin-induced axonal damage, BBB breakdown, and moderate traumatic injury with consequent immune cell infiltration at the injection site [70].

V.1.4. Ethidium bromide injection

Ethidium bromide is a DNA intercalating agent that induces demyelination in predefined areas of the CNS by inducing oligodendrocyte death at the site of injection [70]. The remyelination is very slow, with very little remyelination at 14 days, largely incomplete at 6 weeks, and extensive remyelination around 3.5 months. Due to its DNA intercalating properties, the effects observed with ethidium bromide are not specific to myelinating cells, and depletion of astrocytes is observed [110].

V.1.5. Cuprizone

Bis-cyclohexanone oxaldihydrazone, also known as cuprizone, is a copper chelator, frequently used as a model for toxic demyelination [116]. In this model, young mice are fed with cuprizone, which leads to the death of oligodendrocytes and subsequent reversible demyelination in specific white matter tracts of the brain [30]. Acute demyelination typically manifests after 5 - 6 weeks of treatment, characterized by nearly complete demyelination of corpus callosum and significant oligodendrocytosis. Chronic demyelination is observed after 12 - 13 weeks of treatment, characterized by progressive ablation of oligodendrocytes, massive demyelination, and axonal injury [110]. Following cessation of cuprizone treatment, robust spontaneous remyelination of demyelinated lesions is observed [116]. However, the mechanisms involved in cuprizone's action are not yet fully elucidated. Copper is an essential component of the mitochondrial enzyme cytochrome oxidase. Cuprizone treatment induces a decrease in the production of energy in oligodendrocytes and an increase in oxidant production, allowing the recruitment of microglia cells. These cells secrete high levels of inflammatory cytokines and may induce oligodendrocyte death. Cuprizone does not cross the epithelial barrier, suggesting its effect may be indirect by interfering with intestinal cooper absorption and reducing copper bioavailability [110, 116]. Additionally, cuprizone induces atrophy of peripheral immune organs such as the spleen and thymus, resulting in a diminished adaptive immune response [29]. The BBB remains intact in the cuprizone model, further limiting the capability of T-cells to infiltrate the CNS [70]. Several therapeutics are now being tested in the cuprizone model to develop drugs that promote new myelin formation and minimize progressive demyelination [29].

V.2. STEM CELL THERAPIES

Despite the increasing number of therapeutics approved for MS, clear unmet needs exist for effective DMTs in some sub-groups of MS such as aggressive MS, treatment-refractory MS, and progressive MS. In this context, cell-based therapies including autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (AHSCT) and mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) therapies have been explored for several years [117, 118].

V.2.1. Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation

AHSCT is a well-established multistep procedure designed to replace a patient's immune system with a new one derived from hematopoietic stem cells (HSC). The procedure involves four main steps. Firstly, HSC mobilization is initiated using granulocyte-colony stimulating factors alone or in combination with cyclophosphamide. This process aims to stimulate the release of precursor cells into the bloodstream. Following mobilization, the next step involves the harvesting of HSCs. Then, the immune cells, including those thought to be autoreactive in MS, are depleted through myeloablative or lymphoablative treatment. Finally, the immune system is rebuilt through the transplantation of HSCs, which will develop into a new immune system. While growing evidence supports the efficacy and safety of AHSCT, with two-thirds of treated patients maintaining no evidence of disease activity up to 4-5 years post-treatment [117], AHSCT has not been yet integrated into most national clinical guidelines [119], probably due to the limited number of randomized clinical trials. The results of the only randomized clinical trial conducted thus far, comparing AHSCT with standard DMT in RRMS patients, demonstrated a significant advantage in terms of time to disease progression and quality of life impairments [120]. Ongoing randomized clinical trials, such as RAM-MS and BEAT-MS are performed [121]. In Sweden, a retrospective observational study revealed promising outcomes, with AHSCT associated with a maintenance of "no evidence of disease activity" over 5 years in 73% of RRMS patients without compromising safety [119]. While no malignancies were reported, thyroid disorders were described. Similar findings have been reported in studies conducted in Norway and Denmark [122, 123]. Currently, AHSCT is recommended for young individuals (under 45 years old) with active RRMS or progressive MS at high risk for future disability. Eligibility criteria typically include recent clinical inflammatory activity, short disease duration (no longer than 10 years), and failure of approved high-efficiency DMTs [117, 118].

V.2.2. Mesenchymal stem cell therapy

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) have emerged as a promising therapeutic option for individuals with MS due to their immunomodulatory and neuroprotective properties.

MSCs are multipotent adult stem cells capable of self-renewal and differentiation into various cell lineages, including mesordermal, ectodermal, and endodermal cells. They can be isolated from multiple sources such as bone marrow, adipose tissue, dental tissues, umbilical cord, and placenta. One of the key therapeutic mechanisms of MSC is their immunomodulatory properties, associated with their differentiation capacity and their paracrine effects through growth factor and cytokine secretion and their extracellular vesicles. *In vitro*, MSC can promote regulatory T-cell differentiation, inhibit the differentiation of Th1 and Th17 cells, and induce an anti-inflammatory phenotype in macrophages by secreting anti-inflammatory factors. Additionally, MSC can differentiate towards oligodendrocyte expressing OPC markers such as A2B5 and Olig2. Finally, MSC possess the capacity to move forwards the damage area following chemical gradients, making them attractive candidates for MS treatment.

Experimental models of MS, such as EAE and cuprizone-induced demyelination, have demonstrated the beneficial effects of MSC in reducing inflammatory infiltration, and demyelination and promoting OPC differentiation and remyelination. These preclinical studies have shown improvements in clinical scores and motor functions [124, 125].

Up to date, 29 clinical trials are registered on Clinicaltrials.gov, investigating the safety and the feasibility of MSC transplantation for MS, primarily focusing on SPMS. These trials are mainly phase 1 or 2 studies. Overall, MSC transplantation was feasible and has been well-tolerated, with no serious adverse events reported. Common adverse effects include fever and headache [124].

However, the efficacy of MSC therapy in MS remains uncertain, and conflicting results have been reported. While a double-blind randomized phase I/IIa study reported no significant differences in the rate of relapses, clinical score, and cognitive conditions, and a double-blind randomized phase I/II study highlighted the absence of treatment's effect on the number of gadolinium-enhancing lesions with the active form of MS [126, 127], a few phase I/IIa studies reported short-term beneficial effect (50% of patients had no evidence of disease activity in one trial), improvements in the clinical score and muscle strength [128-131]. Intrathecal administration has been suggested to be more efficacious than intravenous infusion [128]. However, studies including larger cohorts are needed to really understand the therapeutic potential of MSC therapy.

V.3. **Remyelination Therapy**

While the currently approved therapies for MS are predominantly immunomodulating, no therapeutics directly repair damage and restore functions. This last decade, research efforts, aimed at developing therapies for MS, have increasingly focused on remyelination of existing lesions, which could potentially restore function and prevent axonal degeneration. Several candidates have been validated in animal models such as EAE and toxin-induced demyelination, leading to several clinical trials. Here are some of the notable candidates:

- Monoclonal antibodies
 - **Opicinumab (anti-LINGO antibody)**: inhibits LINGO-1 (leucine rich repeat and Ig domain containing 1), a protein able to inhibit differentiation and axonal regeneration. Despite interesting results in preclinical models and phase II trial on optic neuritis, the SYNERGY trial included RRMS, and active SPMS participants did not show improvement in disability compared with placebo [132].
 - **Temelimab** (formerly known as GNbAC1, **anti-HERV-W-Env antibody**): neutralizes the envelope protein of human endogenous retrovirus W (HERV-W-Env) which inhibits immune cell activation and OPC maturation [133]. However, a randomized double-blind phase II trial did not meet its primary endpoint [134].
- **Biotin (MD1003):** a cofactor for carboxylases expressed on oligodendrocytes. In a definitive phase III trial, high-dose biotin supplementation did not show significant improvement in disability outcomes compared with placebo [132].
- GSK239512: antagonist of the histamine H3 receptor, able to stimulate OPC differentiation in vitro [132]. A randomized double-blind phase II study reported a small but significant effect on magnetization transfer ratio. However, this positive effect did not translate into clinical benefits [135].
- Bexarotene: agonist of the retinoid X receptor γ, promotes OPC differentiation. While its remyelinating benefits have been demonstrated in animal models, bexarotene was not well-tolerated and failed to meet the primary endpoint of a randomized double-blind phase II trial in RRMS [136]. However, converging neurophysiological and MRI evidence of efficacy were observed [137].
- Clemastine fumarate: antagonist of the muscarinic M1 receptor, belongs to the first generation of antihistamines and able to stimulate OPC differentiation [138]. The phase II ReBUILD trial reported a significant visual evoked potential latency (neurophysiological marker allowing the evaluation of remyelination) suggesting the possible achievement of

myelin repair [139]. The translation of this observation in clinical improvement is yet to be established [140].

- **Domperidone**: inhibitor of dopamine receptor, increases serum prolactin levels, which promotes remyelination [141]. A randomized open-label phase II trial demonstrated reasonably good tolerance and could not reject futility in reducing disability progression in SPMS [142].
- Bazedoxifene: selective modulator of estrogen receptor, able to enhance OPC differentiation and remyelination in focal demyelination models of MS [143]. A randomized double-blind phase II clinical trial is ongoing to assess its safety and efficacy in women with RRMS [144].
- Metformin: already approved for type II diabetes, shown to increase myelin levels and OPC differentiation in animal models. As metformin has multiple molecular actions, its mechanism of action in remyelination involves various molecular pathways such as AMPKaPKC-CBP pathway or NMDA receptor [145-147]. A randomized double-blind phase IIa clinical trial assessing the effect of metformin and clemastine therapy on remyelination promotion in RRMS patients already on DMTs is ongoing [148]. A randomized triple-blind clinical trial is also ongoing to evaluate whether metformin, as an add-on treatment, is superior to placebo in delaying disease progression in patients with non-active PMS [149].

Other compounds have also shown promising results *in vitro* and *in vivo* such as antifungal drugs (miconazole [150]), hormone signaling modulators (liothyronine [151], tamoxifen [152]), steroids (clobetasol [153]), or already approved sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor modulators (fingolimod [154] and siponimod [155]). Their efficacity in patients still must be determined.

Despite promising results in preclinical studies, remyelination trials were widely unsuccessful in clinical settings [156]. The search for effective pro-remyelinating drugs remains thus a major unmet medical need and further research is needed to identify novel targets and develop strategies that can promote successful remyelination.

CHAPTER II: SIPONIMOD AND SPHINGOSINE-1-PHOSPHATE MODULATORS

Since mid-1990s, sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor modulators have raised a lot of interest for MS treatment due to their immunomodulatory effects. This led to the commercialization of fingolimod in 2011, followed by siponimod and ozanimod in 2020, and ponesimod in 2021. Research on these compounds has also indicated a direct effect on the CNS, suggesting a possible involvement in remyelination.

I. SPHINGOSINE-1 PHOSPHATE AND SPHINGOSINE-1 PHOSPHATE RECEPTOR EXPRESSION

Sphingosine-1 phosphate (S1P) is a bioactive lipid regulating various cellular processes including immune response, angiogenesis, heart rate, vascular tone, endothelium integrity, and cell migration [157, 158]. Its effects are mediated by the G-protein coupled receptor subtypes S1P₁₋₅ [159]. Although these receptors are broadly expressed, their expression patterns and roles vary across tissues (Figure 6). S1P₁, S1P₂, and S1P₅ are ubiquitously expressed while S1P₄ is predominantly found in lymphoid tissues and lungs, and S1P₅ in the spleen. S1P receptors are also widely expressed within the CNS, exhibiting cell-specific distribution patterns. Endothelial cells of the BBB express S1P₁, S1P₃, and S1P₅, which contribute to maintaining BBB integrity and preventing vascular permeability. Astrocytes and microglia express S1P₁ and S1P₃, with upregulated express S1P₁, involved in neuronal development and neurite outgrowth. Oligodendroglial cells express four S1P receptor subtypes: S1P₁, S1P₂, S1P₃, and S1P₅, which decreases during differentiation, while S1P₅ becomes the dominant subtype in mature oligodendrocytes [160-162].

The production of S1P can be initiated by external or internal signals, leading to the metabolization of membrane sphingomyelin to ceramide by sphingomyelinases. Ceramide is then metabolized to sphingosine (Sph) by ceramidases. Finally, Sph is phosphorylated by one of two Sph kinases (SphK1 and SphK2) to generate S1P. S1P is often transported out of cells where it can act in an autocrine or paracrine manner on S1P receptors. The concentration of S1P is relatively high in blood and lymph, but low in lymph nodes. This concentration gradient plays an important role in lymphocyte trafficking [163].

Given S1P's role in regulating lymphocyte trafficking and the presence of the S1P/S1PR complex in the CNS, the effects of S1P receptor modulators can theoretically be categorized into 2 groups: peripheral effect and central effect.



Figure 6. Interaction of sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) receptor modulators with S1P receptor subtypes, adapted from [164]. OPC: oligodendrocyte progenitor cells; CNS: central nervous system; OL: oligodendrocytes; NK cells: natural killer cells; CV: cardiovascular. Created with Biorender.

II. EFFECTS OF SPHINGOSINE-1-PHOSPHATE RECEPTOR MODULATORS ON THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

In the last decade, the FDA and the EMA have approved four DMTs targeting S1P receptors for the treatment of MS: fingolimod, siponimod, ozanimod, and ponesimod [160]. These modulators act as S1P receptor agonists, bearing structural resemblance to the endogenous S1P. However, they also behave as "functional antagonists" as their binding to the receptors induces receptor desensitization, internalization, and subsequent degradation [165]. This mechanism has been recognized as the primary driver of the immunomodulatory effects of these compounds, supported by accumulating evidence demonstrating the essential role of S1P₁ in lymphocyte recirculation [161].

II.1. EFFECTS OF S1P ON LYMPHOCYTE RECIRCULATION

Naïve T-cells and central memory T-cells (T_{CM}) are initially activated and reactivated in the secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs) upon encountering an antigen presented by an antigenpresenting cell. Following activation, T-cells return to the blood circulation and reach the sites of inflammation [166]. This egress of lymphocytes from SLOs into the systemic circulation is driven by the interaction between S1P and S1P₁, along with a concentration gradient of S1P between lymphoid tissues and blood, as S1P binding induces receptor internalization (Figure 7) [162]. While S1P is highly expressed in the blood and afferent lymph, promoting S1P₁ internalization, its expression is low in SLOs, resulting in the re-expression of S1P₁ following clonal expansion of T-cells [159]. This upregulation enables the cells to exit the SLO and reach the efferent lymph, followed by the bloodstream. Several studies using knock-out mice lacking S1P₁ have demonstrated that mature T- and B-cells were unable to exit SLOs, highlighting the importance of S1P/S1P₁ complex in this process [167-169].

II.2. EFFECTS OF SPHINGOSINE-1-PHOSPHATE RECEPTOR MODULATORS ON LYMPHOCYTE RECIRCULATION

II.2.1. Fingolimod (FTY720)

Fingolimod is the first FDA-approved oral therapy for MS. It is a structural analog of natural sphingosine that needs to be phosphorylated *in vivo* by sphingosine kinase 2 to produce fingolimod-phosphate, able to bind $S1P_{1,3-5}$ with high affinity (0.3 – 3.1 nM) [170]. While the binding of fingolimod to $S1P_1$ causes aberrant phosphorylation of the receptor leading to prolonged internalization, ubiquitination, and subsequent degradation, S1P only induces internalization of S1P₁ without triggering its degradation [163, 171]. As lymphocytes do not express S1P₁ in patients treated with fingolimod, they become unresponsive to normal S1P gradient, causing their functional sequestration, and subsequently reducing their infiltration into CNS [172].

Fingolimod affects both T- and B-cells, with T-cells experiencing a greater impact compared to B cells [173]. Fingolimod treatment leads to a reduction in both CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell numbers, with a more pronounced effect observed on the CD4+ T-cell subset [174]. Moreover, the selectivity of fingolimod towards T-cells expressing the lymph-node homing CC chemokine receptor CCR7 has been demonstrated in a study involving patients with RRMS. Fingolimod prevents the egress of CCR7-positive naïve T-cells and T_{CM} , including Th17 cells, from the SLOs, while the levels of CCR7-negative effector memory T-cells (T_{EM}) remain largely unaffected by the

treatment [175] (Figure 7). Given that T_{EM} may play a crucial role in memory immune responses in peripheral tissues, their preservation during fingolimod exposure maintains immunosurveillance and the ability to respond to invading pathogens, thereby helping to retain desirable immunological functions [159, 170]. The effect of fingolimod is reversible as cell count typically returns to normal values within 4 – 8 weeks after stopping treatment [176].



Figure 7. Peripheral and CNS mechanism of action of S1P receptor modulators (S1PR-m). In SLOs, S1PR-m bind S1P₁ on T_{CM} , which causes the engulfment of S1P₁. Any new S1P receptors being produced inside the cell remain in a state of arrest until S1P receptor modulation is removed. Therefore, T_{CM} do not leave the lymph node in response to S1P signals, and, by inhibiting the movement of T_{CM} into the circulation, S1PR-m prevents their migration into the CNS. T_{EM} , which do not express CCR7 are largely unaffected by S1PR-m, thus preserving immunosurveillance and the capacity to respond to and contain locally invading pathogens. S1PR-m can cross BBB and have direct effects on S1P receptors expressed throughout the CNS which may explain their potential efficacity in remyelination. SLO: secondary lymphoid organ; T_{CM} : central memory T-cell; S1P: sphingosine-1-phosphate; T_{EM} : peripheral effector memory T-cell; CCR7: CC chemokine receptor 7; CNS: central nervous system; OPC: oligodendrocyte progenitor cell. Created with Biorender.

II.2.2. From fingolimod to siponimod

In 2020, the EMA approved a new sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor modulator, siponimod (BAF312, Mayzent®) for the treatment of adult patients with SPMS with active disease evidenced by relapses or imaging features of inflammatory activity. Similar to fingolimod and other S1P receptor modulators, siponimod's therapeutic effects are primarily mediated by rapid internalization, degradation, and functional antagonism of S1P1, leading to lymphocyte sequestration in the lymph nodes [177]. However, there are several distinctions between the two compounds, including their chemical structures. Contrary to fingolimod, siponimod does not require phosphorylation and exhibits selective binding to S1P1 and S1P5 with nanomolar affinity (EC50 of 0.39 nM and 0.98 nM, for S1P1 and S1P5, respectively), potentially alleviating some side effects [177]. However, acute bradycardia has been observed with siponimod, whereas this adverse effect was initially attributed to S1P3 based on findings in rodents [161]. In humans, activation of G-protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels mediated by siponimod in atrial myocytes can fully explain the bradycardia [177]. This could be attenuated through dose titration [178]. Siponimod has also been engineered to possess a relatively short elimination half-life, enabling the reversion of its effects within 1 week following the end of the treatment while still allowing once-daily oral dosing [177].

As previously mentioned, S1P receptors are expressed by various types of brain cells. In addition, S1P receptor modulators can cross BBB following oral administration. Therefore, by modulating the S1P receptors expressed on CNS cells, S1P receptor modulators may exert a direct impact on neuropathological processes such as neurodegeneration, gliosis, and remyelination [170].

III. EFFECTS OF SPHINGOSINE-1-PHOSPHATE RECEPTOR MODULATORS ON THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

III.1. OLIGODENDROCYTE PROGENITOR CELLS AND OLIGODENDROCYTES

S1P receptors have been associated with protection against demyelination and the promotion of remyelination in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies using S1P, fingolimod, or siponimod.

Both OPCs and oligodendrocytes express S1P₁, S1P₂, S1P₃ and S1P₅. OPCs predominantly express S1P₁, while S1P₅ is abundantly expressed on oligodendrocytes. Fingolimod and siponimod, acting as "functional antagonists" upon binding to S1P₁, act as agonist on S1P₅ on both OPCs and oligodendrocytes [179, 180].

In OPC culture, fingolimod has been shown to enhance oligodendrocyte survival, inhibiting apoptosis induced by serum and glucose deprivation [181]. S1P receptors have been associated with cytoprotective activity through the activation and phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2 (ERK1/2) and protein kinase B (Akt). However, this activity has been observed in oligodendrocytes but not in OPCs, suggesting the involvement of S1P receptor subtype S1P₅ [182]. This has been confirmed by studies on animals lacking S1P₁ and S1P₅, which have shown that S1P₁ plays a pivotal role in early differentiation and OPC differentiation [183, 184], while S1P₅ was found to be more involved in regulating OPC migration and oligodendroglial survival [185, 186].

Additionally, studies have highlighted the regenerative and promyelinating effects of fingolimod, which follow the dynamics of a bell-shaped curve with high concentrations being less efficient than low concentrations [160, 187]. Thus, *in vitro* studies on oligodendroglial lineage cells have shown that OPC differentiation into pre-oligodendrocytes and mature oligodendrocytes, and MBP protein levels were increased with nanomolar concentrations of fingolimod while OPC differentiation was inhibited with micromolar concentrations [154, 188, 189]. In line with these results, *ex vivo* studies on LPC-induced demyelinated cerebellar brain slices have shown the enhanced remyelination capacity of fingolimod at low concentrations (0.1 nM) but not at high concentrations (1 µM) [190]. The mechanism behind this effect remains unclear. However, a time-dependent regulation of S1P receptor expression has been observed following prolonged treatment with high fingolimod concentrations, suggesting a change of S1P₁ and S1P₅ expression levels in mature oligodendrocytes and thus a different functional response to fingolimod [181].

Following the interesting results obtained *in vitro* and *ex vivo*, *in vivo* studies using EAE and cuprizone models have yielded contradictory results. While some studies have observed a potential effect of oral fingolimod (1mg/kg) on OPC differentiation or migration without apparent effects on remyelination [191], others have reported accelerated remyelination following oral fingolimod administration (0.3 mg/kg) [192]. Notably, early intervention with fingolimod (1 mg/kg) was found to prevent mature oligodendrocyte death in corpus callosum, whereas these effects were not recapitulated with a later treatment, suggesting the importance of time-dependent intervention to prevent demyelination [193]. However, in EAE model, no effect of oral fingolimod administration (0.3 mg/kg) on MBP level was observed at day 7 post-onset, while the treatment significantly increased MBP at 30 post-onset [194]. Furthermore, the efficacy of fingolimod on remyelination has also been observed in LPC-induced demyelination rat model, in which oral low doses of

fingolimod (0.3 mg/kg) but not high doses (1 mg/kg) increased the number of OPCs 6 days after LPC administration [195].

The contradicting results observed *in vivo* could be explained, at least partially, by different models, dosage, timing of treatment, and analysis of the results used in experimental procedures [160].

While research on remyelination using S1P receptor modulators has primarily focused on fingolimod, limited evidence suggests a potential direct involvement of siponimod in reducing demyelination and promoting oligodendrocyte survival. Siponimod (3 or 10μ M) has been shown to increase MBP levels and attenuate LPC-induced demyelination in spheroid cell cultures and organotypic slice cultures, respectively [155, 196]. Moreover, a small but significant reduction of IL-6 levels was also observed [155]. The capacity of siponimod to penetrate and distribute inside the brain has been observed in rats and mice [197]. Additionally, siponimod demonstrated proremyelinating effects in xenopus tadpole and cuprizone-induced demyelination, as well as a beneficial effect of prophylactic treatment on demyelination prevention in EAE-associated neuritis [187, 198].

However, further investigation is warranted to elucidate the direct impact of siponimod on OPC/oligodendrocyte proliferation, differentiation, migration, and survival [160].

S1P receptors are also present in other CNS cell types such as astrocytes and microglia, suggesting a potential effect of S1P receptor modulators on these cells.

III.2. ASTROCYTES AND MICROGLIA

Astrocytes mainly express S1P₁ and S1P₃, alongside other subtypes at lower levels [163]. Analysis of post-mortem brain tissue from MS patients has revealed a significant increase in S1P₁ and S1P₃ expression on reactive astrocytes in both active and chronic inactive MS lesions [199]. Furthermore, the direct involvement of S1P₁ in astrocyte function has been demonstrated in animal model lacking S1P₁ [200].

In vitro studies on human astrocytes or EAE mice have shown that fingolimod can stimulate the production of neurotrophic factors such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), and heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor (HBEGF), all of which are involved in OPC and oligodendrocyte differentiation and survival [201-203]. Additionally, fingolimod has been found to limit secretion of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines by primary culture of human astrocytes [199].

In EAE model, fingolimod treatment led to a significant suppression of NF- α B p65 translocation in activated astrocytes, accompanied by decreased production of Il-6, TNF- α , GM-CSF, CCL2 and nitric oxide [204]. However, *in vitro* studies using fingolimod on astrocytes have shown conflicted results, as fingolimod induced the release of GM-CSF, which reduces the effect of cytokines on endothelium [205].

Furthermore, proinflammatory cytokine expression was also reduced in microglia cells treated with fingolimod. While *in vitro* experiments suggested that fingolimod acted as a functional agonist of S1P₁ on astrocytes [206], *in vivo* experiments conducted on EAE mice supported functional antagonism of astrocytic S1P₁ [200].

Studies have also highlighted the beneficial effects of siponimod on astrocytes and microglia, independently of peripheral effects. *In vitro* functional assays using astrocytes generated from human fibroblasts have demonstrated that siponimod inhibits NF-xB translocation, induces rapid nuclear translocation of Nrf2, an antioxidant pathway that may confer neuroprotection to astrocytes during neuroinflammation [207], and maintains high levels of glutamate transporters such as GLAST and GLT1 [208]. These effects were also observed with fingolimod, underscoring the involvement of S1P₁. Continuous intracerebroventricular infusion of siponimod significantly decreased GFAP and Iba-1 levels, markers of astrocytes and microglia cells, respectively, thereby attenuating astrogliosis and microgliosis in mice EAE model [209]. In addition, partial restoration of the cortical neuronal circuit has been observed after direct administration of siponimod into the CNS [210]. In a chronic EAE model, macrophage infiltration and microglia activation were decreased by orally administered siponimod [211].

These findings collectively suggest that siponimod exerts beneficial effects on astrocytes and microglia, contributing to its potential neuroprotective properties.

III.3. ENDOTHELIAL CELLS OF THE BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER

No patient data regarding the effect of S1P receptor modulators on BBB integrity in MS have been reported. However, endothelial cells express at least 3 subtypes of S1P receptors (S1P₁₋₃), which are required to develop and maintain a functional vascular system, thereby playing a role in BBB integrity. Although a proper equilibrium in the signaling between S1P₁ and S1P₂ is essential for the maintenance of a competent endothelial barrier at the BBB, *in vitro* studies using endothelial cell culture have shown that S1P can reduce cell death after cytokine exposition, with S1P₁ being the predominant receptor involved in this survival [205].

Recently, preservation of occludin and zonula occludens-1 expression following traumatic brain injury was observed in mice treated with intraperitoneal siponimod (1 mg/kg), suggesting positive effects on tight junction and BBB integrity [211]. Zonula occludens-1 expression in endothelial cells was also recovered 24h after siponimod treatment using an in vitro BBB model [212]. As siponimod does not act on S1P₃, this effect appears to be mediated by S1P₁. In this study, fingolimod treatment was not able to recapitulate these effects. Similarly, in another study, S1P₁ inhibition increased occluding and zonula occludens-1 levels [213].

CHAPTER III: EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES

(Chapter adapted from "Extracellular vesicles for the treatment of central nervous system diseases" published in Advanced Drug Delivery Review) [214].

A wide array of nanocarriers has been extensively investigated for drug delivery to the CNS over the past few years. These nanoparticles can be used as vehicles to deliver drugs to the CNS following both invasive [215-218] and non-invasive [219-221] administration routes.

Nanoscale systems used for therapy and theragnostic applications, also known as nanomedicines, can be classified according to the nature of the nanomaterial from which they are made of. Some of the most common nanocarriers, as well as their advantages and disadvantages as drug delivery systems, are summarized in Table 2. Depending on the material selected to form the nanomedicines, it can allow passive crossing of the BBB, but also enables surface functionalization to further enhance transport across epithelial barriers and/or to target specific cell types and/or brain regions. Recent evidence support the use of extracellular vesicles (EVs) as nanomedicines. EVs are small vesicles (nanometers scale) consisting of an aqueous core surrounded by a lipid bilayer. They contain genetic materials (mostly miRNA and mRNA), proteins, small molecules and lipids, the nature of which depend on the parental cells. Compared to polymeric and lipid-based nanoparticles, EVs offer many additional advantages as drug vehicles, as they are less toxic and immunogenic and can cross biological barriers, including the BBB [222]. Osorio et al. showed that despite having lower encapsulation efficiency of miR-219a-5p (miRNA) compared to poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles and liposomes, EVs were more effective crossing a BBB in vitro model [223]. Moreover, following intranasal administration they successfully decreased disease burden in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mice [223]. In addition, EVs show great potential as drug delivery carriers but also as a therapeutic tool for CNS diseases due to their intrinsic physiological properties.

Table 2. Different nanocarriers used as drug delivery vehicles for the CNS.

Type of nanocarrier		Production method	Composition	Type of cargo	Therapeutic effects of the carrier	Advantages as drug carrier	Disadvantages	References
Polymeric	PLGA	Single or double emulsification- solvent evaporation technique, nanoprecipitation or spray drying	Composed of polymerized glycolic acid monomers and lactic acid monomers	Small hydrophobic drugs, proteins and nucleic acids	None reported	Biocompatible, biodegradable, suitable for lyophilisation, ease of preparation, controlled pharmacokinetic and surface functionalization	Use of organic solvents during formulation, poor drug loading, aggregation, cannot cross the BBB	[224, 225]
	Nanoemulsions	High pressure homogenization, phase inversion emulsification method and self- nanoemuslification method	Composed of oil, water and an emulsifier (most commonly a surfactant but also proteins or lipids)	Hydrophobic drugs	None reported	Ease of formulation, small size and no use of organic solvent	Destabilization by Ostwal ripening and risks of erythrocyte lysis	[226, 227]
	Lipid micelles	Self-assembly when concentration of surfactant is above the critical micelle concentration	Composed of oil (phospholipids or cholesterol), water and surfactant	Lipophilic drugs (classic micelles) and hydrophilic drugs (reverse micelles)	None reported	Spontaneous formation, solvent-free formulation, small size, sustained and controlled release and no neurotoxic effects reported, surface modification for targeting	Low stability and low drug- loading	[228]
	Liposomes	Thin film hydration with aqueous media or organic solvent	Mainly composed of phospholipids and an aqueous medium	Hydrophilic and hydrophobic compounds	Shown to exert intrinsic anti- proliferative activity on U-937 histiocytic cells	Highly biomimetic and semi- spontaneous, passively cross the BBB, possible surface functionalization	Use of organic solvents, low stability, big size, short half-life, rapid clearance, sterilization difficulties, neurotoxicity	[229-231]
Lapid- based	Solid lipid nanoparticles	High shear homogenization, double emulsification or microemlsion based method	Formed of solid-state lipids at room and body temperature, surfactant and aqueous medium	Lipophilic drug	None reported	Highly stable, solvent-free formulation, ease to scale-up, controlled release, suitable for lyophilisation, passively cross the BBB, possible surface modification	Not for fragile drugs, multi- step formulation, reduced hydrophilic drug entrapment efficiency, reported to induce inflammation	[232, 233]
	Nano-lipid carrier	High-pressure homogenization, solvent emulsification-evaporation methods or melt dispersion	Composed of a mix of solid and liquid lipids and surfactant.	Lipophilic and hydrophilic drugs by conjugation of drug functional groups to the lipid matrix	Shown to possess endothelial- protective effects in a murine acute lung injury model	High stability, high lipophilic drug loading, long-term storage stability, passively cross the BBB, possible surface modification	Low proteins and genes loading, lack of scale up methods, cytotoxicity due to surfactant amount	[234, 235]
	Lipid nanocapsules	Phase inversion temperature	Composed of a mixture of triglycerides, nonionic surfactants and saline	Lipophilic and amphiphilic drugs	Shown to trigger GLP-1 secretion in both human and murine cells as well as <i>in vivo</i> in mice	Solvent-free formulation, highly stable, ease to scale up, surface modification for targeting and PgP efflux pump inhibition	Multistep and use of high temperatures	[236, 237]
Biological	Extracellular vesicles	Isolation from most cell types of the body or body fluids by differential ultracentrifugation, size exclusion chromatography, immunoaffinity capture or PEG- mediated precipitation	Composed of particular lipids, proteins and nucleic acids specific to the parent cell	Small lipophilic and hydrophilic molecules, proteins and nucleic acids	Exert several therapeutic effects depending on the physiological characteristics of the parent cells	Small size, low immunogenicity, long half-life in the circulation, can cross the BBB, possible surface modification for high targeting efficiency	Low loading efficiency and need of high reproducible productivity and purification method to scale up	[222]

I. INTRODUCTION TO EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES

Research on EVs began in the mid-20th century, marked by their initial isolation [238]. Initially regarded as cellular waste products, the perception of EVs significantly changed in 1996 when their biological functions were first demonstrated. Recognizing the need for standardized guidelines in the burgeoning field of EV research, the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles (ISEV) was founded in 2011. ISEV published the first set of guidelines for EV-related studies in 2014 which were updated in 2018 and 2023 [239]. Figure 8 summarizes the important milestones in the field of EVs.



Figure 8. Timeline of selected milestones in the EV field [238, 240, 241]. Created with Biorender.

I.1. NOMENCLATURE, BIOGENESIS, AND COMPOSITION

I.1.1. Nomenclature

A variety of terms has been used in literature to describe secreted membrane-enclosed vesicles observed, from "pequenas particulas" (small particles) to extracellular microvesicles, microparticles and virus-like particles [241]. However, research progressed necessitating a distinct and precise nomenclature based on the biogenesis pathway rather than size [242].

In 2011, Gyorgy et al. suggested the term "extracellular vesicle" as a generic term for particles released from the cells that are delimited by a lipid bilayer and cannot replicate, i.e. do not contain a functional nucleus [243]. This term was later formalized in the Minimal Information for Studies of Extracellular Vesicles (MISEV) guidelines in 2018 [244].

The term "exosome" refers to vesicles released following the fusion of multivesicular bodies with the plasma membrane [244, 245], while "microvesicle" describes vesicles that form by direct budding of the plasma membrane [240], and "apoptotic body" refers to membrane-bound vesicles derived from disassembly of apoptotic cells [246] (Table 3). However, the overlapping range of size, similar morphology, variable composition, and the absence of consensus on specific markers of EV subtypes make it extremely difficult to assign an EV to a particular biogenesis pathway [247]. To address this issue, MISEV recommends using operational terms that describe EVs based on their physical characteristics (e.g. small EVs vs medium/large EVs), biochemical composition (e.g. CD63+ EVs, CD81+ EVs, …), or the conditions under which they are produced (e.g. hypoxic EVs, IFNγ-stimulated EVs) [239, 244]. Despite these recommendations, the term "exosome" is still frequently overused, while most, if not all, EV samples contain heterogenous mixture of vesicle types [248, 249]. Furthermore, not all researchers agree with the current recommendations [241].

There is growing evidence of a wide diversity of non-vesicular extracellular particles (NVEPs) that are frequently co-isolated with EVs, due to their overlapping physicochemical properties. NVEPs are defined as all non-EV particles made from cell-derived components of one or more molecular classes such as proteins and nucleic acids; lipids, if present, do not form a delimiting bilayer membrane. The term "extracellular particles" thus serves as an umbrella term for all particles outside the cell, including both EVs and non-vesicular entities [239]. The recent ISEV guidelines, published in 2023, suggest using the term "EPs" or "EV-preparation" or "EV-containing preparation" when EVs and NVEPs cannot be fully distinguished.

Vesicle type	Characteristics					
	Size (nm)	Biogenesis	Main markers			
Exosome	40 – 120	MVB fusion with plasma membrane	Tetraspanins (CD63, CD9, CD81), TSG101, ALIX			
Microvesicle	50 – 1000	Direct budding of plasma membrane	Integrins, selectins, CD40 ligand			
Apoptotic body	500 – 2000	Blebbing of apoptotic cell membrane	Histones			

Table 3. Different subtypes of EVs and their main characteristics.

I.1.2. Exosome and microvesicle biogenesis

Exosomes are small vesicles formed within the endosomal system as intraluminal vesicles (ILVs), which are created by the inward budding of endosomal membrane (Figure 9). These vesicles are secreted when multivesicular endosome/body (MVEs or MVBs) fuse with the cell surface. MVBs may also fuse with lysosomes, leading to the degradation of their content. The factors determining the fate of exosomes are not fully understood, though cholesterol levels within MVBs appear influential. Specifically, MVBs enriched with cholesterol are typically directed towards exosome secretion whereas the cholesterol-poor MVB population is targeted for lysosomal degradation [250]. Exosome biogenesis is dependent on the cargo and cell type and can be influenced by various signals or pathological stimuli. The main mechanism for exosome formation involves the endosomal sorting complex responsible for transport (ESCRT), which includes four multiprotein complexes (ESCRT-0, -I, -II and -III) and accessory proteins such as Alix and VSP4. ESCRT-0, -I, and -II recognize and sequester ubiquitinated membrane proteins at the endosomal limiting membrane, while ESCRT-III facilitates membrane budding and ILV fission [247, 250]. Interestingly, even in the absence of ESCRT components, MVBs containing CD63+ ILVs can still form, indicating the presence of ESCRT-independent pathways for exosome generation [251]. One of these pathways involves ceramide production by neutral type II sphyngomyelinase, which creates membrane subdomains inducing spontaneous negative curvature and potentially influencing cargo sorting via S1P receptor activation [252]. Another ESCRT-independent

mechanism involves tetraspanin proteins (e.g. CD63, CD81, CD82, and CD9) which form cluster and dynamic membrane platforms, promoting inward budding. Additionally, MHC class II proteins can drive MVB formation, as these proteins are recruited to exosomes independently from their ubiquitination [253].

The cargo within exosomes varies based on cell type and the physiological and pathological state of the donor cell. While proteins sorting into exosomes involves syntenin, the small GTPase ADP-ribosylation factor 6 (ARF6), chaperones such as HSC70 and HSP70, and GPI-anchored proteins, mechanisms remain unclear. miRNA within exosomes often have specific sequence motifs acting as cis-acting elements for exosome targeting, with ESCRT-II potentially serving as RNA-binding complex sequestered by tetraspanin-enriched microdomains. The miRNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) and AGO2 are also implicated in this process [247, 250].

Following their formation, MVBs are transported to and fuse with the plasma membrane to release ILVs as exosomes into the extracellular space (Figure 9). This transport relies on the cytoskeleton (actin and microtubules), associated molecular motors (dynein, kinesins and myosins), and small GTPases. Docking and fusion with the plasma membrane involve various RAS-related proteins (Rab, such as Rab7, Rab27a, and Rab27b), actin, and SNARE proteins such as VAMP7. Intracellular Ca²⁺ levels also regulate exosome secretion, possibly through the activation of SNARE complexes, although this mechanism is not yet fully understood [247, 250].

The formation of microvesicles from the plasma membrane involves several molecular rearrangements, including changes in lipid components (e.g. translocation of phosphatidylserine from the inner leaflet to the cell surface) and changes in protein composition and Ca²⁺ levels via scramblase and calpain activation. Cytoskeletal elements and their regulators, such as actin, myosin, and small GTPases are also involved, along with cholesterol, which is abundant in microvesicles. For microvesicle cargoes, cytosolic components bind to the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane, while nucleic acid sorting may involve conserved zipcode RNA sequence motifs. The fission of microvesicles from the plasma membrane depends on actin and myosin interaction with subsequent ATP-dependent contraction [247, 250]. TSG101 and VSP4, which are part of ESCRT machinery, also participate in this process [254].



Figure 9. Biogenesis of extracellular vesicle and their interaction with recipient cells. Biogenesis of exosomes is initiated upon the formation of early endosomes as a result of membrane inward invagination. Subsequently, the endosome membrane invaginates inward to form nanoscale intraluminal vesicles (ILVs), leading to the development of late endosomes which become multivesicular bodies (MVBs) containing ILVs. MVBs then mature and fuse either with lysosomal membranes for degradation or with the cellular membrane to release exosomes into the extracellular space. In contrast, microvesicles originate from the outward budding of the plasma membrane. After their release, EVs interact with recipient cells through various mechanisms, including membrane fusion, ligand/receptor interactions, and endocytosis (clathrin or caveolin-dependent, phagocytosis or macropinocytosis). Created with Biorender.

I.1.3. EV composition

EVs contain proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids which could explain their biological properties.

The protein composition of EVs is largely determined by biogenesis, leading to an enrichment of proteins such as Alix, TSG101, chaperones, and tetraspanins. Additionally, EVs often contain glycoproteins such as major histocompatibility complex class I and II molecules [255].

Compared to the plasma membrane, EVs from various cell types are highly enriched in cholesterol, ceramides, sphingomyelin, and disaturated lipids, suggesting that the EV lipid bilayer is more rigid than the plasma membrane. This may enhance their resistance to degradation and stability as carriers of biomolecules. Moreover, EVs contain enzymes involved in lipid metabolism, such as phospholipases D and A2 [256].

EVs are also enriched in small RNAs, predominantly miRNAs. Numerous studies have demonstrated that EV-associated miRNA can repress the expression of target genes in recipient cells and that EV-mRNA can be translated into proteins [226]. The amount of RNA in EVs varies depending on the cell type of origin. The mechanisms underlying RNA selection for incorporation into EVs are not yet fully understood. However, some studies suggest that EV-associated miRNAs undergo post-transcriptional modifications in their 3' untranslated regions, which may facilitate their selective packaging into EVs [257]. While there is evidence that EVs also contain DNA, several studies indicate that EVs do not protect DNA from DNAse degradation, implying that the DNA is likely located on the vesicle surface rather than inside the vesicles [256].

I.2. EV INTERACTION WITH CELLS

EVs can interact with target cells through ligand-receptor mechanisms, leading to biological effects (Figure 9). In such cases, EVs act at the cell surface, without delivering their content, triggering intracellular signalling cascades [256, 258]. Besides this direct interaction, the biological effects of EVs depend on their ability to deliver their intraluminal cargo into target cells.

Direct evidence for the fusion of EVs with target cell membrane has been demonstrated in a few studies [250]. This process involves several protein families, such as SNAREs and Rab-proteins. Although this process would be the most efficient method of cargo transfer, EVs are typically internalized via endocytosis, an energy-dependent active process [259]. It is extremely rapid, with EVs entering cells within 15 minutes following initial introduction [260]. The main endocytosis pathway is clathrin-mediated endocytosis, where clathrin-coated vesicles deform the membrane into a vesicular bud, which matures and pinches off. The resulting intracellular vesicle undergoes clathrin uncoating and either fuses with the endosomal membrane or is targeted to lysosomes for degradation [260]. However, evidence suggests that clathrin-independent pathways also exist in cells, including caveolin-dependent endocytosis. Caveolae are subdomains of glycolipid rafts rich in cholesterol, sphingolipids, and caveolins, which form small cave-like invaginations in the plasma membrane that internalize and fuse with endosomes or lysosomes [258]. Another endocytic pathway, macropinocytosis, allows cells to internalize large quantities of EVs. This process involves membrane ruffling, where extensions of the plasma membrane envelop an area of extracellular fluid and internalize it as a result of the fusion of the membrane protrusions with themselves or back with the plasma membrane. This mechanism does not require direct contact with the internalized material [261, 262]. While some studies indicate that macropinocytosis plays a role in EV uptake, others using inhibitors suggest it is a minor pathway or specific to certain cell types

[260]. Phagocytosis is another pathway reported for EV uptake by specialized cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells. However, it remains unclear whether phagocytosis allows EV internalization for cell communication or if this process is used for EV degradation [250].

The primary route by which EVs deliver their contents into the cytosol of recipient cells is still debated. EV recognition and capture likely depend on their size and surface components [258].

Current knowledge of the fate of EVs post-endocytosis remains limited. After endocytosis, internalized EVs are directed to early endosomes, also known as sorting endosomes. From there, cargo may either be recycled back to the plasma membrane for excretion, either directly or via recycling endosomes, or be transported towards lysosomes through late endosomes for degradation [263]. This endo-lysosomal degradative pathway responsible for EV clearance requires further investigation to elucidate its role in eliciting cellular responses [263]. The fusion of endocytosed EVs with late endosomes, which leads to the release of cargo into the cytosol, has also been suggested and might be favored by the acidic pH of the late endosome environment [264, 265]. Moreover, a recent study has identified a new intracellular trafficking route for endocytosed EVs, which involves the transport from late endosomes to nucleoplasmic reticulum. This pathway enables EVs to deliver their cargo into the nucleoplasm through the entry of Rab7+ late endosomes containing endocytosed EVs into nuclear envelope invaginations, thus creating a subnuclear compartment [266].

II. EXTRACELLULAR VESICLE ISOLATION

Prior to their use, EVs must be isolated using one or more separation techniques. These procedures exploit the biophysical characteristics of EVs such as size, density, charge, and surface composition [244]. Table 4 presents the most common EV isolation techniques described in the literature. Each isolation method has its advantages and disadvantages, which can affect downstream process. However, an ideal method has not yet been established within the EV research community [267]. The choice of separation method should be based on the known properties of specific EV source and the desired EV yield and purity (Figure 10) [239]. Nevertheless, a worldwide survey from 2016 found that ultracentrifugation, either differential or density gradient, was the most commonly used technique [268]. No similar survey has been conducted since then.

Table 4. Common EV isolation techniques reported in the literature

Method	Details	Time	Advantages	Disadvantages	Ref.
		Based on ultr	acentrifugation		
Differential ultracentrifugation	EV isolation from conditioned media by differential centrifugations to remove cells and cell debris, followed by ultracentrifugation at 100.000g to isolate EVs	140 – 600 min	Simple, cost efficient, large volumes, no additional chemicals, large amounts of EV	Not for viscous samples, EV aggregation, lipoprotein contamination, low purity, low reproducibility	[268- 270]
Density gradient ultracentrifugation Sucrose or iodoxinol density gradient	EV isolation based on buoyant density using a discontinuous gradient of a sucrose solution or iodoxinol	250 min – 2 days	No additional chemicals	Time-consuming, low purity, complexity, sample loss during fractionation, co- purification of viral particles.	[269, 271]
		Based	l on size		
Ultrafiltration	Passage of the medium through a filter membrane via a centrifuge force. Components with size lower than pore size are discarded while components (EVs) with a higher size are collected	130 min	Simple, fast, no special equipment required, large volumes, no additional chemicals	Filter plugging, loss of sample, contamination with proteins, vesicle deformation	[271, 272]
Size exclusion chromatography	Separation of EVs into several fractions when passing through a gel column containing beads with known pore sizes	0.5ml/min + column washing	Cost efficient, high purity, reproducibility, vesicle integrity preserved, prevents EV aggregation, no additional chemicals, scalable	Not for large volumes (require in that case additional concentration steps), long run time, specialized equipment	[268]
Tangentiel flow filtration	Crossflow filtration where the mainstream flows parallel to the membrane face allowing a continuous cycle with applied pressure	120 min	Scalable, batch-to-batch consistency	Membrane fouling, reduced purity with high protein samples, specialized equipment	[273, 274]
		Based on	precipitation		
Precipitation with polymers (PEG)	EV precipitation caused by polyethylene glycol followed by conventional centrifugation to pellet EVs	65 min	Cost efficient, simple, EV integrity preserved, pH close to physiological range, scalable	Contamination and retention of the polymer, co-precipitation of proteins	[275]
Commercial kits for polymer precipitations <i>ExoQuick and TEI</i>	EV precipitation caused by commercial reagent followed by conventional centrifugation to pellet EVs	45 – 65 min (sometimes overnight)	Simple, EV integrity preserved, pH close to the physiological range	Cost, poor reproducibility, polymer retention, co-precipitation of proteins	[275]
		Based on in	nmunoaffinity		
Immunoaffinity techniques ExoTEST™, ExoCap™	EV capture based on specific interaction between EV surface markers (CD9, CD63, CD81, EpCAM) and immobilized antibodies	About 240 min	Selectivity, high purity, possibility of subtyping	Not for large volumes (require in that case additional concentration steps), cost, require knowledge of EV markers, limited scalability, difficulty with EV detachment	[276]
		Micro	ofluidics		
Microfluidics-based techniques	Microscale isolation based on a variety of EV properties like immunoaffinity, size, and density	1-14 µl/min	Rapidness, purity, efficiency	Cost, complexity of devices, specialized equipment, low sample capacity	[277]



Figure 10. Schematic illustration of commonly used EV isolation methods adapted from [278]. DGC: density gradient centrifugation; SEC: size exclusion chromatography; TFF: tangential flow filtration; dUC: differential ultracentrifugation; UF: ultrafiltration. Adapted from Fricke et al., 2019. Created with Biorender.

III. EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES AS THERAPEUTICS FOR CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM DISEASES

Cell therapy is one of the avenues explored to find a cure for neurological diseases. As explained in the first chapter, MSC are promising therapies for MS and other CNS diseases [279]. More than 100 clinical trials with MSC are ongoing or completed for these diseases (Clinical Trials.gov). However, mostly due to massive entrapment into the lungs after intravenous administration, cell therapy has shown limited efficacy during clinical trials [280]. Moreover, although mostly deemed safe, injecting exogenous cells could present a risk of malignant transformation [281].

It is accepted that the MSC therapeutic effect is mediated mostly by soluble factors, among which EVs [282]. EVs derived from MSC seem to recapitulate the therapeutic effects observed when using the cells and are considered safer than their mother cells [283]. As such, more and more studies report the therapeutic effects (mostly immunomodulatory properties) and use of MSC-derived EVs, the field of neuropathological diseases included (Table 5).

Chronic inflammation is an important part of MS pathophysiology, which explains the study of MSC-EVs as a potential MS treatment. Laso-Garcia et al. have shown that an intravenous administration of MSC-EVs in the TMEV model improved motor deficits and reduced brain atrophy [284]. Moreover, EVs were able to modulate the activation state of microglia and to decrease inflammatory infiltrates with a drastic reduction of plasma pro-inflammatory cytokine levels. Pusic et al. assessed the efficacy of EVs isolated from IFNy-stimulated dendritic cells on in vivo and ex vivo models of remyelination [285]. An increase in myelin levels and a decrease in oxidative stress, respectively, were observed. The results were larger with EVs derived from IFNystimulated dendritic cells than with EVs produced by unstimulated cells. An analysis of EV content showed the presence of miRNAs involved in oligodendrocytes differentiation and myelin production (e.g. miR-219). The presence of anti-inflammatory miRNAs (e.g. miR-181a, miR-451, miR-532-5p and miR-665) has also been reported. Similarly, Giunti et al. reported that intravenous administration of EVs isolated from IFNy-stimulated MSC reduced the expression of neuroinflammation markers, possibly through miR-467f and miR-466q acting on microglia [286]. Riazifar et al. confirmed the presence of mRNAs encoding for anti-inflammatory molecules (e.g. IDO and CD74) and neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory proteins (e.g. MIC-1, Gal-1, and HSP70) in EVs derived from IFNy-stimulated MSC [287]. When these EVs were administered to EAE mice, they were able to reduce the disease evolution and the spinal cord demyelination. They also decreased neuroinflammation and increased the number of Treg cells which are important cells that regulate disease progression. In line with these results, Fathollahi et al. observed an

increased Treg cell number associated with reduced clinical scores, decreased demyelinated lesions, and increased TGF- β levels in EAE mice treated with adipose-derived MSC-EVs [288]. Immunomodulatory effects of EVs were also reported by Jafarinia et al. and Koohsari et al., in EAE, treated with intravenous administration of EV from human adipose-derived MSC or human umbilical cord-derived MSC, respectively. However, in these two studies, no significant expression of MBP, Olig2, and GFAP was observed [289, 290]. In another study conducted by Zhang et al., EVs isolated from bone marrow MSC significantly increased the number of newly generated oligodendrocytes and mature oligodendrocytes, along with MBP levels, while decreasing neuroinflammation [291].

Table 5. Use of EVs for C	NS disorders treatment
---------------------------	------------------------

Pathology	EVs source	Administration	Total dose	Treatment plan	Therapeutic effect	Ref.
Brain injury	Human bone marrow- derived MSC	iuman bone marrow- Intravenous EVs erived MSC 6*10 ^c		1 dose on day 1, 3 and 5 after ischemia	Angiogenesis, improvement of neurological impairment, long-term neuroprotection	[292]
	Murine bone marrow- derived MSC	Intravenous	EVs produced by 1*10 ⁸ MSC / mouse	1 dose on day 1 after traumatic brain injury	Improvement of spatial learning, reduction of neurological deficits, angiogenesis, neurogenesis, reduction of inflammation	[293]
	Human bone marrow- derived MSC	Intravenous	1,5*10 ¹⁰ EVs / mouse	1 dose at 1 hour after traumatic brain injury	Improvement of spatial learning and pattern separation ability, decrease of neuroinflammation	[294]
	Human bone marrow- derived MSC	Intraperitoneal	EVs produced by 1*10 ⁸ MSC / kg / mouse	1 dose at 1 hour before traumatic brain injury or 1 day after	Improvement of long-lasting cognitive functions, amelioration of inflammation, restoration of short-term myelination deficits	[295]
	Human bone marrow- derived MSC	Intravenous	100 μg EVs (based on proteins) / mouse	1 dose at 1 hour after traumatic brain injury	Improvement of cognitive functions, minimization of cortical lesion volume, decrease of glutamate levels	[296]
	Human bone marrow- derived MSC	Intranasal	$25.6 \times 10^9 \text{ EVs/mouse}$	1 dose at 1.5 hours after traumatic brain injury	Prevention of cognitive and mood dysfunctions, decrease of neuroinflammation	[297]
Epilepsy	Human bone marrow- derived MSC	Intranasal	1,5*10 ¹⁰ EVs/mouse	75μl (200μg/ml) on the day of status epilepticus or at 18h after	Neuroprotection, anti-inflammatory properties	[298]
	Umbilical cord derived MSC	Intravenous	50 μg MSC-EVs / mouse	1 dose at 2h after SE	Restoration of seizure-induced neuronal morphology alterations, neuroprotection against oxidative stress-induced damages	[299]
Multiple sclerosis	MSC	Intravenous	25 μg MSC-EVs / mouse	1 dose on day 60 post infection	Improvement of motor deficits, reduction of brain atrophy, proliferation of subventricular cells	[284]

	IFN _y -stimulated	<i>Ex vivo</i> (mature	100 µg of EVs (based	Incubation for 3 days before	Increase of myelin levels	[285]
	dendritic cells	hippocampal slice	on proteins)	demyelination		[205]
		cultures)		Incubation after demyelination		
	IFNy-stimulated human	Intravenous	150 µg (based on	1 dose at the peak of the disease (ca.	Reduction of disease evolution, decrease of	[287]
	bone marrow-derived		proteins)/ mouse	15-20 day post infection)	spinal cord demyelination	[=0,1]
	MSC					
	IFNy-stimulated human	Intravenous or	EVs produced by	1 dose / day for 6 or 8 days	Reduction of neuroinflammation marker	[286]
	bone marrow-derived	intraperitoneal	1*106 (iv) or 3*106 (ip)		expression	[=00]
	MSC		MSC			
	Human adipose-derived	Intranasal	$10 \mu g of EVs$ (based on	1 dose / day for 12 days (15 days post	Reduction of disease evolution and lesion	[288]
	MSC		proteins)	infection)	volume, increase of immunomodulatory	[=00]
					response	
	Human adipose-derived	Intravenous	50 µg of EVs / mouse	1 dose at day 10 post infection	Reduction of disease evolution, leukocyte	[289]
	MSC				infiltration and demyelination	[=07]
	Human umbilical cord	Intravenous	50 µg of EVs / mouse	1 dose at day 9 post infection	Amelioration of neuroinflammation	[290]
	derived MSC					[=> 0]
	Bone marrow derived	Intravenous	5*10 ¹⁰ particles	1 dose twice a week for 4 weeks (for	Improvement of neurological outcome,	[291]
	MSC			EAE model)	improvement of cognitive functions, decrease	[271]
				1 dose once a week for 2 weeks (for	of neuroinflammation, and increase of	
				cuprizone model)	remyelination	
Alzheimer's	Human adipose tissue-	In vitro	Not communicated	Incubation EV + cells for 24h	Decrease of intracellular β-amyloid peptide	[300]
disease	derived MSC				levels	[200]
	Neuroblastoma cells	Intracerebroventricular	$4~\mu g$ of EVs (based on	Not communicated	Sequestration of β-amyloid peptide levels	[301]
		infusion	proteins)			[201]
	Murine neuroblastoma	Stereotaxic injection into	10 µg of EVs (based on	2 mg of EVs (based on protein) /ml	Sequestration of β-amyloid peptide levels	[302]
	cells	the right hippocampus	proteins) / mouse	at 0.25µl/h for 14 days		[302]

	Bone marrow derived	Intracerebroventricular	30 µg of EVs (based on	1 dose / month for 2 months	Decrease of soluble of β -amyloid peptide levels,	[303]
	MSC		proteins)		reduction of β -amyloid peptide deposition area,	[0.00]
					amelioration of inflammation	
	Bone marrow derived	Intravenous or	0.5 or 25 μg of EVs /	1 dose / day for 5 days	Improvement of AD-like behaviors (only with	[304]
	MSC	intracerebroventricular	mouse		intracerebroventricular injection), decrease of	[~~.]
					β-amyloid peptide levels	
Parkinson's	Stem cells from human	In vitro	Not communicated	Not communicated	Suppression of 6-OHDA-induced apoptosis in	[305]
disease	exfoliated deciduous				dopaminergic neurons	[~~~]
uisease	teeth					
	Stem cells from human	Intranasal	43*108 EVs / mouse	1 dose (2.85*108 EVs) at day 8 to 22	Improvement of the rat gait parameters	[306]
	exfoliated deciduous			after the lesion	Increase of Tyr hydrolase expression	[500]
	teeth					
	Human umbilical cord	Intravenous	$200\ \mu g$ of EVs (based	1 dose every 3 days for 8 weeks	Reduction of dopaminergic neuron loss,	[307]
	derived MSC		on proteins) / rat		improvement of behavioral deficits	[~~,]

IV. EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES AS NANOMEDICINES FOR CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM DISEASES

In addition to their therapeutic effects, EVs have also been used as drug delivery system to administer RNA, small molecules, or proteins to the CNS. This can be explained by their many advantages, as summarized in Table 1. In order to load a therapeutic molecule in EVs, different methods have been explored. These can be mainly divided into 2 categories: modification of the parent cells before isolation (transfection or incubation with the compound of interest) or modification of EV post-isolation (sonication, extrusion, freeze-thaw cycles, electroporation, membrane permeation with saponin) [308] (Figure 11), each presenting their advantages and limitations (Table 6).



Figure 11. Overview of extracellular vesicles loading strategy. Further details are given in the main text.

Table 6. Commonly used encapsulation methods after EV isolation

Methods	Principle	Cargo	Drug-loading rate	Advantages	Limitations	References
Sonication	Several cycles of sonication with a cooling	Catalase	$26.1 \pm 1.2\%$	Higher loading rate with	Disruption of EV integrity	[309, 310]
	phase between each cycle	TPP1	70 µg into 1011 EVs	hydrophilic drugs	Potential loss of intrinsic activity	
		Paclitaxel	28.29 ± 1.38%	No cytotoxicity of empty	of the EVs	
				sonicated EVs	EV size increasing	
Electroporation	Electric impulse allowing permeabilization	RNAs (miRNA and siRNA)	Not communicated	Well-described method	Disruption of EV integrity	
	of the membrane	Paclitaxel	$5.3 \pm 0.48\%$	commonly used for cell	Potential loss of intrinsic activity	[311-313]
				transfection	of the EVs	
				Adapted for nucleic acid	Risk of RNA aggregate formation	
				encapsulation		
Extrusion	The compound and EVs are extruded	Catalase	$22.2 \pm 3.1\%$	Higher loading rate than passive	Disruption of EV integrity	[309]
	through 200 nm-pores diameter			incubation	Potential loss of intrinsic activity	
					of the EVs	
					EV size increasing	
Saponin-treatment	The EVs and the proteins are incubated	Catalase	$18.5 \pm 1.3\%$	Higher loading rate than passive	Disruption of EV integrity	[309, 310]
	with 0.2% saponin	TDD1	50 inte 1011 EV-	incubation	Potential loss of intrinsic activity	
		IFFI	50 µg into 10 E vs		of the EVs	
Incubation	The compound and EVs are mixed and	Curcumin	2.9 g into 1 g EVs	No disruption of EV integrity	Lower loading rate with	[309, 313-316]
	incubated at 22°C or 37°C for various			Mostly for hydrophobic drugs	hydrophilic drugs	
	amount of time	Placlitaxel	$1.44 \pm 0.38\%$	No interaction with functional or	Risk of adsorption on EV	
		Doxorubicin	132.2 ± 2.9 ng into 1 µg EVs	physical properties of EV	membrane	
		Dopamin	15.97 ± 0.22%	_		
		siRNA	1000 – 3000 molecules / EV	_		
		Catalase	4.9 ± 0.5%	_		
Freeze-thaw cycles	Incubation of EVs and the protein for 30	Catalase	14.7 ± 1.1%	Higher loading rate than passive	Disruption of EV integrity	[309]
	min, followed by freezing at -80°C and			incubation	Potential loss of intrinsic activity	
	thawing at RT (3 cycles)				of the EVs	
					Not frequently used	
IV.1. RNA

The idea of exogenous RNA encapsulation in EVs originates from the observation that EVs can transfer genetic material from one cell to another [317, 318]. Various forms of RNA - siRNA, miRNA and mRNA - have been successfully encapsulated into EVs. Three main encapsulation methods have been reported in literature: electroporation, co-incubation with EVs and parent cell transfection. Alvarez-Erviti et al. are the first ones who encapsulated siRNA into EVs to treat CNS disorders [319]. They encapsulated beta-site APP cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE1) siRNA by electroporation in EVs isolated from dendritic cells. BACE1 is a protease that plays an important role in the formation of β -amyloid peptides. Thus, knocking down the expression of this gene in neurons could be a therapeutic approach against Alzheimer's disease. Intravenous administration of EVs containing BACE1 siRNA in mice has led to a significant decrease in the total β-amyloid 1-42 levels. These results support the ability of EVs to deliver cargo to neurons, microglia, and oligodendrocytes and also to cross BBB. Moreover, no cell toxicity or T-cell proliferation have been observed, which show that EVs have been well-tolerated. Cooper et al. also used electroporation to encapsulate a-synuclein siRNA into EVs isolated from murine dendritic cells [320]. α -synuclein aggregates are found in Lewy bodies, which are a characteristic of Parkinson's disease. In vitro, α -synuclein siRNA-EVs were able to decrease α -synuclein mRNA expression and consequently its protein level. These results have been confirmed in vivo after intravenous administration in mice overexpressing α -synuclein. Although electroporation seems to be a promising technique to encapsulate RNA into EVs, it also led to the extension formation of insoluble RNA aggregates which may cause overestimation of the amount of RNA actually loaded into EVs [312].

Incubation of siRNA with EVs can also be used to encapsulate genetic materials into EVs. Didiot et al. modified siRNA targeting Huntingtin mRNA by adding a cholesterol moiety in 3', which increased its hydrophobicity in order to encapsulate this siRNA into glioblastoma-EVs [313]. This modification led to a promotion of siRNA cellular and EVs internalization. However, no information about the impact on siRNA loading has been provided. Huntington disease is caused by the expansion of a polyglutamine tract at the N-terminus of the huntingtin protein, thereby altering its function. Thus, targeting this protein could slow down the development of the disease. siRNA-EVs silencing of huntingtin mRNA expression led to a significant decrease of protein level *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* following a stereotactic injection in mouse striatum. Furthermore, siRNA-EVs did not induce activation of microglia, which suggests that siRNA-EVs were well-tolerated. However, clinical improvement was not assessed. Incubation is also the method used by Guo et al.

to encapsulate siRNA coding for the silencing of phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) into MSC-EVs [321]. This protein is expressed in neurons and regenerative axons and limits the synthesis of proteins sustaining axonal growth. Thus, knocking down its expression appears to be an interesting therapeutic strategy to repair spinal cord injury. A significant decrease of PTEN gene expression after intranasal administration of PTEN siRNA-EVs in a spinal cord injury model has been observed. As a result, significant recovery, enhancement of axonal growth and neovascularization and reduction of astrogliosis and microgliosis have been observed. Moreover, PTEN expression in the liver was not modified, suggesting that there is no accumulation of PTEN-EVs in this organ.

Electroporation and incubation are both effective methods to encapsulate RNA into EVs but their efficiency decreases when the size of the RNA increases. As an alternative, Kojima et al. transfected HEK-293T cells with a modified plasmid coding for catalase [322]. The plasmid modification allows a boost of EVs production, improves the delivery to the CNS, and increases encapsulation of mRNA into EVs. Catalase protects neurons from oxidative stress and attenuates the cell death that occurs in Parkinson's disease for instance. EVs isolated from these transfected cells contained catalase mRNA. In vitro, mRNA-EVs were able to attenuate the 6-OHDA-induced neurotoxicity. Furthermore, attenuation of neuroinflammation was observed in a murine Parkinson model. Cell transduction or transfection could also be used for miRNA encapsulation. Osorio-querejeta et al. transduced HEK293T cells in order to produce EVs loaded with miR-219a-5p [223], a miRNA that induces OPC differentiation and remyelination. Intranasal administration of miR-219a-5p-EVs in EAE mice resulted in their clinical score improvement, while incubation with OPC induced their differentiation. However, no impact on inflammation in this model has been reported. Similarly, Jahangard et al. transfected rat bone marrow MSC with recombinant expression vectors carrying miR-29a or miR-29b, both of which target BACE1 [323]. The presence of these miRNA in the EVs was confirmed and their administration in an AD rat model led to downregulation of BACE1, prevention of spatial learning deficits, and partial recovery of cognitive function.

IV.2. SMALL MOLECULES

Several small molecules have already been reported in the literature as potential new drugs to treat CNS disorders. For example, curcumin is known to have anti-inflammatory properties [324]. Zhuang et al. encapsulated this compound into EVs (Exo-Cur) and assessed their efficiency after intranasal administration in different brain inflammatory disease models [325]. Exo-Cur inhibited inflammation, induced IL-1 β^+ -microglia apoptosis, and improved mouse clinical score.

Administration of dopamine to treat Parkinson's disease has only peripheric effects as dopamine cannot cross the BBB when administered by intravenous injection [326]. However, when loaded in blood EVs (Exo-DA), it significantly improved functional recovery in a murine Parkinson's disease model [316]. No toxicity in hippocampus, liver, spleen, and lung has been reported.

EVs as vehicle for small molecules have also been assessed for brain cancer therapy. Indeed, Zhuang et al. encapsulated JSI124, a bioactive small compound able to inhibit signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (Stat3) signaling pathway, into EVs (JSI124-EVs) [325]. In a brain tumor model, JSI124-EVs significantly prolonged the mouse survival and inhibited the secretion of inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-1 β and IL-6). Moreover, the tumor was less invasive compared to native EVs or free-JSI124. Yang et al. also encapsulated cytotoxic drugs (paclitaxel and doxorubicin) into EVs to treat brain cancer [315]. An intravenous administration of these EVs in zebrafish brain cancer model led to a significant reduction of tumor area and VEGF mRNA expression.

Additionally, Qi et al. encapsulated quercetin in plasma EVs (Que-EV) to enhance its bioavailability and brain targeting, as quercetin has demonstrated properties such as tau pathology prevention, neuroprotection, and cognitive improvement. In a rat model of Alzheimer's disease, Que-EV significantly enhanced bioavailability of quercetin, rescued cognitive dysfunction, and reduced the formation of insoluble neurofibrillary tangles [327].

IV.3. PROTEIN/PEPTIDE

Proteins and peptides also have a lot of potential for the treatment of CNS disorders but their therapeutic potential is often limited by their fast degradation and inability to cross the BBB. One strategy to improve their pharmacological properties is to encapsulate them in a nanocarrier like liposomes or polymeric nanoparticles but, while this would improve their stability, most of these carriers have difficulties crossing the BBB and reaching the CNS. As EVs can cross this barrier more easily (see next section), Haney et al. encapsulated catalase into EVs. *In vitro*, an accumulation of catalase-EVs into neurons has been observed, as well as a decrease of reactive oxygen species in microglia cells activated with lipopolysaccharides. *In vivo*, administration of catalase-loaded EVs via the nasal route in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease led to antiinflammatory and neuroprotective effects [309]. The same group encapsulated a soluble lysosomal enzyme, tripeptidyl-peptidase-1 (TPP1), into murine EVs to treat lysosomal storage disorder [310]. An intraperitoneal administration of TPP1-EVs led to a decrease in neuroinflammation and astrocytosis and is thus a promising strategy for the treatment of Batten disease. In both cases, EVs

accumulated in the brain and significantly increased the stability of the protein against protease degradation. In another study, Izadpanah et al. encapsulated neprilysin, an active enzyme involved in the clearance of abnormal aggregated β -amyloid sheets in the brain, into bone marrow MSC-EVs. Intranasal administration of these EVs in a rat model of Alzheimer's disease significantly reduced neuronal damage and A β plaques, leading to improvements in brain-related behavioral functions [328].

As discussed here, the use of EVs as drug vehicles for CNS disorders is very promising and has been tested in several pre-clinical models of neurological diseases. However, there is currently a lack of quantitative information on the amount of EVs that actually reaches the CNS after administration. It is not excluded either that observed improvements following EV administration result, at least partially, from a peripheric effect of EV. Moreover, encapsulation methods should be improved in order to increase encapsulation efficiency and loading.

V. EV ACCUMULATION IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

Evidence suggests that EVs can cross the BBB. Indeed, Morad et al. assessed how EVs derived from breast cancer cells could cross the BBB by using an *in vitro* BBB static model [329]. In this case, EVs were able to cross the cell monolayer easily. To verify if the observation was still valid in a dynamic system, a microfluidics organ-on-a-chip model of the BBB was used [329]. In 2017, Yuan et al. showed that EVs derived from macrophages could cross the BBB in an inflammatory state via integrin lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) in human hCMEC/D3 cell model of the BBB [330]. When injected intravenously in healthy or inflamed (intracranial injection of 10 μ g of lipopolysaccharides) mice, 5 times more EVs were found in the brain in the inflamed condition compared to control. These results were confirmed when more BDNF was found in the brain parenchyma of inflamed animals after BDNF-loaded EVs intravenous injection compared to free-BDNF [330].

Only a limited number of studies about the mechanism by which EVs can cross the BBB have been conducted. Thus, the knowledge on this topic is very limited. One hypothesis is that EVs use the same mechanism as viruses, namely the endocytosis process and more precisely transcytosis [331].

While EVs seem to cross the BBB on their own, efforts have been devoted to further increase their accumulation in the CNS, mostly by using the nose-to-brain pathway and/or by modifying their surface.

V.1. IMPACT OF ADMINISTRATION ROUTE

Various administration routes have been assessed for the delivery of EVs in the CNS: intravenous (IV), intranasal (IN), intrathecal, and intraperitoneal (IP) routes. All of them allow EVs to reach the brain parenchyma but the amount of EVs fluctuates according to the route [325, 332, 333]. To compare biodistribution, Betzer et al. administrated glucose-coated gold nanoparticles encapsulated in EVs intravenously and intranasally to C57/BL6 mice [334]. At 1h after injection, the quantity of gold in the brain was significantly higher with IN administration hinting that this route of administration led to a larger brain accumulation of EVs. Moreover, EVs were still detectable 24h after IN administration, which was not the case following IV administration. The same observation was made by Perets et al. after IN and IV administration of MSC-derived EVs to mice [335]. Although researchers initially thought that EVs had a better circulation time than synthetic nanoparticles, recent results rather indicate a rapid clearance of EVs from circulation after IV administration [336]. This might explain why a very small amount of EVs is able to reach the CNS after IV administration and why IN administration might be more promising for CNS delivery.

In a recent study, Haney et al. evaluated the biodistribution of macrophage-derived EVs by using DiR-labeled EVs in CLN2 knock-out mice (a Batten disease mice model) [337]. Four different routes were assessed: IV, IN, IP, and intrathecal. At 20 days after injection, the highest DiR fluorescent signal in the brain was achieved after intrathecal administration. The authors hypothesized that the intrathecal route allowed to bypass EV entrapment in peripheral organs, mainly the liver and the kidney, and thus improved brain bioavailability. Additionally, DiD-labelled EVs were also administered in CLN2 knock-out mice and EV accumulation in the brain was assessed using confocal microscopy. Among the four routes of administration, the intrathecal injection allowed the best DiD-EVs accumulation as expected, followed by IN administration. Moreover, all routes of administration allowed decreased astrocytosis and increased neuronal survival, especially when EVs were administered intrathecally and intranasally [337].

In light of the above, the intrathecal route seems to be the most effective way to administrate EVs for therapeutic purposes. Nevertheless, a less invasive route such as IN administration is preferred to treat CNS disorders that require chronic dosing. Moreover, a preferential accumulation of MSC-EVs in the brain has been observed after IN administration of EVs. Indeed, Perets et al. showed different distribution patterns of MSC-derived EVs in the brain of mice according to the pathology: they accumulated mostly in the striatum of traumatic brain injury and Parkinson's disease models and in the striatum and the hippocampus in an Alzheimer's disease model [338]. Guo et al. administered intranasally MSC-EVs to rats with a spinal cord lesion [321]. They observed a homing

of the MSC-EVs to the lesion and a higher uptake by neurons compared to astrocytes and microglia. The specific mechanisms underlying this homing are not fully understood yet, but it appears that it could depend on inflammatory events that occur at the site of the lesion [321, 334].

Currently, the route followed by the EV after IN administration has not been studied.

V.2. SURFACE MODIFICATION OF EV TO IMPROVE BIODISTRIBUTION

As discussed, EVs seem to be able to cross the BBB by themselves. However, some research groups modified their surface to further increase their accumulation in the CNS or to target specific cells. Two main strategies have been used to achieve this: parent cell genetic modification to produce modified EV pre-isolation or EV post-isolation surface modification (Table 7).

Parent cell genetic modification is the most popular technique to modify EV surface to enhance brain accumulation. Álvarez et al. delivered BACE1 siRNA to the CNS using EVs decorated with rabies viral glycoprotein (RVG) that targets nicotinic acetylcholine receptors largely distributed in the CNS neurons [319]. To do so, they transfected a plasmid coding for Lamp2B, an EV membrane protein, fused with the targeting RVG peptide, in primary dendritic cells derived from mice bone marrow. The presence of the fusion protein was assessed by western blot and qPCR. EVs-Lamp2B-RVG containing silencing BACE1 siRNA were injected intravenously into mice. Compared to the untreated mice and mice that received siRNA-RVG, siRNA-RVG-EV treated mice had a lower expression of BACE1 mRNA, suggesting that RVG can improve siRNA delivery to the CNS. However, the impact of siRNAs encapsulated in undecorated EVs on BACE1 mRNA expression has not been assessed [319].

Peptides displayed on EV surface using this method can be degraded during EV biogenesis in the parent cell, for example, by endosomal proteases. Thus, Hung et al. used an improved version of neurons-targeted EVs by adding a glycosylation motif (GNSTM) on their surface [339]. Lamp2B-GNSTM-RVG-EVs were also produced by using engineered cells. A higher expression of Lamp2B-GNSTM-RVG in cell lysate and EVs was observed. Therefore, it seems that the addition of the glycosylation motif enhanced the peptide stability by avoiding degradation by cell protease. Lamp2B is not the only EV surface protein used to modify EV surface via parent cell genetic modification. The C1C2 domain of lactadherin was also used to decorate EVs in the context of cancer therapy [340]. Based on the examples mentioned above, it seems that parent cell modification via plasmid transfection is an effective technique to display targeting peptides at the surface of EVs.

Concerning post-isolation techniques for EV surface modification in the context of CNS therapy, very few studies have been published. Ye et al. grafted a KLA-low-density lipoprotein (KLA-LDL) at EV surface, using a simple coincubation with the peptide of interest. LDL has been grafted in order to improve EV passage across the BBB (by binding to the LDL receptor) and KLA is a proapoptotic peptide that aims to enhance the therapeutical effect of this anti-glioma formulation [341]. The grafting efficiency of LDL and KLA-LDL was approximately 1.98 and 1.77%, respectively. In vitro, LDL-EVs were taken up to a greater extent by U87 cells than unmodified EVs. However, when KLA was added prior to LDL-EVs no difference in uptake was observed [341]. After intravenous administration of DiR-EVs and KLA-LDL-DiR-EVs, the highest fluorescent signal was achieved with the targeted EVs. Moreover, it has been shown that the encapsulation of methotrexate into KLA-LDL-EVs increased the survival rate of mice bearing a glioma. Another strategy to graft a peptide at the surface of EVs after EV isolation is to use bio-orthogonal copperfree azide alkyne cyclo-addition, which is a type of click chemistry [342]. Using this technique, Tian et al. grafted the cyclo (Arg-Gly-Asp-D-Tyr-Lys) peptide [c(RGDyK)] on the murine bone marrow MSC-EV surface. This peptide has an affinity for the $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin which is overexpressed in cerebral vascular endothelial cells after ischemia. They aimed to enhance curcumin-loaded EV delivery in the ischemic part of the brain. To achieve this functionalization, firstly dibenzocyclooctyne- sulfo-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl ester (DBCO-sulfo-NHS) was added to EVs as a linker. NHS creates a chemical bound with amines at the surface of the EVs and the alkyne in the DBCO can be linked to an azide moiety to give birth to a triazole linkage. For this, an azide moiety has been added to the [c(RGDyK)] lysine. To evaluate the grafting efficiency, a fluorescent dye has been conjugated to [c(RGDyK)] before grafting on EVs. The unbound fraction of the [c(RGDyK)] has been removed by ultracentrifugation. Using this technique, they calculated that an average of 263 peptides were attached at the surface of one EV [342].

It has also been reported that EVs have intrinsic interesting surface properties that allow them to cross the BBB. Indeed, Qu et al. showed that EVs produced by blood cells have transferrin receptor (TfR) on their surface. TfR is also expressed on the apical side of the endothelial cell of the BBB and is often targeted in studies that aim to improve CNS delivery with a different type of nanovectors. Dopamine-loaded blood EVs and free-dopamine were injected into mice intravenously. The biodistribution in the brain was compared 6 hours after injection, and the results showed that delivery with blood EVs allowed a 15-fold higher brain distribution of dopamine compared to free dopamine [316].

EVs origin	Surface modification	Targets	Grafting technique	Outcomes	Ref
Primary dendritic cells	RVG	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors	Transfection of plasmid encoding for Lamp2B-RVG peptide	In vivo: IV injection of BACE1 siRNA in RVG-EVs lowered BACE1 mRNA expression in striatum compared to the control	[319]
Human embryonic kidneys (HEK293T) cells	GNSTM-RVG	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors	Transfection of plasmid encoding for Lamp2B-GNSTM- RVG	<i>In vitro:</i> increased uptake of GNSTM-RVG- EVs compared to control on neuroblastoma cells	[339]
Human embryonic kidneys (HEK293T) cells	GNSTM-RVG	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors	Transfection of plasmid encoding for Lamp2B-GNSTM- RVG	<i>In vitro</i> : enhanced passage of EVs-GNSTM- RVG through bEnd.3 cells monolayer as a BBB model. <i>In vivo</i> : enhanced accumulation of GNSTM- RVG-EVs in brain tissue after IV injection compared to unmodified EVs	[343]
Murine fibroblast (L929) cells	KLA-LDL or LDL	LDL receptor at the BBB	Coincubation of peptide with EVs post isolation.	<i>In vitro</i> : LDL-EVs and KLA-LDL-EVs had a higher uptake than EVs on U87 cells. <i>In vivo</i> : higher accumulation in the brain of KLA-LDL-EVs compared to EVs.	[341]
Bone marrow-derived MSCs	c(RGDyK)	$\alpha_v \beta_3$ integrin overexpressed in the endothelial cell in the ischemic brain lesion	Copper-free click chemistry	In vitro: Higher accumulation of EV-RGD in U87 cells expressing $\alpha_v \beta_3$ integrin compared to EVs In vivo: higher accumulation of RGD-EVs in the brain and ischemic lesion after IV injection.	[342]
Mouse macrophages Raw264.7 cells	RGE	Neuropilin-1 (NRP- 1) overexpressed in glioma cells	Copper-free click chemistry	<i>In vivo:</i> curcumin-loaded RGE-EVs decreased glioma tumor volume to a higher extent compared to curcumin-loaded EVs	[344]
Blood cells	TfR-Transferrin	Transferrin receptor at the BBB	The TfR-Transferrin complex was already present at the surface EVs post-isolation	<i>In vitro</i> : higher accumulation of blood-EVs in bEnd.3 cells compared to HeLa-EVs <i>In vivo</i> : dopamine-loaded blood EVs had a higher accumulation in brain tissue than free dopamine after IV administration.	[316]

Table 7. Representative examples of the main EVs surface functionalization approaches for CNS delivery

VI. THE CHALLENGE OF EV-THERAPEUTIC TRANSLATION TO THE CLINIC

While EVs have raised a lot of enthusiasm as a drug delivery system, only 3 clinical trials with EVs in CNS were ongoing in 2020 (https://clinicaltrials.gov, Table 8). However, due to COVID-19, 2 of them have been suspended and thus, in 2024, only one trial is ongoing. This reflects the youthfulness of the field and the many challenges that still need to be addressed before fully exploiting the potential of EVs. The main current limitations are: scale-up of the production, production of highly purified EVs, standardization for isolation and characterization methods, low encapsulation efficiency, shelf stability, and poor understanding of the mechanisms of action [345, 346].

Scale-up of the production is currently hindered by the limitations related to cell expansion. Indeed, to produce a large amount of EVs required for clinical and industrial applications, the first solution is to grow a large amount of cells. To achieve this, flasks, multilayer culture flasks, or bioreactors (fixed-bed, stirred-tank with microcarriers or continuous perfusion hollow fiber reactors) can be used [347] but it requires space, manipulation of large quantities of liquids, sophisticated equipment, and extensive skills and optimization. An alternative is to stimulate cells to produce more EVs with external signals [348]. These signals can be biological (e.g. serum starvation [349], cytokines activation [350] or hypoxia [351]), chemical (e.g. ethanol or cytochalasin B [352]) or physical (e.g. extrusion, centrifugation, filtration or slicing). For instance, the start-up EVerZom has launched a platform in order to increase EV production yield by using turbulence to stimulate cells.

However, external signals may have an impact on cell properties and modify EV content. For example, cytochalasin B induces the production of membrane vesicles, that do not use the same mechanism of cargo sorting as EVs [352]. Cytokine activation often leads to the production of EVs with different properties than EVs produced under normal conditions. Thus, a full characterization of these EVs should be done.

Another approach would be to use the extensive knowledge and experience researchers have in the field of nanomedicines to produce EV-mimicking nanosystems, with the aim to combine, ideally, the advantages of both carriers. The objective would be to preserve EV's inherent ability to cross barriers and their biological activity with a more controlled, flexible, and reliable production process. To do so, researchers developed liposomes with lipid composition similar to EVs [353]. Liposomes can be functionalized with proteins of interest or genetic materials. However, this method requires a complete knowledge of EVs content and more precisely, what is responsible for their therapeutic effects. Fusion of EVs with liposomes has also been assessed in order to improve the encapsulation of a hydrophilic or a lipophilic compound into EVs or to decorate the surface of EVs [354]. With this technique, encapsulation of a lipophilic drug could be 30 times more important compared to incubation of the parental cells with the drug of interest.

Indication	Phase	Study size	EV source	Administration	EV manipulation	Results/status	NCT number	Ref.
Depression, anxiety and dementias	Not applicable	300	MSC	IV (in association with focused ultrasound)	None	Suspended (pending COVID-19 pandemic)	NCT04202770	[305]
Craniofacial neuralgia	Not applicable	100	Unknown	IV (in association with focused ultrasound)	None	Suspended (pending COVID-19 pandemic)	NCT04202783	[306]
Acute ischemic stroke	1 – 2	5	MSC	IV	Enrichment by miR-124	Passed completion date	NCT03384433	[355]

Table 8. Clinical studies using EVs for treatment of CNS disorders. IV: intravenous, MSC: Mesenchymal stem cell

PART II AIM OF THE THESIS

Extensive research conducted during the last decade has highlighted the therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells for various pathologies, including neurological disorders such as MS. This therapeutic effect is likely mediated by their soluble factors but also by their EVs. Our main objective is thus to develop nanomedicines that will contribute to resolve chronic inflammation and stimulate remyelination in the central nervous system. We aim at exploiting our know-how in the field of nanomedicines and stem cells to deliver siponimod, a compound that can promote the differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells, encapsulated within mesenchymal stem cell-derived EVs and deliver them to the CNS.



As this work was the first in our laboratory dedicated to EVs, the first objective of this project was to isolate and characterize EVs from human dental mesenchymal stem cells. Another objective was to use these EVs as a drug delivery system to encapsulate siponimod and evaluate its efficacy *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Therefore, the result section is divided in two chapters:

Chapter I: Influence of a pro-inflammatory stimulus on the miRNA and lipid content of human dental stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles and their impact on microglia activation.

Previous experiments conducted in our laboratory have demonstrated that stem cells from human apical papilla (SCAP) exhibit anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects via their secretome, notably when subjected to a pro-inflammatory environment. SCAP are a promising source of MSCs compared to bone marrow-derived MSCs due to their accessibility, neural crest origin, higher proliferation rate, and greater expression of specific neural transcripts and proteins. The SCAP secretome includes both soluble factors and EVs. In this study, our objective was to determine whether SCAP-EVs were able to replicate the therapeutic properties of their parent cells. We thus isolated and characterized EVs from non-activated SCAP and from SCAP activated with TNF α and IFN γ . Additionally, we assessed the ability of these EVs to reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in both *in vitro* and *ex vivo* models.

Chapter II: Siponimod-loaded EVs increased oligodendrocyte progenitor cell differentiation.

This chapter focused on the use of EVs as drug delivery system for siponimod. As demonstrated in the previous section, SCAP-EVs were able to slightly reduce neuroinflammation in both *in vitro* and *ex vivo* models. Our objective was to encapsulate siponimod in SCAP-EVs and evaluate the impact of this system on oligodendrocyte progenitor cell differentiation and inflammation resolution. To achieve this, we encapsulated siponimod into SCAP-EVs using an innovative technique called turbuloporation followed by isolation of siponimod-loaded EVs. We then assessed their efficacy *in vitro* by measuring their ability to reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in microglia cells and to induce OPC differentiation. The therapeutic efficacy of siponimod-loaded EVs was subsequently tested in a demyelination model.

PART III RESULTS

CHAPTER I: INFLUENCE OF A PRO-INFLAMMATORY STIMULUS ON THE MIRNA AND LIPID CONTENT OF HUMAN DENTAL STEM CELL-DERIVED EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES AND THEIR IMPACT ON MICROGLIAL ACTIVATION

Adapted from

	Contents lists available at ScienceDirect	Heliyon
59 Ce Press	Heliyon	(H)
	journal homepage: www.cell.com/heliyon	e) Californi

Research article

Influence of a pro-inflammatory stimulus on the miRNA and lipid content of human dental stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles and their impact on microglial activation

Viridiane Gratpain^a, Axelle Loriot^b, Pauline Bottemanne^c, Ludovic d'Auria^d, Romano Terrasi^c, Valéry L. Payen^a, Vincent van Pesch^d, Giulio G. Muccioli^c, Anne des Rieux^{a,*}

^a Louvain Drug Research Institute, Advanced Drug Delivary and Biomaterials, Université Catholique de Louvain, UCLouvain, 1200, Brussels, Belgium
^b de Duve Institute, Computational Biology Unit, Université Catholique de Louvain, UCLouvain, 1200, Brussels, Belgium
^c Louvain Drug Research Institute, Bioanalysis and Pharmacology of Bioactive Lipids, Université Catholique de Louvain, UCLouvain, 1200, Brussels,

^d Institute of Neuroscience, Neurochemistry Unit, Université Catholique de Louvain, UCLouvain, 1200, Brussels, Belgium

ABSTRACT

Neuro-inflammation occurs in numerous disorders such as multiple sclerosis, Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. However, anti-inflammatory drugs for the central nervous system have failed to show significant improvement when compared to a placebo in clinical trials. Our previous work demonstrated that stem cells from the apical papilla (SCAP) can decrease neuro-inflammation and stimulate oligodendrocyte progenitor cell differentiation. One hypothesis is that the therapeutic effect of SCAP could be mediated by their secretome, including extracellular vesicles (EVs). Here, our objectives were to characterize SCAP-EVs and to study their effect on microglial cells. We isolated EVs from non-activated SCAP and from SCAP activated with TNF and IFN- $\!\gamma$ and characterized them according to their size, EV markers, miRNA, and lipid content. Their ability to decrease pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in vitro and ex vivo was also assessed. We showed that the miRNA content was impacted by a pro-inflammatory environment but not their lipid composition. SCAP-EVs reduced the expression of pro-inflammatory markers in LPS-activated microglial cells while their effect was limited on mouse spinal cord sections. In conclusion, we were able to isolate EVs from SCAP, to show that their miRNA content was impacted by a proinflammatory stimulus, and to describe that SCAP-EVs and not the protein fraction of conditioned medium could reduce pro-inflammatory marker expression in LPS-activated BV2 cells.

I. INTRODUCTION

Once it became apparent that extracellular vesicles were involved in local and systemic cell communication [250, 356], extensive studies were conducted to elucidate their role in pathology development and regulation, making them potential biomarker of various diseases, mostly cancer [357-359]. Furthermore, EVs play a crucial role in physiological processes such as immune regulation, leading to the development of therapeutic approaches using these vesicles [360]. Recently, the use of EVs as a drug delivery vehicle has also raised a lot of interest. Indeed, EVs are nanoscale vesicles that can be loaded with a specific bioactive molecule (i.e. miRNA, lipid, small molecule [308]), can cross biological barriers, including the blood-brain barrier, are characterized by low immunogenicity [214] and have no toxicity [361], and are able to deliver their cargo into recipient cells [362]. EV can be isolated from diverse sources, such as eukaryotic cell and bacteria conditioned media, biological fluids, and plants. Eukaryotic cell-conditioned medium is the preferred source of EVs as nanomedicines, as it offers the possibility to scale-up EV production processes [363], to have a better reproducibility of EV isolation compared to other sources, to modify parent cells in order to load a bioactive molecule into EVs but also to modify EV composition by changing cell culture conditions [364].

As mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)-derived EVs can present similar therapeutic properties as their parent cells [365], they have become a source of choice to produce EVs for therapeutic uses. Indeed, recent studies have shown that, like MSC, EVs produced by MSC were able to decrease inflammation in mice [366] but also to reduce neurological impairment in neurodegenerative diseases [214]. Our previous work has shown that stem cells from the apical papilla (SCAP) can exert an anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effect [367] via their secretome [368], notably when subjected to a pro-inflammatory environment. This could be mediated by soluble factors but also by their EVs [287].

To the best of our knowledge, no one ever isolated EVs from SCAP based on size differentiation, characterized them according to their miRNA and lipid content, and studied their impact on the secretion of inflammatory markers in activated glial cells. We thus optimized a protocol to obtain EVs from SCAP-conditioned medium and we characterized them according to MISEV2018 recommendations [244]. Then, as the secretion of immunomodulatory factors by SCAP increased upon exposure to a pro-inflammatory stimulus, we hypothesized that their EV content could be affected as well. Since EVs are known to be one of the major vehicles for miRNA trafficking and as lipids are major components of EV membrane, we focused on those two components. Finally, we evaluated whether SCAP-secreted EV (SCAP-EV), produced in a steady state or a pro-

inflammatory environment, would have an immunomodulatory action on glial cells. Thus, the aim of this study was to better understand the impact of a pro-inflammatory environment on EV composition and determine whether SCAP-EVs would recapitulate SCAP anti-inflammatory effect on glial cells.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

All relevant data have been submitted to the EV-TRACK knowledgebase (EV-TRACK ID: EV220308).

II.1. Cell culture and isolation of EVs

Previously characterized human SCAP from healthy tooth were used [369]. SCAP were cultured at 37°C and 5% CO₂ in minimum essential medium Eagle (MEM, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% L-glutamine 200 mM (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA), 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Non-activated and activated SCAP were cultured for 3 days in serum-free MEM and in serum-free MEM containing TNFa (20 ng/ml) and IFN-y (20 ng/ml), respectively [368]. Conditioned media were then collected and EVs were isolated by centrifugation and ultrafiltration followed by size exclusion chromatography (SEC) (Figure 1). Briefly cells, dead cells and cell debris were removed by successive centrifugations (300 g for 10 min, 1,000 g for 20 min and 10,000 g for 30 min, respectively). The supernatant was then filtrated on 0.22 μ m filter and concentrated 200 – 400 times using an ultrafiltration device with a 30 kDa or a 100 kDa cut-off (Centricon® Plus-70, Merck Millipore, Burlington, USA) until a volume lower than 500 µl was obtained. Finally, small EVs (exosomes and small microvesicles) were separated from contaminating proteins using a SEC column (qEV Original® 35 nm or 70 nm, Izon Science, Lyon, France). Fractions from 1 to 30 (500 µl each) were collected. Endotoxin detection and quantification were performed with ToxinSensorTM Chromogenic LAL Endotoxin Assay Kit (GenScript, Piscataway, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

II.2. EV CHARACTERIZATION

II.2.1. Protein quantification

Proteins in fractions 1 to 30 were quantified using a Pierce[™] bicinchoninic acid (BCA) Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

II.2.2. Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA)

Particle concentration was quantified using a ZetaView in all fractions (1-30) (Particle Metrix, Inning am Ammersee, Germany) with a recording video frame set at 60 s. EVs were diluted (1:1000 – 1:2000) in ultrapure water to a concentration ranging between $10^7 - 10^8$ particles/mL. Sensitivity was set to 79 and camera shutter to 100. Measurements were averaged from particles counted in 11 different positions for 2 repeated cycles with camera at medium resolution modes. Size distribution and zeta potential were also measured by NTA.

II.2.3. Dissociation-enhanced lanthanide fluorescence immunoassay (DELFIA®)

Fifty μ L of each SEC fraction (1-30) were bound to protein-binding ELISA plate (ELISA Strip Plate, 771261; Greiner Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany). After overnight incubation at 4°C, the plate was shaken on a tilting shaker at 30 rpm at 4°C. Then the plate was washed 3 times with Delfia buffer (#1244-111; PerkinElmer, Wellesley, USA) diluted to 1x in PBS and blocked for 90 min with 1% BSA in PBS. Primary antibodies against CD9 (MAB1880, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, USA), CD81 (#349502; Biolegend, San Diego, USA), CD63 (MCA2142; Serotec Bio-Rad), Flotillin-1 (#610821; BD Biosciences, San Jose, USA) and ApoB (sc-13538; Santa Cruz) (1 μ g/mL in 1% BSA) were then incubated for 90 min. After 3 washes in the Delfia buffer, goat anti-mouse biotinylated antibody (NEF8232001EA; PerkinElmer) diluted at 0.2 μ g/ml in 0.1% BSA was added for 60 min. After 3 washes, Europium-conjugated Streptavidin (#1244-360; PerkinElmer) diluted at 1:1000 was added for 45 min. After 6 washes, the Delfia enhancement solution (#1244-105; PerkinElmer) was incubated for 15 min. Quantification of the signal was performed using time-resolved fluorometry with excitation/emission 340/615 nm, flash energy/light exposure high/medium, and integration lag/counting time 400/400 μ s (Victor X4 multilabel plate reader; PerkinElmer).

II.2.4. Western Blot

Proteins from 10^9 EVs (fractions 7 to 11) and SCAP were extracted using a RIPA buffer containing EDTA and protease inhibitors. Protein concentration was measured with a PierceTM BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Lysates were then denatured with Laemmli sample buffer 6x (375 mM Tris-HCl, pH 6.8; 30% glycerol; 9% β-mercaptoethanol; 9% SDS; 0.03% bromophenol blue). Positive (CD81) and negative (Calnexin) markers were analyzed by western blot after running 12.5 µg of proteins/sample on a sodium dodecyl sulfate–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) on a 4–20 % gradient gel (Bio-Rad). Separated proteins were then transferred with a semi-

dry method to nitrocellulose membranes (Thermo Fisher Scientific) that were blocked with 5 % dry milk dissolved in Tris-buffered saline. Membranes were then incubated with an anti-calnexin antibody (mAb2679, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, USA) and an anti-CD81 antibody (sc-166028, Santa Cruz), diluted at 1:1000. Anti-mouse and anti-rabbit secondary antibodies conjugated to horseradish peroxidase and diluted at 1:10000 were used for the detection. Membranes were revealed with PierceTM ECL Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and images were acquired using Fusion Solo S (Vilber Lourmat, Collégien, France).

II.3. IMPACT OF A PRO-INFLAMMATORY STIMULUS ON SCAP-EV MIRNA CONTENT

Total RNA from 5 x 10¹⁰ non-activated SCAP-EVs and 5 x 10¹⁰ activated SCAP-EVs was extracted using miRNeasy mini kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA concentration was measured by Qubit RNA HS assay kit (Q10211, Thermo Fisher Scientific). Small RNA sequencing has been performed using 50 ng of RNA by Genewiz (Azenta Life Sciences, Leipzig, Germany).

Small RNA sequencing data were processed using mirdeep2 pipeline [370]. Differential expression analysis was done using DESeq2 v1.32.0 Bioconductor package [371]. miRNA with a p-adjusted value < 0.05 and showing an absolute log-foldchange > 1.5 between activated and non-activated samples were considered differentially expressed. multiMiR v1.14.0 Bioconductor package [372] was used to predict the miRNA target genes. miRNA-target pairs predicted by at least 3 of the 4 predictions databases interrogated (DIANA-microT, miRDB, PicTar, and TargetScan) were selected. Over-representation analysis were done using clusterProfiler 4.0.0 [373] on Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathways. Raw data can be found at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/acc.cgi?acc=GSE208577</u>

II.4. INFLUENCE OF SCAP ACTIVATION ON EV LIPID CONTENT

The lipid content of the different samples was analyzed by Liquid Chromatography coupled to Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS). Briefly, lipids from EV were analyzed after liquid/liquid extraction (CH₂Cl₂-MeOH-H₂O) in acidic condition in the presence of internal standards (17:0-LPC, 17:1-LPE, 17:1-LPG, 17:1 LPI, 17:0 Sulfatide, 17:0 sphingomyelin, 17:0 Ceramide). A Xevo-TQS (from Waters) coupled to an UPLC was used to analyze the samples with three different methods, according to lipid family:

- For the lysophospholipids, phospholipids, sulfatides, and sphingomyelin lipids, an HSS LC-18 column 100x2.1mm, 1.8µm (Waters) at a temperature of 40°C was used. The mobile phase consisted in a gradient between A: MeOH-ACN (9/1, v/v) 75% - H₂O 25%; B: MeOH- ACN (9/1, v/v) and C: IpOH, all containing ammonium acetate (5mM). An ESI probe operated in negative mode was used for sample ionization.
- For the ceramide, we used a BEH LC-18 column 50x2.1, 1.7μm (Waters) at a temperature of 40°C. The mobile phase consisted in a gradient between A: H₂O 25% MeOH 75%; B: MeOH 100%, all containing acetic acid (0.1%). An ESI probe operated in negative mode was also used for sample ionization.
- For arachidonic acid derivatives and related compounds, an Acquity UPLC BEH C18 (150 x 2.1 mm; 1.7 μm) column was used. Mobile phases consisted in H₂O-ACN-acetic acid (94.9:5:0.1; v/v/v) and ACN-acetic acid (99.9:0.1; v/v). An ESI probe operated in negative mode was used for sample ionization.

For all the lipids, the relative quantification was based on the ratio between the area under the curve (AUC) of the lipid of interest and the AUC of the respective internal standard. The data were then normalized to the number of EVs in the samples.

II.5. IMPACT OF SCAP-EVS ON BV2 CELL ACTIVATION

Murine microglial cells (BV2 cells) were cultured at 37°C and 5% CO₂ in high-glucose DMEM medium with 10% FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin. BV2 cells were seeded overnight into 24-well plates (2.5 × 10⁵ cells per well) and incubated for 1h with fresh culture medium containing 100 ng/mL LPS and 1% EV-depleted FBS (FBS centrifuged for 1h at 100,000 g to remove EV). LPS concentration was chosen based on previous studies conducted in the lab [374-376]. Then, EVs isolated from non-activated or activated SCAP (5 x 10⁹ EV/well) were added to the cells and incubated for 8h or 24h before RNA extraction. In a subsequent experiment (same setting: BV2 cells activated with 100 ng/mL of LPS, EVs incubated for 8h before RNA extraction), EVs isolated from activated SCAP (Fractions 7-11) were compared to a pool of the protein fractions (Fractions 12-30) obtained from the same sample after SEC.

Total RNA from BV2 cells was extracted using TRIzolTM reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Reverse transcription was performed using the GoScript Transcription System (Promega, Madison, USA) from 1 μ g of total RNA. qPCR was performed with qPCR Master Mix (Promega) and a STEPone PLUS instrument and software (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA) as [377]. Data were analyzed with the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method using

the 60S ribosomal protein L19 (RPL19) as a reference gene. Primer sequences are given in Table 9.

Gene	Forward (5'-3')	Reverse (5'-3')
Mouse RPL19	TGACCTGGATGAGAAGGATGAG	CTGTGATACATATGGCGGTCAATC
Mouse IL-6	ACAAGTCGGAGGCTTAATTACACAT	TTGCCATTGCACAACTCTTTTC
Mouse IL-1β	TCGCTCAGGGTCACAAGAAA	CATCAGAGGCAAGGAGGAAAAC
Mouse iNOS	AGGTACTCAGCGTGCTCCAC	GCACCGAAGATATCTTCATG
Mouse TNFα	AGCCCCCAGTCTGTATCCTT	GGTCACTGTCCCAGCATCTT

Table 9. List of primers sequences

II.6. IMPACT OF SCAP-EVS ON MOUSE SPINAL CORD ACTIVATION

Animal experiments were declared to the ethical committee for animal cares (07-OTLADDB-2023-7). Spinal cord slices were obtained from female C57BL/6J mice. Briefly, the spinal cords were hydro extruded, cut into 400 μ m slices in a tissue chopper. The slices (4 – 5 per well) were incubated in DMEM-F12 media (containing 1 % EV-depleted FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin) overnight. They were then stimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 1 hour prior to incubation with EV isolated from non-activated or activated SCAP (5 x 10⁹ EV/well) or the vehicle (PBS) for 8 or 24 hours. Slices were then recovered and stored at -80°C until processed for mRNA extraction. Gene expression was analyzed as described in 2.5. TNF- α and IL-6 levels were quantified in the culture medium using respectively Mouse TNF alpha uncoated ELISA kit and Mouse IL-6 uncoated ELISA kit (Invitrogen), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

II.7. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Statistical analysis was performed using PRISM (GraphPad Software, CA, USA). Error bars represent the standard error of the mean (SEM) in all figures. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey, or Kruskal-Wallis followed by Dunn's test were performed to compare different conditions (p < 0.05). The number of experiments and the number of replicates are indicated in the figure legends.

III. RESULTS

III.1. CHARACTERIZATION OF SCAP-EVs

To isolate the EVs secreted from SCAP, a combination of 2 methods based on the size of the vesicles was used: ultrafiltration and SEC (Figure 12A). Two ultrafiltration cut-offs were compared (30 kDa and 100 kDa) as well as two SEC columns (35 nm and 70 nm) to optimize the yield of EVs and the elimination of contaminating proteins.

SEC allowed to separate EVs from soluble proteins and to obtain EVs with a very low soluble protein contamination (Figure 12B). The pore size of the ultrafiltration units had an impact on the size (Figure 12C) and on the number of isolated EVs per cell (Figure 12D). Indeed, 2.5 times more vesicles were recovered with units presenting a cut-off of 30 kDa than with units with a cut-off of 100 kDa. No impact of the column type on particle number or size was observed (Figure 1C & 1D). For further EV isolations in this work, 30 kDa ultrafiltration units and 35 nm SEC columns have been used.

As the highest concentration of particles was observed in fractions 7 to 11 (Figure 12B), experiments were performed on a pool of these fractions. The mean size of EVs in the pool was 137.5 nm (SD = 49.7 nm).

In order to confirm that the particles in the pool were indeed EVs, samples were analyzed by DELFIA® and Western Blotting for positive and negative EV markers (as per MISEV2018 recommendations [244]). Isolated particles from factions 7 to 11 were positive for tetraspanins (CD63, CD81, and CD9) and flotillin (all positive markers of EVs) (Figure 12E & 12F) while they were negative for calnexin (Figure 12F) and ApoB (analyzed DELFIA®, no signal), 2 negative markers of EVs.



Figure 12. Isolation and characterization of SCAP-EV. A. EV isolation workflow B. Quantification of protein (micro BCA) and number of EVs (NTA) in each fraction after the SEC with a pore size of 35 nm (n = 3) C. Size distribution of isolated EV comparing 2 ultrafiltration cutoffs (30 and 100 kDa) and 2 size exclusion chromatography pore sizes (35 and 70 nm) (n = 3) D. Quantification of isolated EV per cell (n = 3) E. Delfia Immunoassay on EV positive markers (CD9, CD63, CD81 and Flotillin 1) F. Western Blot on a negative marker of EVs (calnexin) and a positive marker of EVs (CD81) (full image in Supplementary data S1).

III.2. IDENTIFICATION OF SCAP-EV MIRNA CONTENT

As EVs are thought to be one of the main miRNA transporters [378], we first analyzed the miRNA content of steady-state SCAP-EV.

Around 100,000 mapped reads were detected from non-activated SCAP-EVs, while 236 miRNA were identified (Supplementary data S2). The identified small RNAs were mainly miscellaneous small RNA, long non-coding RNA, and small nuclear RNA (Figure 13A). Among the miRNA

contained in EVs isolated from non-activated SCAP, 22 had a count higher than 1,000 (Supplementary data S3). A miRNA-target prediction analysis revealed that 1868 genes are potential targets of these miRNA (Supplementary data S4). When a KEGG enrichment analysis was performed on the targeted genes, 36 pathways that could be impacted by the 22 miRNA were identified (Figure 14). The 5 more affected pathways were MAPK signaling pathway, pathways in cancer, neurotrophin signaling pathway, regulation of actin cytoskeleton, and focal adhesion pathways.



Figure 13. Distribution of small RNAs identified in SCAP-EV. Content of RNA in A. non-activated SCAP-EV and B. in activated SCAP-EV. miscRNA: miscellaneous small RNA; lncRNA: long non-coding RNA; snRNA: small nuclear RNA; miRNA: microRNA; rRNA: ribosomal RNA; snoRNA: small nucleolar RNA



Figure 14. KEEG pathway analysis of genes potentially targeted by the miRNA identified in EVs from nonactivated SCAP. KEGG analysis was performed on the 1868 potential targets of the 22 miRNA identified in EVs with a count higher than 1000.

III.3. IMPACT OF SCAP ACTIVATION ON EV COMPOSITION

Then, to study how SCAP activation would impact their EV content, miRNA and lipid from EVs produced by SCAP subjected to a pro-inflammatory stimulus (namely TNF α and IFN- γ) were analyzed and compared to EVs produced from non-activated SCAP.

In terms of protein concentration, no differences were observed between non-activated SCAP-EVs and activated SCAP-EVs ($2631 \pm 125 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$ and $2483 \pm 237 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$ for $10^9 \,\text{EV}$, respectively).

III.3.1. miRNA content

The proportion of the different small RNAs, including miRNA, was not impacted by the activation of SCAP (Figure 13B). More precisely, 120,000 mapped reads were detected from activated SCAP-EVs, while 248 miRNA were identified in activated SCAP-EVs (Supplementary data S5).

To evaluate the impact of pro-inflammatory cytokines on the miRNA content of SCAP-EVs, a differential expression analysis comparing non-activated and activated SCAP-EV miRNA was performed. Principal component analysis (PCA) showed a clear separation between non-activated and activated samples along PC1 (78% of variance), suggesting a significant effect of SCAP activation on the miRNA content of their EVs (Figure 15A). Among the differentially expressed miRNA, 25 and 15 were significantly up-regulated and down-regulated, respectively (Figure 15B). More precisely, miR-155-5p, miR-324-5p, miR-92b-3p, miR-221-3p, and miR-146a-5p were the most up-regulated in EVs of activated SCAP, while let-7a-5p, miR-150-5p, miR-204-5p, and miR-142-5p were the most down-regulated. A KEEG analysis was performed on the potential targets of these 40 miRNA (Supplementary data S6) that identified 33 pathways potentially affected by SCAP activation (Figure 15C).



Figure 15. Impact of SCAP activation on the miRNA content of EVs. A. Principal component analysis. B. Volcano-plot of miRNA differentially expressed in EVs isolated from activated SCAP versus non-activated SCAP. C. KEGG enrichment analysis of targeted genes of differentially expressed miRNA and the BRITE hierarchy. The color bars show the number of target genes involved in the pathway while the grey bars represent the –log10(p-value).

III.3.2. Lipid content

In order to study the impact of SCAP activation on their EV lipid content, the proportion of phospholipids, ceramides, sulfatides, and sphingomyelin was compared between EVs isolated from activated SCAP and non-activated SCAP. The lipidomic analysis allowed the identification of numerous lipids present in SCAP-EVs (Figure 16) but no significant difference in the lipid composition was observed between non-activated and activated SCAP-EVs (Figure 16A-E).

The impact of SCAP activation on the EV content of lipid mediators like eicosanoids or their precursors was also assessed. In our experimental setting, only leukotriene B4, 11-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid, arachidonic acid, and 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG) were detected. While 2-AG tended to increase in activated SCAP-EVs (Figure 16F), while arachidonic acid (Figure 16G) and leukotriene B_4 (Figure 16H) tended to decrease, only 11-HETE was significantly decreased in activated SCAP-EVs (Figure 16I).



Figure 16. Lipid content of non-activated SCAP-EVs and activated SCAP-EVs. A. Phospholipids B. Lysophospholipids C. Ceramides D. d18:1 Sphingomyelins E. d18:1 Sulfatides F. Arachidonic acid G. 2-Arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG) H. Leukotriene B_4 I. 11-HETE. The dotted red line represents the detection in non-activated SCAP-EV.

III.4. IMPACT OF SCAP-EVS ON MICROGLIAL PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE EXPRESSION

To assess whether SCAP-EVs, non-activated and activated, would have an immunomodulatory effect, as observed for their parent cells [368], LPS-stimulated BV2 microglial cells were incubated with EVs to study their impact on pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expression was studied.

First, EVs were incubated with steady-state BV2 cells for 8h and 24h. Treating BV2 cells with SCAP-EVs, isolated either from activated or non-activated cells, significantly reduced interleukin (IL)-1 β gene expression after 8h of incubation but had no significant impact on the other tested cytokines (Figure 17A). The EVs from activated SCAP induced an increase of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) gene expression after 24h of incubation (the same tendency was observed after 8h) (Figure 17B).

Then, the effect of SCAP-EVs was assessed on LPS-activated BV2 cells. Our data show that, regardless of the incubation time, neither non-activated nor activated SCAP-EVs were able to significantly impact the gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines of BV2 cells (Figures 17C and 17D). Only TNF α was significantly affected by activated SCAP-EVs after 24h of incubation. After 8h of incubation, activated SCAP-EVs tended to reduce pro-inflammatory gene expression but it was not significant.



Figure 17. Impact of SCAP-EVs on the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines by BV2 cells. Cells were treated with EVs (5 x 10⁹) isolated from non-activated or activated SCAP for 8h (A) or 24h (B). Alternatively, BV2 were activated by LPS (100 ng/ml) for 1 hour and then treated with EVs (5 x 10⁹) isolated from non-activated or activated SCAP for 8h (C) or 24h (D). The black bars show the impact of vehicle (PBS) on non-activated BV2 cells while the white bars show the influence of vehicle (PBS) on LPS-activated BV2 cells. N = 3, n = 4. * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.001

III.5. IMPACT OF SCAP-EVS ON PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE EXPRESSION IN SPINAL CORD SECTIONS

To study the impact of non-activated and activated SCAP-EVs on a more complex model of the central nervous system, the same experiment was conducted on mouse spinal cord sections. Spinal cord sections were activated by LPS and then incubated with EV for 8h or 24h. Activated SCAP-EVs induced a decrease in iNOS gene expression after 8h of incubation (Figure 18A) but had no

impact on the expression of cytokines. Non-activated and activated SCAP-EVs were not able to significantly affect the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and iNOS after 24h of incubation (Figure 18B). TNF α and IL-6 secretion followed the same pattern (Supplementary data S7).



Figure 18. Impact of SCAP-EVs on the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines by spinal cord sections. Mouse spinal cord sections were incubated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 1h before treatment with EVs (5 x 10⁹) isolated from non-activated or activated SCAP for 8h (A) or 24h (B). The black bars show the impact of vehicle (PBS) on non-activated spinal cord sections while the white bars show the influence of vehicle (PBS) on LPS-activated spinal cord sections. N = 3, n = 4. * p < 0.05

III.6. IMPACT OF THE PROTEIN FRACTION OF ACTIVATED SCAP CONDITIONED MEDIUM ON MICROGLIAL PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE EXPRESSION

As it has been shown that the effect of contaminant proteins could be misattributed to the EV [379], we evaluated the impact of pooled protein fractions from activated-SCAP conditioned medium on LPS-activated BV2 cells. BV2 cells were pre-activated with LPS and incubated for 8h with a pool of protein fractions (12-30) or with EVs from activated SCAP. Of note, the protein pool was concentrated to the same fold as the EVs.

Here, activated SCAP-EV significantly decreased the gene expression of IL-1β, iNOS, and IL-6 (Figure 19) with the same fold as observed in Figure 17, confirming the impact of activated SCAP-EVs on BV2 cell pro-inflammatory marker expression. The highest fold decrease was observed

with IL-6 and iNOS (fold decrease of 1.5, Supplementary data S8). However, no effect of the protein fractions was observed, except on IL-6 mRNA expression.



Figure 19. Impact of activated SCAP-EVs and their pooled protein fractions on the expression of proinflammatory cytokines by BV2 cells. BV2 cells were incubated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 1 hour and then treated for 8h with EVs (5 x 10⁹) isolated from activated SCAP or a pool of their protein fractions. The black bars show the impact of vehicle (PBS) on non-activated BV2 cells while the white bars show the influence of vehicle (PBS) on LPSactivated BV2 cells. N = 3, n = 4. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005, **** p < 0.0001

IV. DISCUSSION

The interest in EVs, as biomarkers, therapeutic tools, or drug delivery vehicles, has constantly increased during the last decade [214]. In our previous work, we showed that SCAP secreted immunomodulatory molecules in the presence of pro-inflammatory stimuli [368]. They also decreased the pro-inflammatory cytokine expression of LPS-activated BV2 cells when co-cultured with them [367]. Although EVs from SCAP have previously been reported (28, 29) for their effect on angiogenesis and cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury, the objective of this work was to isolate EVs based on their size and, for the first time, determine whether SCAP exposure to a proinflammatory stimulus would impact the composition of their EVs and their effect on activated glial cells. Our hypothesis was that the reduction of neuroinflammation observed with SCAP could be due, at least partially, to the EVs they secrete. For the first time, we demonstrated that it was possible to isolate EVs from SCAP, with limited protein contaminants. Regarding the size and the positive markers of these particles, the term EVs includes exosomes and small microvesicles. We then analyzed SCAP-EV small RNA and lipid content and showed that when SCAP were incubated with pro-inflammatory cytokines, the type but not the number of miRNAs associated with EVs was affected while SCAP activation did not have a strong impact on their lipid composition. Finally, when we compared the impact of SCAP-EVs and the protein fraction of SCAP-conditioned medium on microglial pro-inflammatory markers, a reduction of their expression was observed that was independent of the protein present in the medium. Thus, due to their intrinsic properties, SCAP-EVs seem to be an interesting cell-free nanotechnology.

A protocol was developed and optimized for the collection of EVs from SCAP-conditioned medium with the aim to ally the highest recovery and the highest purity possible. We were able to obtain EVs, as assessed by the presence of positive markers and the absence of negative markers, and to separate EVs quite efficiently from soluble proteins and apolipoproteins by combining ultrafiltration and SEC. This method is quite reproducible and has been recently successfully used in our laboratory to isolate EVs from other sources. Several methods have been reported in the literature to isolate EVs [268]. The specific selection of one method, or combination of methods, strongly depends on the subsequent use of the EVs. While ultracentrifugation is probably the most straightforward and historically the most used, it tends to damage EVs and co-isolate soluble proteins with EVs [268]. As for downstream characterization and functional testing, these two parameters are important, we decided to combine ultrafiltration and SEC to isolate the EVs from SCAP [380]. This combination is becoming more and more popular, but this is the first time, to our knowledge, where the cutoff and the pore size of the ultrafiltration membrane and SEC, respectively, were directly compared and combined to reach the best compromise between yield and purity. We obtained a suspension of EVs with a very low concentration of proteins (5.6 pg $/10^{6}$ EV) that we hypothesized to be EV-associated proteins. This point is particularly important as therapeutic effects attributed to EVs could be due, at least partially, to co-isolated soluble cytokines or growth factors and not due to EVs themselves [379].

Among the different molecules carried by EVs, miRNA is one of the most studied families as they are involved in the physiopathology of various diseases. As such, they have a high therapeutic potential [381]. Gao et al. showed for instance that bone marrow-derived MSC-EVs were able to transfer miR-21-5p to neurons and improve cognitive functions in a rat model of early brain injury [382]. The most abundant miRNA in non-activated SCAP-EVs were miR-22-3p, miR-181a-5p, miR-100-5p, and miR-127-5p which all seem to play a role in the regulation or suppression of the inflammatory response [383-386]. Moreover, Luo et al. showed that miR-100-5p was enriched in exosomes of stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth and thus were able to reduce inflammation via its action on mTOR signaling pathway [385]. However, miRNA that are known to induce inflammation were also found in non-activated SCAP-EVs such as miR-486-5p, miR-92a-3p, and miR-222-3p [387-389]. Among the 22 most expressed miRNA in non-activated SCAP-EVs [390]. By targeting the Notch and MAPK/ERK signaling cascades, these miRNAs were able to drive oligodendroglial maturation in the central nervous system.

As the SCAP secretome is influenced by cell exposure to pro-inflammatory cytokines [368], we hypothesized that their EV content might also be modulated in these conditions. We compared

the miRNA content of non-activated SCAP-EVs and activated SCAP-EVs. MiR-155 and miR-146 were among the miRNAs with the highest fold increase. This correlates with an increased expression of these two miRNAs in immune cells after exposure to TNF α and IFN- γ [391]. MiR-155 is known to inhibit the immune response mediated by SOCS1 in macrophages while miR-146 targets IRAK1, IRAK2, and TRAF6 which are both involved in innate response via Toll-like receptor and IL-1 receptor signalization [392, 393]. However, these two miRNAs seem also to have anti-inflammatory effects as miR-155 can be a link between adaptive and innate immunity [394]. Contradictory effects for the same miRNA have been then reported in the literature, mostly depending on the scientific question, the models used, and the type of output. This highlights the limitations of the *in silico* prediction of miRNA biological effects. However additional studies are needed to identify miRNA targets and their physiological function [395]. The multiplicity of miRNA target genes also complicates the prediction of their biological impact. Thus, understanding the effect of multiple miRNAs delivered by EVs remains a challenge.

The KEGG pathway analysis highlighted 33 pathways potentially affected by SCAP activation. Among them, pathways in cancer, MAPK signaling pathway, focal adhesion, regulation of actin cytoskeleton, and endocytosis pathways are the five most affected pathways. About 500 genes are involved in pathways in cancer and 21 pathways are connected to them. The presence of miRNAs involved in these pathways in SCAP-EVs could highlight the potential role of EVs in the mediation of some cancer processes, such as metastasis [396]. MAPK signaling pathway is the second most affected pathway and is involved in multiple cellular processes including MSC proliferation and differentiation. As the ability of IFN-y to increase the differentiation potential of MSC has been previously demonstrated, this could explain why this pathway is affected by SCAP activation with IFN-y and TNFa [397]. Focal adhesion and regulation of the actin cytoskeleton are two pathways involved in immunomodulatory processes. Indeed, regulation of actin cytoskeleton is a key mediator of communication between MSC and B-cells while focal adhesion regulates cell migration, including migration of cells toward the site of inflammation and homing [396]. TNFa is known to regulate MSC migration in order to lead the cells to the inflamed area. Thus, it is not surprising that these 2 pathways are also affected by the activation of SCAP with TNFα and IFN-γ. The fifth most affected pathway is endocytosis. It could be explained by its involvement in EV generation and a modification of EV production under stress conditions such as a pro-inflammatory environment [247].

As major components of EV envelop and as potent biological mediators, the focus on EV lipid composition increased recently, but only a few studies on the subject have yet been published [398, 399]. When looking at the lipid content of human bone marrow MSC-EVs, cells that can be
considered of the same family as SCAP, Holopainen et al. detected ceramides, diacylglycerol, phospholipids, lysophospholipids and sphingomyelin [398]. We report for the first time the lipid composition of SCAP-EVs that seems quite similar to the one reported by Holopainen et al. However, due to differences in report format, method of data analysis, and standardization, it is difficult to establish quantitative comparisons with other works. Based on the same hypothesis as for the miRNA, we also evaluated whether the SCAP-EV lipid composition was affected by SCAP incubation with pro-inflammatory cytokines. In our setting, we did not see a major impact on EV lipid composition. Only eicosanoid 11-HETE was significantly reduced after SCAP activation. Its role in inflammation has not been studied yet. To the extent of our knowledge, no other work has reported the impact of inflammation on EV lipid composition.

Finally, with the objective of deciphering whether SCAP-EVs would recapitulate SCAP antiinflammatory effect on microglial cells and spinal cord sections [367], SCAP-EVs isolated from activated and non-activated SCAP were incubated with BV2 cells and mouse spinal cord sections, treated or not with LPS. EVs decreased the gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in LPStreated macrophages by 1.5-fold. Similar results were observed on spinal cord slices. Our results are consistent with other studies that reported an anti-inflammatory effect of about a 2 folddecrease of pro-inflammatory cytokines for EVs of different origins [400-402]. We also assessed the effect of the protein fraction isolated from activated SCAP-conditioned medium after EV isolation. To minimize interpretation bias, attention was paid to concentrating the pooled protein fractions to a similar extent to the pooled EV fractions. The effect of activated SCAP-EVs on proinflammatory cytokines expression by LPS-activated BV2 cells was similar to what we previously observed, with this time a significant reduction of the tested pro-inflammatory cytokine expression. The protein pool had no effect on LPS-activated BV2 cells when looking at pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expression, with the exception of IL-6.

As we chose to isolate EVs from SCAP under serum starvation (72h) to limit FBS protein content and thus protein contamination of EV suspension, the properties of the SCAP producing the EVs, and thus the EVs, might be different from other protocols reported in the literature. This could have impacted EV content [403], and anti-inflammatory potential, and thus may explain the limited effects observed with SCAP-EVs. In the future, replacing serum starvation with a synthetic serumfree medium might be an alternative worth considering. Other optimizations of EV production with other chemical signals such as Cytochalasin-B [352] or hypoxia [404] may also help to obtain better immunomodulatory effects.

It is also important to keep in mind that the effect of human MSC-EVs could depend on the parent cells (type, source, and culture conditions), the concentration of EVs, and the model used (22).

Thus, some articles reported a pro-inflammatory effect of MSC-EVs. Kang et al. for example highlighted the role of EVs from LPS-preconditioned periodontal ligament stem cells in M1 polarization of macrophages while previous studies reported a M2 polarization of macrophages after treatment with LPS-preconditioned human umbilical cord MSC. This highlighted the impact of the origin of MSC on the effect of their EVs on macrophage polarization [405]. The multitude of different protocols and settings complicates the comparison between studies, especially given that what is considered negative results or lack of effect are unfortunately less reported in the literature.

V. CONCLUSION

Our aim was to fully characterize EVs produced by SCAP and explore whether they would be affected by a pro-inflammatory stimulus. We also aimed to decipher if SCAP-EVs would be responsible, at least partially, for the immunomodulation observed when SCAP are co-cultured with microglial cells or spinal cord. We thus optimized a protocol that allowed us to collect EVs as free as possible from contaminants and we analyzed their miRNA content and lipid composition. We have shown that SCAP were able to respond to a pro-inflammatory stimulus by modifying the miRNA content of their EVs but not their lipid composition. We observed a slight reduction of the gene expression of pro-inflammatory markers in a microglial cell line, albeit in the range of what was observed by some other studies. We thus conclude that the EVs are likely not the key mediators in the reported effects of SCAP, at least in the model we used.

Data availability statement

The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

The dataset generated and analyzed during the current study is available in the GEO repository under the number GSE208577 at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/acc.cgi?acc=GSE208577

Supplementary data



Supplementary data S1. Western Blot on a negative marker of EV (calnexin, 95 kDa) and a positive marker of EV (CD81, 22-26 kDa).

Supplementary data S2. List of the 236 miRNAs identified in non-activated SCAP-EV. The 22 most abundant miRNAs are highlighted in grey.

Available online: <u>Supplementary data</u>



Supplementary data S3. Distribution of the 22 miRNAs with the higher expression in non-activated SCAP-EV.

Supplementary data S4. 1868 gene targeted by the 22 miR with the highest expression in EV isolated from non-activated SCAP

Available online: Supplementary data

Supplementary data S5. List of the 248 miRNAs identified in activated SCAP-EV. The 24 most abundant miRNAs are highlighted in grey.

Available online: Supplementary data

miRNA	log2FoldChange	pvalue	padj
hsa-miR-324-5p	4,898418369	0,001401692	0,004380286
hsa-miR-155-5p	4,257031992	0	0
hsa-miR-146a-5p	3,704375653	3,4 6E-07	1,69545E-06
hsa-miR-218-5p	3,345806403	7,78368E-05	0,000286165
hsa-miR-146b-5p	2,784710116	6,48E-32	8,53E-31
hsa-miR-22-5p	2,688108555	0,009530085	0,024311442
hsa-miR-210-5p	2,606818006	0,010474734	0,026415688
hsa-miR-543	2,585211859	9,11976E-05	0,000330426
hsa-miR-210-3p	2,579076127	3,36E-42	5,25E-41
hsa-miR-4449	2,576610813	7,69264E-06	3,15272E-05
hsa-miR-431-3p	2,341043047	0,004274292	0,01200644
hsa-miR-125a-3p	2,193270391	0,006006813	0,015975565
hsa-miR-539-3p	1,967943299	0,013876833	0,032728379
hsa-miR-424-3p	1,914763131	3,34E-10	2,14E-09
hsa-miR-92b-3p	1,912794922	1,45E-157	1,82E-155
hsa-miR-125b-1-3p	1,899037114	3,12E-73	1,56E-71
hsa-miR-130a-3p	1,885512563	8,62E-57	3,59E-55
hsa-miR-21-3p	1,857021081	5,76E-27	6,54E-26
hsa-miR-574-5p	1,838921411	0,000740225	0,002372515
hsa-miR-27a-3p	1,813884914	1,49E-50	3,10E-49
hsa-miR-324-3p	1,752045837	0,01873916	0,041094648
hsa-miR-193b-5p	1,749552079	0,003979737	0,011306071
hsa-miR-221-3p	1,679340358	8,05E-144	6,71E-142
hsa-miR-34a-5p	1,533710409	0,000255446	0,000874814
hsa-miR-887-3p	1,51896755	3,69019E-05	0,00013978
hsa-miR-142-3p	-2,796010628	5,11568E-06	2,20503E-05
hsa-miR-204-5p	-2,732351806	2,14124E-05	8,23554E-05
hsa-miR-199b-5p	-2,416256656	2,69E-19	2,32E-18
hsa-miR-150-5p	-2,260108278	1,46E-56	5,20E-55
hsa-miR-144-3p	-2,160828165	8,75E-09	4,97E-08
hsa-miR-671-3p	-2,049749666	0,000195331	0,000678232
hsa-miR-1246	-1,801764052	1,11E-16	9,29E-16
hsa-miR-181a-2-3p	-1,789184826	4,93E-20	4,40E-19
hsa-miR-30c-5p	-1,682880287	3,72E-22	3,45E-21
hsa-let-7a-5p	-1,681867266	6,12E-89	3,82E-87
hsa-miR-31-5p	-1,680541967	1,27748E-05	5,06937E-05
hsa-miR-126-5p	-1,649061164	4,08E-31	4,85E-30

Supplementary data S6. List of differentially expressed miRNAs between non-activated and activated SCAP-EVs

hsa-miR-301b-3p	-1,616038851	0,017098045	0,038204124
hsa-miR-223-3p	-1,557709301	8,94929E-06	3,60859E-05
hsa-miR-149-5p	-1,513511706	1,11913E-06	4,99613E-06



Supplementary data S7. Impact of SCAP-EV on the level of pro-inflammatory cytokines by spinal cord sections. Mouse spinal cord sections were incubated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 1h before treatment with EV (5 x 10⁹) isolated from non-activated or activated SCAP for 8h (A) or 24h (B). Cytokines were quantified by ELISA in the cell supernatant. The black bars show the impact of vehicle (PBS) on non-activated spinal cord sections while the white bars show the influence of vehicle (PBS) on LPS-activated spinal cord sections. N = 3, n = 4.

Cytokines	Fold decrease
IL-1β	1.4
iNOS	1.5
ΤΝFα	1.3
IL-6	1.5

Supplementary data S8. Pro-inflammatory cytokines expression fold decrease

CHAPTER II SIPONIMOD-LOADED EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES INCREASED OLIGODENDROCYTE PROGENITOR CELL DIFFERENTIATION

V. Gratpain, S. Razafindrakoto, K. Vanvarenberg, S. Cam, B. Ucakar, S. Y. Chew, F. Gazeau, A. K. Silva, A. des Rieux

ABSTRACT

Multiple sclerosis is a common cause of disability in young adults characterized by inflammation and demyelination. Therapies available on the market are focused on reducing inflammation but none enable remyelination, one reason being the difficulty of drugs reaching the central nervous system. Here, we propose extracellular vesicles (EVs) derived from human stem cells from apical papilla (SCAP) as biological nanocarriers for siponimod, an approved treatment for MS that has been associated with protection against demyelination and promotion of remyelination due to a direct action on oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPC) and oligodendrocytes. We encapsulated siponimod in EVs with a scalable technique based on mechanical shear stress. Their ability to decrease pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in microglia cells and to increase gene expression of oligodendrocyte markers was assessed *in vitro*. We showed that siponimod-loaded EVs reduced pro-inflammatory cytokine expression and enhanced OPC differentiation induction compared to the free drug. In conclusion, SCAP-EVs loaded with siponimod appear to be a promising system for remyelination.

I. INTRODUCTION

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic, inflammatory, demyelinating, and neurodegenerative disorder of the central nervous system, recognized as the most common cause of non-traumatic neurological disabilities in young adults [406]. While the majority of available treatments focus on reducing inflammation, there is currently no curative treatment for promoting remyelination. One of the fundamental mechanisms behind the remyelination process following myelin sheath damage involves the differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPC) into oligodendrocytes, which are responsible for producing myelin.

Among the recently approved drugs for MS therapy, siponimod has garnered significant interest. This hydrophobic compound is able to block the egress of lymphocytes from secondary lymphoid organs into the systemic circulation. This effect is mediated by the G-protein coupled receptor subtype Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 (S1P₁) on which siponimod acts as a functional antagonist [159]. Beyond its interaction with S1P₁, siponimod also targets S1P receptor subtype S1P₅. Recently, S1P₅ have been associated with the promotion of remyelination in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies [160]. These findings are supported by studies demonstrating that siponimod may induce oligodendrocyte progenitor cell differentiation and thus remyelination [155, 187, 209].

Stem cells have also been extensively studied for the treatment of MS. Among the various types of stem cells, mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) have emerged as promising candidates [284]. Our previous works have demonstrated that stem cells from the apical papilla (SCAP) can exert antiinflammatory and neuroprotective effects [367] and that these effects were mediated, at least partially, by their extracellular vesicles (EVs) [407]. EVs are small vesicles (nanometres scale) consisting of an aqueous core surrounded by a lipid bilayer, containing genetic materials, proteins, and lipids [214]. Recently, their use for drug delivery applications has raised a lot of interest as they can be loaded with a specific bioactive molecule, can cross biological barriers, and are characterized by low immunogenicity and no toxicity.

Here, we hypothesized that combining the anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties of SCAP-derived EVs with the pro-remyelination effect of siponimod could resolve inflammation and promote remyelination. We encapsulated siponimod into EVs derived from SCAP, using an innovative turbulence-based method. We then assessed the efficacy of the EV-Siponimod in reducing pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in microglia cells and inducing OPC differentiation.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

II.1. Cell culture

Previously characterized human SCAP from healthy teeth were used [369]. Cells were cultured at 37° C and 5% CO₂ in minimum essential medium Eagle (MEM, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% L-glutamine 200 mM (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

II.2. PRODUCTION OF SCAP-EVS LOADED WITH SIPONIMOD (EV-SIPONIMOD) BY TURBULENCE STIMULATION

EVs were produced by turbulence and siponimod was incorporated in EVs by turbulence-induced mechanical stress (patent WO2020136361A1). SCAP were cultured in three 250 ml spinner flasks bioreactors, each containing 2.5 g/L of 170 μ m Cytodex 1 dextran microcarriers (GE Healthcare, Chicago, USA), at a concentration of 7 cells per bead. For the seeding step, cells were submitted to 21 cycles of 45 min of rest interspersed with 5 min of gentle mixing at 34 rpm to ensure homogeneous adhesion of cells on microcarriers. After the cell adhesion period, continuous gentle mixing at 34 rpm was performed until cell confluence was observed on the microcarriers (3 days). Siponimod was then added to the cell medium (20 μ M in ethanol) and spinner flasks were subjected to 290 rpm mixing for 4h for the high-throughput production of EV-Siponimod in the serum-free culture medium. Prior to EV isolation, the medium of the 3 spinner flasks were pooled. EV-Siponimod were then isolated by centrifugation at 2000g for 10 min and 0.45 μ m filtration to eliminate microcarriers and cell debris. This was followed by tangential-flow filtration (TFF) using a 100 kDa cut-off TFF cartridge, allowing for EV collection in 13 – 15 ml of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). To produce blank EVs, the same protocol was applied but without the addition of siponimod to the medium during EV production.

II.3. EV CHARACTERIZATION

II.3.1. Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA)

Particle concentration and size distribution of EVs were analyzed by NTA using a Nanosight NS3000 (Malvern Panalytical, Malvern, United Kingdom). EVs were diluted in PBS to a concentration between 10⁷ and 10⁸ particles/ml.

II.3.2. Marker analysis by nanoflow cytometry (NanoFCM) and western blotting

For NanoFCM, a Nano Analyzer (NanoFCM Co., Ltd., Nottingham, UK) equipped with 488 nm laser, was calibrated using 200 nm polystyrene beads (NanoFCM Co.) with a defined concentration of 2.08 x 10^8 particles/mL. In addition, monodisperse silica beads (NanoFCM Co.) of four different sizes (68 – 155 nm) served as size reference standards to calibrate the size of EVs. Each dot plot was derived from data collected for one minute with a sample pressure of 1.0 kPa. The EV samples were diluted with filtered PBS, resulting in a particle count in the optimal range of 2,000 – 12,000 events. For immunofluorescent staining, the antibodies were purchased from Biolegend: PE-conjugated mouse anti-human CD9 antibody, PE-conjugated mouse anti-human CD81 antibody, and PE-conjugated mouse anti-human CD63 antibody, 2 ng/µl of each antibody in 100 µL of PBS. Antibodies were then added to 2 x 10^8 EVs, followed by incubation overnight at 4°C under constant shaking and washing with 1 mL PBS by ultracentrifugation at 110,000g for 60 min at 4°C (Beckman Coulter MAX-XP centrifuge, TLA-145 rotor). The pellet was resuspended in 50 µL of PBS for NanoFCM analysis.

For Western blotting, the protocol described in [407] was used.

II.3.3. Determination of siponimod loading in EVs

Siponimod was released from EVs using Triton 0.1% in acidic conditions (pH = 2). The concentration of siponimod in EVs was determined by a validated liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometric (LC-MS/MS) method [408]. The LC-MS/MS system consisted of Shimadzu LC-40DXR pumps, a CTO-40S column oven, a SIL-40CXR autosampler (with rack changer), DGU-405 online degasser and a LCMS-8040 tandem mass spectrometer (Shimadzu, Columbia, USA) with a Waters XSelect HSS T3 column (3.0 x 75 mm, 3.5 µm particle size; Waters corporation, Milford, USA). Chromatographic elution of the analyte was performed using 30% water containing 0.1% formic acid (mobile phase A) and 70% of acetonitrile containing 0.1% formic acid (mobile phase A) and 70% of acetonitrile containing 0.1% formic acid (mobile phase B) at a flow rate of 1.00 ml/min. The eluent was directed to the electrospray ionization source of the MS system between approximately 1.5 and 2.5 minutes. The following MS transition was monitored: m/z 517.2 – 416.1. Blank EVs were used as control.

II.4. IMPACT OF EV-SIPONIMOD ON BV2 CELL ACTIVATION

Murine microglial cells (BV2 cells) were cultured at 37°C and 5% CO₂ in high-glucose DMEM medium with 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin. BV2 cells were seeded and grown overnight into 24-well plates (2.5 x 10⁵ cells per well) and incubated for 1h with fresh

medium containing 100 ng/ml LPS and 1% EV-depleted FBS (FBS centrifuged for 1h at 100,000 g to remove EVs). Then, siponimod (1 μ M), blank EVs (6.3 x 10⁸ particles), and EV-Siponimod (6.3 x 10⁸ particles corresponding to 1 μ M siponimod loaded into the vesicles) were added to the cells and incubated for 8h before proceeding to BV2 cell RNA extraction.

II.5. IMPACT OF EV-SIPONIMOD ON MYELIN WRAPPING IN VITRO

II.5.1. Isolation and culture of OPC on electrospun nanofibers

Cortical mixed glial cells (MGC) were prepared from Sprague-Dawley rat pups (postnatal day 1-3) as described previously by Miron et al. [54]. All the experiments involving animals were done in accordance with Directive 2010/63/E.U and were declared to the ethical committee for animal cares (07-OTLADDB-2023-7). Briefly, brains were dissected aseptically, and cerebellum, olfactory bulbs, and meninges were removed. Brains were then digested with papain (40 μ g/ml) and slowly mechanically dissociated using a G18 and a G23 syringe. The cell suspension was diluted in DMEM medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin and seeded in T75 flasks for 10 to 14 days [54]. Microglia were then removed by shaking at 230 rpm for 1h at 37°C. To retrieve OPCs, the medium was replaced with fresh medium (10 ml per flask) and flasks were shaken at 220 rpm for 18h at 37°C. Finally, the collected OPCs were grown on poly-D-Lysine coated (1 μ g/ml) electrospun nanofibers placed in 12-well plates with a cell density of 35,000 cells per well [409]. The culture medium consisted of 50:50 DMEM:Neurobasal Media, 1% B-27, 5 μ g/ml N-acetyl cysteine, 10 ng/ml D-biotin, 1% ITS supplement and 1% modified SATO (100 μ g/ml bovine serum albumin fraction V, 60 ng/ml Progesterone, 16 μ g/ml Putrescine, 400 ng/ml Tri-iodothyronine, 400 ng/ml L-Thyroxine; reagents from Sigma-Aldrich).

II.5.2. In vitro myelination

To assess the impact of EV-Siponimod on myelination, OPCs seeded on electrospun nanofibers were treated with free siponimod (1 μ M), blank EVs (6.3 x 10⁸ particles), and EV-Siponimod (6.3 x 10⁸ particles corresponding to 1 μ M siponimod loaded into the vesicles) for 48h. The medium was changed and cells were kept for 5 more days of culture before fixation with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS and immunostaining.

II.5.3. Immunostaining and confocal microscopy

OPCs were permeabilized with 0.1% TritonX-100/PBS for 5 min before incubation with primary antibody against myelin basic protein (MBP) (rat anti-MBP, 1:250) overnight at 4°C. They were

washed 3 times and then incubated with the secondary antibody (goat anti-rat Alexa 488 nm, 1:1000) and DAPI (1:1000) for 1h. Finally, cells were washed and mounted with Mowiol mounted media (Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) on microscope slides. Images were obtained with a Zeiss LSM 980 confocal microscope.

II.6. IMPACT OF EV-SIPONIMOD ON OLIGODENDROCYTE PROGENITOR CELL DIFFERENTIATION IN A PRIMARY MIXED GLIAL CULTURE

As explained in II.5.1, MGC were isolated from Sprague-Dawley rat pups (postnatal day 1-3) before being plated at 5 x 10^5 cells/ml in poly-D-Lysine coated (1 µg/ml) 24-well plates for 8 days. On day 8, mixed glial cells were treated with free siponimod (1µM), blank EVs (6.3*10⁸ particles), and EV-Siponimod (6.3*10⁸ particles corresponding to 1µM siponimod loaded into the vesicles) for 48h. Medium was changed and cells were kept for 5 more days of culture before cell RNA extraction.

II.7. RNA EXTRACTION, REAL-TIME QPCR, AND RNA SEQUENCING ANALYSIS

Total RNA from BV2 cells and mixed glial cells were extracted using TRIzolTM reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Reverse transcription was performed using the GoScript Transcription System (Promega, Madison, USA) from 1 μ g of total RNA. qPCR was performed with qPCR Master Mix (Promega) and a STEPone PLUS instrument and software (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA) as [377]. Data were analyzed with the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method using the 60S ribosomal protein L19 (RPL19) as a reference gene for murine cells and the 60S ribosomal protein L13 (RPL13) as a reference gene for rat cells. Primer sequences are given in Table 10.

Table 10. List of primers sequences

Gene	Forward (5'-3')	Reverse (5'-3')
Mouse RPL19	GAAGGTCAAAGGGAATGTGTTCA	CCTTGTCTGCCTTCAGCTTGT
Mouse IL-6	ACAAGTCGGAGGCTTAATTACACAT	TTGCCATTGCACAACTCTTTTC
Mouse IL-1β	TCGCTCAGGGTCACAAGAAA	CATCAGAGGCAAGGAGGAAAAAC
Mouse iNOS	AGGTACTCAGCGTGCTCCAC	GCACCGAAGATATCTTCATG
Mouse TNFα	AGCCCCCAGTCTGTATCCTT	GGTCACTGTCCCAGCATCTT
Rat RPL13	GGCTGAAGCCTACCAGAAAG	CTTTGCCTTTTCCTTCCGTT
Rat MBP	CACACACAAGAACTACCCACTAC	GGTGTACGAGGTGTCACAATG
Rat MAG	GTGTGTAGCTGAGAACCAGTATG	AGAAGGATTATGGGAGCAAACTC
Rat PLP	GGCGACTACAAGACCACCAT	AATGACACACCCGCTCCAAA

II.8. EV UPTAKE BY MIXED GLIAL CELLS

II.8.1. Staining of EVs

EVs (1 x 10^{10} particles) were stained with CFDA-SE (BioLegend, San Diego, USA). EVs were incubated with 40 μ M of CFDA-SE for 1h at 37°C. EVs were separated from free CFDA-SE by size exclusion chromatography (qEV Original® 30 nm, Izon Science, Lyon, France). Fractions from 1 to 30 (500 μ L each) were collected. Fractions 7 to 11, containing EVs, were pooled and concentrated 20 times using an ultrafiltration device with a 10 kDa cut-off (Amicon Ultra 4, Merck Millipore, Burlington, USA).

II.8.2. EV uptake study

Cortical MGC were seeded at 1.68×10^5 cells/ml in poly-D-Lysine coated (1 µg/ml) 96-well plates for 8 days. On day 8, MGC were incubated with 3.8×10^7 CFDA-stained EVs. After 24h, cells were washed once with PBS and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde/PBS for 15 min. Different cell types were identified by immunofluorescence by incubating MGC with primary antibodies against oligodendrocytes (rat anti-MBP, 1:250), early differentiating OPC (mouse anti-GalC, 1:500), microglial cells (rabbit anti-iba-1, 1/125), OPC (rabbit anti-PDGFR α , 1/125), and astrocytes (mouse anti-GFAP, 1/300) overnight at 4°C. Cells were washed and incubated with the appropriated secondary antibody and DAPI (1:1000) for 1h at room temperature. The cells were washed three times with 0.01% PBS-Tween 20 and stored in PBS. Images of whole wells were acquired and analyzed using an ImageXpress Pico Automated Cell Imaging System (Molecular Devices, San Jose, USA) (4 ×, 10 ×, and 20 × objective). The cells were detected by DAPI staining, and positive cells were detected using a fluorescence intensity classification method and summed. Antibodies and stains used are listed in Table 11.

Primary antibody	Reference	Secondary antibody	Reference
MBP	Abcam, ab7349	AlexaFluor 647	ThermoFisher A-21247
GalC	Millipore, MAB342	AlexaFluor 594	ThermoFisher A-21155
PDGFRα	ThermoFisher, PA5- 16571	DyLight 650	ThermoFisher SA5- 100041
GFAP-Cy3	Sigma, C9205	/	/
Iba-1	Wako, 019-19741	DyLight 650	ThermoFisher SA5- 100041

Table 11. List of antibodies and stains

II.9. IMPACT OF EV-SIPONIMOD ON REMYELINATION IN A FOCAL DEMYELINATED LESION IN VIVO

Focal demyelination was induced in the corpus callosum of 8 - 10 week-old female C57BL/6 mice by stereotaxic injection (ML: 0.8; AP: -0.8; DV: -1.5 mm) of 2 µl of 1% lysolecithin (v/v) using a

Hamilton syringe [54]. Three days after lysolecithin injection, 10 μ L of EV-Siponimod (corresponding to 3 x 10⁸ EVs) or controls (PBS, free siponimod, and blank EVs) were injected into the right lateral ventricle (ML: 0.3; AP: -0.3; DV: -2.5 mm). Five days after treatment (8 days after the induction of the lesion), mice were sacrificed by overdose of isoflurane. Brains were post-fixed for 48h in PFA 4% followed by incubation in 20% sucrose for 24h and 30% sucrose for 24h before storage at -80°C in OCT until further analysis.

II.10. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Statistical analysis was performed using PRISM (GraphPad Software, CA, USA). Error bars represent the standard error of the mean (SEM) in all figures. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey, or Kruskal-Wallis followed by Dunn's test were performed to compare different conditions (p < 0.05). The number of experiments and the number of replicates are indicated in the figure legends.

III. RESULTS

III.1. TURBULENCE INDUCED HIGH-YIELD PRODUCTION OF SCAP-DERIVED EVS ENCAPSULATING SIPONIMOD

Siponimod is a hydrophobic small molecule that has been described to induce OPC differentiation [155].

Siponimod was encapsulated in EVs using a turbulent flow as it allows the production of large numbers of EVs (Figure 20A) [410]. The addition of siponimod had no impact on the size distribution of EVs as the average diameter of EV-Siponimod and blank EVs was 108.9 ± 0.6 nm and 111.3 ± 6.2 nm, respectively (Figure 20B). However, cells released more EVs when they were cultured with siponimod compared to the control medium (3.9 x 10^4 EVs/cell versus 2.36 x 10^4 EVs/cell, respectively). To confirm that the particles in the pool were indeed EVs, samples were first analysed by Western Blotting for positive and negative markers (Figure 20C) [244]. Isolated particles were positive for CD81 (EV positive marker) while they were negative for calnexin (EV negative marker). These results were confirmed by single-particle analysis using nano-flow cytometry of the three tetraspanin EV positive markers CD81, CD63, and CD9 (Figure 20D). EV-Siponimod were positive for CD81, CD63, and CD9 at 24.4%, 3.5%, and 16.4% while 16.5%, 3%, and 8.9% of blank EVs were positive for these markers. Siponimod loading into EVs was quantified by LC-MS and was about $12 \pm 3\%$.



Figure 20. Turbulences allowed the encapsulation of siponimod into EVs derived from SCAP. A. Bright-field and epifluorescence (DAPI fluorescence) microscopy of SCAP on microcarriers in a 3D cell culture bioreactor for turbulence EV production. B. Size distribution of isolated EVs for EV-Siponimod and blank EVs. C. Western blot for a negative marker of EVs (calnexin) and a positive marker of EVs (CD81). D. Nano-flow cytometry on EV-siponimod and blank EVs. EVs were fluorescently labeled with PE-conjugated antibodies specific to CD81, CD63, and CD9 and analyzed by NanoFCM. Bivariate dot-plots of fluorescent versus side scatter (SSH) were shown. The percentage of positive particles is provided for each plot.

III.2. EV-SIPONIMOD REDUCED PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE EXPRESSION IN MICROGLIAL CELLS

The impact of EV-Siponimod on the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by activated microglial cells was studied in LPS-activated BV2 cells. Siponimod concentration was determined in a previous experiment where oligodendrocyte progenitor cells were treated with various concentrations of siponimod (Supplementary data S1). EV-Siponimod significantly reduced interleukin (IL)-6 and iNOS gene expression, while free siponimod decreased interleukin (IL)-1 β and IL-6 gene expression, and blank EVs had no effect (Figure 21).



Figure 21. EV-Siponimod reduced the gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines of LPS activated BV2 cells. BV2 were activated by LPS (100ng/ml) for 1 hour and then treated with either EVs (6.3 x 10⁸ particles) or siponimod (1 μ M) or EV-Siponimod (6.3 x 10⁸ particles, 1 μ M). N = 3, n = 4. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005

III.3. EV-SIPONIMOD SEEMED TO INDUCE MYELINATION

To visualize the efficacy of EV-Siponimod in inducing myelination, we used a microfiber culture system where oligodendrocytes derived from OPC differentiation ensheath inert fibers. OPCs isolated from mixed glial cultures were cultured on Poly-L-lactic acid (PLLA) electrospun fibers. After 2 days, the cells were incubated with EV-Siponimod for 48h followed by 5 days in OPC culture medium without treatment. Confocal microscopy images showed that oligodendrocytes expressed myelin basic protein (MBP) and began to form myelin sheaths on the microfibers (Figure 22). In each condition, no complete remyelination was observed. However, EV-Siponimod and blank EVs resulted in more extensive myelination compared to free siponimod, with EV-siponimod showing a superior myelination compared to blank EVs.



Figure 22. Confocal images of OPCs on neuron-free fibers. OPCs were cultured on PLLA electrospun fibers. After 2 days, cells were treated with EVs (6.3×10^8 particles) or siponimod (1μ M) or EV-Siponimod (6.3×10^8 particles) for 2 days. Five days after the treatment removal, cells were stained with anti-MBP antibodies and visualized by confocal microscopy.

III.4. EV-SIPONIMOD INDUCED OPC DIFFERENTIATION IN A PRIMARY MIXED GLIAL CULTURE IN VITRO

The impact of EV-Siponimod on OPC differentiation was also assessed in a primary MGC culture, composed of microglia, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and OPCs [54]. This complex culture system has the advantage of assessing the effect on primary OPCs in a more complex cellular environment. EV-Siponimod increased the gene expression of mature oligodendrocyte markers (myelin basic protein MBP, myelin associated glycoprotein MAG, and myelin protein lipid protein PLP) compared to the controls (Figure 23). No significant effect of EVs and siponimod was observed.



Figure 23. EV-Siponimod increased the gene expression of mature oligodendrocyte markers in a MGC model. MGC were treated with EVs (6.3 x 10⁸) or siponimod (1 μ M) or EV-Siponimod (6.3 x 10⁸, 1 μ M) for 2 days. Quantification of MBP, MAG, and PLP mRNA by RT-qPCR was performed 5 days after 48h of treatment. N = 3, n = 4. ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

III.5. EV WERE TAKEN UP BY MIXED GLIAL CELLS OR INTERACTED WITH THEM

To evaluate if the effects observed with EV-Siponimod could be explained by the uptake of EVs by mixed glial cells, EV internalization was assessed on mixed glial cells. EVs were stained with CFDA-SE and then incubated (3×10^7 EV) with cells. After 24 h, cells were stained with anti-MBP (mainly expressed by myelinating oligodendrocytes), anti-GalC (mainly expressed by preoligodendrocytes), anti-Iba-1 (expressed by microglial cells), anti-PGFR- α (mainly expressed by oligodendrocyte progenitor cells) and anti-GFAP (expressed by astrocytes). Scanner images showed that all the cell types were able to internalize EVs. More precisely, 86.8% of GalC positive cells were able to uptake EVs as well as 58.6% of GFAP positive cells. Regarding the other cell types, 24.5%, 30.2%, and 26.2% of MBP, Iba-1, and PDGFR- α positive cells, respectively, internalized EVs (Figure 25).



Figure 25. Mixed glial cells can uptake EVs. Eight days after isolation, mixed glial cells were incubated with CFDA-SE-EVs for 24 h. Results are expressed as percentage of cells co-stained with CFDA-SE and the marker of interest (Myelin Basic Protein (MBP) for myelinating oligodendrocytes; Galactocerebroside C (GalC) for pre-oligodendrocytes; Ionized calcium-Binding Adapter molecule 1 (iba-1) for microglial cells; Platelet-derived growth Factor Receptor α (PDGFR- α) for OPC and Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP) for astrocytes). Analysis was done on whole wells using IX-PICO software. N = 3, n = 5. ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

III.6. IMPACT OF EV-SIPONIMOD ON REMYELINATION IN A FOCAL DEMYELINATED LESION IN VIVO

This experiment is currently ongoing.

IV. DISCUSSION

Currently, no available treatment for MS stimulates the remyelination process, one reason being the difficulty for drugs to reach the central nervous system. This hurdle could be overcome by using nanocarriers. During the last decade, the interest in EVs, as therapeutic tools or drug delivery vehicles has constantly increased, as a large variety of drugs could be encapsulated into EVs, they possess functional activity including immunomodulatory properties, and have a homing to inflamed tissue [214]. In a previous study, we showed that SCAP exposure to a pro-inflammatory stimulus impacted their EV composition and that stimulated SCAP-EVs had a slight effect on the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in microglial cells [407]. Recently, siponimod, approved immunotherapy for relapsing and progressive MS treatment, has been associated with protection against demyelination and promotion of remyelination due to a direct effect on OPCs and oligodendrocytes [155]. The objective here was to combine the SCAP-derived EVs with the proremyelination effect of siponimod to resolve inflammation and promote remyelination. For the first time, we demonstrated that it was possible to encapsulate siponimod into SCAP-EVs using turbuloporation. We then showed that EV-Siponimod decreased pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in microglia cells and increased OPC differentiation *in vitro*.

SCAP-derived EVs loaded with siponimod were produced using a scalable and high-yield approach enhancing the translational potential of our system [410]. Specifically, the turbulence approach used in this study enabled a significant increase in EV production yield, allowing the production of a large amount of EVs (80-fold more) within a short period (4 hours vs 72h) compared to the FBS starvation in flasks [407]. Advantageously, this approach allowed to combine in one step EV production and the encapsulation of siponimod in EVs at a high yield. This encapsulation method is reproducible and has been described in the literature for the encapsulation of other compounds in EVs from different sources [411]. EVs were characterized by the presence of positive EV markers and the absence of negative markers. CD81 was the most prevalent marker on both blank EVs and EV-Siponimod, with CD9 and CD63 being the second and the least presented tetraspanins, respectively. While the presence of CD63 in only 3% of the EVs may seem unexpected, these results are consistent with other results described in the literature when using NanoFCM, although the tetraspanin profile can vary between EV sources [412, 413]. Furthermore, the lack of CD63 in EVs isolated by size or density has been reported in a few papers [414].

As neuroinflammation is a major component of MS, the efficacy of EV-Siponimod in reducing the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (i.e. IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF- α , and iNOS) was assessed on LPS-treated microglia cells. EV-Siponimod significantly decreased IL-6 and iNOS expression,

whereas blank EVs did not show any effect. While stimulation by pro-inflammatory cytokines and mechanical shear are both stressful for the cells, they impacted differently SCAP-EVs, as EVs produced under a pro-inflammatory stimulus induced a reduction of pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expression, while under turbulence they did not. This is in correlation with various studies demonstrating that EVs produced under biomechanical force possess different cargo according to the shear stress applied [415]. Siponimod alone reduced the expression of IL-6 and IL-1 β , presumably through its interaction with S1P₁ receptor, as described in a few studies [209, 416].

As S1P receptors have been associated with protection against demyelination and the promotion of remyelination in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies [155, 187, 190], the efficacy of EV-Siponimod to induce myelination was first assessed using a microfiber culture system allowing oligodendrocytes to ensheathe poly-L-lactic acid fibers [417]. This model provides biophysical cues to oligodendrocytes mimicking axons, as myelinating cells do not require molecular instruction from axons but need physical support for myelination [409]. Qualitatively, the formation of MBP+ myelin-like extensions around nanofibers appeared to be at a more advanced stage with EV-Siponimod to induce myelination. It is important to note that oligodendrocyte differentiation and myelination are two distinct stages of OPC development, each with unique mechanisms [418]. While the efficacy of siponimod in promoting OPC differentiation has been demonstrated in previous studies, its direct effect on myelination has not been assessed, as far as we know.

The efficacy of EV-Siponimod to promote OPC differentiation was evaluated in mixed glial cultures, as interactions between CNS-resident cells are essential during this process [419]. The expression of mature oligodendrocyte markers was significantly increased with EV-Siponimod treatment, whereas free siponimod had no effect. These results validated our hypothesis, that the combination of siponimod and SCAP-EVs could promote remyelination to a greater extent than the free drug. This superior effect of EV-siponimod may be explained by several hypotheses. One involves the impact of siponimod incubation with SCAP during EV production, as it has been described that medium composition may impact EV content [407]. Furthermore, a study conducted on mouse SCAP demonstrated the presence of S1P receptor S1P₁ at the plasma membrane of these cells [420], but the involvement of S1P pathways in SCAP activation is still under investigation [421]. Another explanation could be a synergistic or additive effect of siponimod and blank EVs, which results in an improvement of the effects of siponimod and blank EVs, separately, on OPC differentiation.

The uptake of EVs into their target cells or their interaction with the target cells are an essential prerequisite for their therapeutic action. We evaluated EV uptake by mixed glial cells and found

that EVs were internalized by astrocytes, microglia, OPCs, and oligodendrocytes or at least were able to interact with these cells. Almost all GalC-positive cells, which correspond to preoligodendrocytes, were able to capture or interact with EVs. The precise mechanism of action of siponimod on OPCs or oligodendrocytes has not been fully described. Evidence suggests that S1P receptor subtype S1P₅ may be involved. However, recent studies demonstrated the effects of fingolimod on T-cells [422, 423] and of siponimod on astrocytes [424], independently of S1P pathway, highlighting a direct effect of these two compounds inside the cells. We could thus hypothesize that siponimod may also act on OPCs and oligodendrocytes through direct effect within the cells, rather than solely through its interaction with S1P₅. As EV-Siponimod promoted OPC differentiation to a greater extent than siponimod, we could also hypothesize that EV-Siponimod may enable a more effective delivery of siponimod within the cells. EVs were also taken up by more than half of the astrocyte population, which are the most represented cell types in mixed glial culture. Although there is no consensus on EV uptake, a few processes have been described: clathrin-dependent endocytosis, caveolae-dependent endocytosis, lipid-raft mediated endocytosis, macropinocytosis and in some cases, phagocytosis [425]. Various studies reported that astrocytes, as well as microglia, could uptake EVs via micropinocytosis and phagocytosis [426], leading to the release of EV content, including siponimod, into the extracellular space. Siponimod could thus act on S1P receptors present on the cell membrane.

However, several important considerations must be considered before interpretating this work. First, the isolation of EVs using TFF retains large proteins, which could aggregate and be mistakenly quantified as EVs, potentially affecting dosing accuracy [273]. Additionally, these proteins may associate with siponimod, leading to the formation of non-vesicular extracellular particles. Second, siponimod is not water-soluble. Although it was dissolved in ethanol before use, addition of siponimod into the cell medium during EV production might result in its aggregation.

V. CONCLUSION

Our aim was to use SCAP-derived EVs as biological nanocarriers and combine them with the proremyelination effect of siponimod to resolve inflammation and promote remyelination. We thus encapsulated siponimod into SCAP-EVs using a scalable and GMP-compatible method based on mechanical shear stress. Our findings demonstrated that EV-Siponimod decreased proinflammatory cytokine expression in microglial cells. We also observed an increase in the gene expression of mature oligodendrocyte markers, indicating the efficacy of EV-Siponimod in inducing OPC differentiation. In addition, EV-Siponimod enhanced the effect of the free drug on OPC differentiation. We thus conclude that EVs are promising nanocarriers for siponimod, in the scope of demyelinating diseases such as multiple sclerosis.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data S1. Choice of siponimod dose

To determine which concentration of siponimod and thus which EV concentration will be used for further experiments *in vitro*, different concentrations of siponimod were assessed (10, 100 and 1000 nM) on oligodendrocyte progenitor cells. To do so, cells were treated with siponimod for 48h. After treatment removal, cells were cultured for 5 days in DMEM medium before RNA extraction.



Figure S1. Siponimod at different concentrations (10nM, 100nM and 1 μ M) on oligodendrocyte progenitor cells for 48h. OPCs were treated with siponimod at 10 nM, 100 nM, or 1 μ M for 48h. Quantification of MBP mRNA by RT-qPCR was performed 5 days after 48h of treatment. N = 3, n = 4.

PART IV

GENERAL DISCUSSION

The aim of my thesis was to use EVs as a drug delivery system for the central nervous system, targeting neuroinflammation and enhancing remyelination in the context of multiple sclerosis.

The experimental work was divided into two complementary chapters. First, we isolated EVs from SCAP, evaluated the impact of a pro-inflammatory stimulus on their composition, and assessed the ability of both activated and non-activated SCAP-EVs to reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in microglia cells. Second, we encapsulated siponimod, a pro-remyelinating compound, into EVs and evaluated the efficacy of the resulting nanomedicines in reducing pro-inflammatory cytokines expression in microglia cells and enhancing OPC differentiation *in vitro*.

Although the results have been discussed in previous chapters, further concepts will be discussed in this section. First, a summary of the main achievements of this thesis will be presented. Second, a discussion around some of the questions raised during this PhD will be proposed, followed by my personal opinion on EVs.

I. MAIN ACHIEVEMENTS

I.1. PRODUCTION AND ISOLATION OF EVS DERIVED FROM ACTIVATED AND NON-ACTIVATED SCAP

Before exploring whether EVs produced by SCAP were affected by a pro-inflammatory stimulus and contributed, at least partially, to the immunomodulation properties observed with their parent cells, we isolated EVs from SCAP-conditioned medium. To achieve this, we activated cells with TNF α and IFN- γ to mimic a pro-inflammatory environment and produce EVs for 48h in a serumfree medium. As this work was the first in our laboratory dedicated to EVs, we optimized an isolation protocol based on ultrafiltration followed by size exclusion chromatography, allowing us to collect EVs with minimal contaminants. Since it is not possible to separate exosomes from microvesicles based on size alone, the collected EVs represented a mixture of these two types of vesicles.

I.2. THE COMPOSITION OF SCAP-EV CARGO WAS IMPACTED BY A PRO-INFLAMMATORY STIMULUS

We evaluated the impact of a pro-inflammatory stimulus on the miRNA and lipid content of SCAP-EVs, as both are major components of EVs, and evidence demonstrated the impact of various stimuli on them. For the first time, we showed that miRNA content of SCAP-EVs was modified in response to a pro-inflammatory stimulus, but not their lipid composition.

I.3. ACTIVATED SCAP-EVS PARTIALLY RECAPITULATED THE IMMUNOMODULATORY PROPERTIES OF THEIR PARENT CELLS

Given the immunomodulatory properties of SCAP, we assessed the capacity of both activated and non-activated EVs to decrease pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in microglia cells and spinal cord slices. Under non-inflammatory conditions, EVs derived from activated and non-activated SCAP did not exhibit pro-inflammatory properties. Additionally, we observed a slight decrease in pro-inflammatory cytokine expression when cells were treated with activated EVs, demonstrating the impact of culture conditions (specifically, a pro-inflammatory environment) on the properties of EVs.

I.4. ENCAPSULATION OF SIPONIMOD INTO SCAP-EV DURING EV PRODUCTION

In chapter 2 of part III, we used, for the first time, SCAP-EVs as a drug delivery system. Thus, we successfully encapsulated siponimod into SCAP-EVs using an innovative turbulence-based technique. Siponimod was chosen due to its recently highlighted pro-remyelinating properties.

I.5. SCAP-EV ENCAPSULATING SIPONIMOD COULD DECREASE PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE EXPRESSION AND ENHANCE OPC DIFFERENTIATION *IN VITRO*

The capacity of EV-Siponimod to induce myelination and OPC differentiation was assessed using OPC cultured on neuron-free fibers and a mixed glial cells culture. We showed that treatment with EV-Siponimod stimulated the myelination process. While EV-Siponimod were able to significantly increase the expression of MBP, MAG, and PLP in the MGC culture, these effects were not recapitulated with blank EVs or free siponimod, highlighting the potential therapeutic benefit of EV-Siponimod. Similar results were observed on microglia cells, where we evaluated the ability of EV-Siponimod to decrease pro-inflammatory cytokine expression. However, in this model, the effects were mainly mediated by siponimod, although blank-EVs demonstrated a slight effect.

II. GENERAL DISCUSSION

II.1. WHAT IS THE INFLUENCE OF OUR EXPERIMENTAL SETTING ON OUR RESULTS?

II.1.1. How can EV production and isolation methods affect the results?

It is now well established that culture conditions affect EV composition, although the mechanisms behind it have not yet been described [427]. Two production methods have been used in this project. The first involved serum starvation, while the second was based on turbulence.

While it has been demonstrated that MSC retain their characteristics, such as morphology, proliferation kinetic, and differentiation potential after long-term starvation [428], serum starvation has been reported to modify EV composition [429]. However, this method increases the yield of EVs produced by a single cell and avoids contamination with EVs and proteins from fetal bovine serum, which could lead to the misattribution of biological activity to SCAP-EVs [430].

In chapter 2 of part III, we combined mechanical shear stress with serum starvation to increase the yield of EVs produced per cell and to encapsulate siponimod into EVs. This method has also the advantages of being scalable and GMP-compliant [431]. However, mechanical shear stress may impact cells and consequently, their EVs. Researchers have demonstrated that turbulent shear stress on MSC leads to cell quiescence [432]. Comparing our results with these studies is challenging because the impact of shear stress on cells depends on the shear rate. The shear rates reported in the literature for studying the effect of turbulence on MSC were similar to those we used in the cell expansion phase but not during the EV production phase.

We did not assess the impact of turbulence on SCAP either during the cell expansion phase or during the EV production phase. Therefore, we do not know the precise impact of turbulence on our EVs. When comparing the results obtained on BV2 cells with non-activated SCAP-EVs produced under serum starvation to those obtained with SCAP-EVs produced in stirred-tank bioreactors, we observed that EVs produced with turbulence decreased pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, an effect not seen with non-activated SCAP-EVs. This suggests a positive effect of turbulence on EV bioactivity. However, it is important to note that the isolation method differed in the two cases, complicating the comparison, since the isolation method also impacts EV biological activity [433]. To address this, an experiment has been performed to compare the effects of two isolation methods on the biological activity of EVs produced under turbulence (same methods as in chapter 2 of part III). SCAP-EVs were either isolated with ultrafiltration followed by SEC (as in chapter 1) or with TFF (as in chapter 2). No differences in pro-inflammatory cytokine

expression in LPS-activated BV2 cells were observed, suggesting that turbulences positively affect EV biological activity (Figure 26).



Figure 26. Impact of isolation methods (TFF or ultrafiltration followed by SEC) on SCAP-EV ability to reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in microglia cells. BV2 were activated by LPS (100ng/ml) for 1 hour and then treated with either EVs isolated with TFF (6.3 x 10⁸ particles) or EVs isolated with ultrafiltration followed by SEC (6.3 x 10⁸ particles). TFF: tangential flow filtration; UF: ultrafiltration; SEC: size exclusion chromatography. N = 1, n = 4. ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.001

As explained in the introduction of this thesis, the common isolation methods described in the literature do not allow the separation of exosomes and microvesicles due to their common markers and overlapping sizes. Therefore, our EVs were a mixture of these two populations. Furthermore, some researchers have inaccurately used the term "exosomes" while their samples also contain microvesicles, leading to the misconception that only exosomes have biological activity [239]. However, it is now well established that exosomes and microvesicles have different biogenesis pathways, and, therefore, likely have different cargo, which may affect their functional activity [250]. Consequently, using a mix of exosomes and microvesicles could impact functional assays, although it is unclear whether this impact is positive or negative.

II.1.2. Are RP89 the best source of EVs?

The cells used during my thesis were RP89 cells. RP89 is a SCAP cell line derived from the mandibular third molar apical papillae from a single donor, coexpressing mesenchymal stem cell markers CD73, CD90, and CD105 [369]. The expression of these molecular markers is considered

the minimal criterion for identifying true mesenchymal stem cells [434]. Since RP89 cells are from a single donor, we can assume that cell heterogeneity, and consequently the heterogeneity of their EVs is reduced.

Although the maintenance of MSC marker expression through 20 passages has been demonstrated at both gene and protein levels in RP89 cells [369], some studies have shown that EVs isolated from cells with higher cell passages were less bioactive compared to those from cells with lower passages [435]. Unfortunately, it was not possible to isolate EVs from cells from the same passage consistently. Therefore, we decided to collect EVs produced by cells between passages 6 and 9. This range, the lowest that allowed us to expand cells sufficiently to isolate EVs from a large number of cells, was chosen to minimize variability in our results.

II.1.3. Are EVs and siponimod doses relevant?

Regarding siponimod, we selected a dose based on reports of the effects of fingolimod in vitro. Jung et al. showed that low nanomolar doses of fingolimod (10 nM) promoted rat OPC differentiation, while higher doses (> 1 μ M) inhibited the differentiation of OPC into mature oligodendrocytes, highlighting a dose-dependent activity [154]. This effect may be linked to S1P receptor internalization following fingolimod recognition, where fingolimod binding initially induces downregulation of S1P₅. To compensate for this mechanism, S1P₁ is then upregulated [190]. Such effects have not been reported with siponimod due to a lack of studies, as most studies have assessed the effect of siponimod on remyelination *ex vivo* or *in vivo*, but not *in vitro* [155, 209]. While fingolimod and siponimod have similar mechanisms of action, we can assume a similar dose-dependent response for siponimod. Therefore, we assessed the effect of various siponimod concentrations on OPC differentiation and observed a higher differentiation marker expression at a higher dose (1 μ M) compared to a low dose (10 nM). The difference with fingolimod may be explained by the timing of the experiment, as receptor internalization is a dynamic process.

Regarding EVs, analysis of the literature highlights a wide range of EV numbers reported in publications (from 5 x 10^5 to 10^{10} EVs) [400, 436-438], and a large number of studies reports administered dosages as a protein concentration [287, 439]. Additionally, establishing a correlation between EV dose and effect is challenging, as the relationship appears to be non-linear. Therefore, in chapter 1 of part III, we treated BV2 and spinal cord slices with the highest amount of EVs feasible, corresponding to 5 x 10^9 EVs. In chapter 2, the EV dose was based on the siponimod dose and encapsulation efficiency (1 μ M, 6.3 x 10^8 EVs). To ensure this quantity was not deleterious to the OPCs, we assessed first the effect of different doses of SCAP-EVs on the expression of

mature oligodendrocyte markers (MBP, MAG, and PLP). We observed an increase in marker expression when OPCs were treated with up to 5 x 10^8 EVs, while oligodendrocyte marker expression drastically dropped when OPCs were treated with more than 10^9 EVs. These results confirm that the EV dose used in this chapter (6.3 x 10^8 EVs) had no negative impact on OPC differentiation (Figure 27). Considering these findings, it would have been interesting to assess different EV concentrations on LPS-stimulated BV2 cells. These results are consistent with what has been described by Hagey et al., in which low doses of EVs from various source produce unique transcriptional responses, while high doses induce lysosomal activity [440]. Thus, the underlying mechanism remains unknown but may involve miRNAs [441].



Figure 27. EVs at different concentrations (10⁸, 5 x 10⁸, 10⁹, and 5 x 10⁹) on mixed glial cells. MGC were treated with EVs for 2 days. Quantification of MBP, MAG, and PLP mRNA by RT-qPCR was performed 5 days after 48h of treatment. N = 1, n = 4.

II.1.4. Can the timing induce different effects?

MSC-EVs are more and more studied *in vitro* for their immunomodulatory effects. However, the timing of these studies varies widely: 2h, 4h, 8h, 24h, 48h, 72h, or 4 days [287, 401, 438]. Sometimes, a lower dose is used for a longer time and vice versa [400, 438]. This variability makes it difficult to choose the appropriate timing based on the selected dose. Furthermore, the precise mechanism of action has not been described, so we cannot rely on this parameter to select a timing for our experiments. Therefore, in our first study, we decided to test two timings: 8h, because it has been used in other LPS-stimulated BV2 cell experiments in our laboratory [376] and 24h to evaluate the impact of a longer experiment duration on pro-inflammatory cytokine expression. Given this arbitrary selection, we could assume that different timings might yield different results. Unfortunately, due to the limited EV yield, it was not possible to assess more timings or to combine different timings with different doses.

In our second study, the timing was based on: 1) previous results obtained on microglia cells and 2) siponimod. Since the internalization of S1P receptors is a dynamic process, the timing used in the experiments may affect the results [154]. In a preliminary experiment, we compared the effect

of 1 μ M siponimod on OPC differentiation for 48h and 72h. We observed a higher increase in the expression of oligodendrocyte differentiation marker MBP after 48h compared to 72h (Figure 28). Therefore, we decided to treat OPCs for 48h with our formulation. However, it could have been interesting to treat BV2 and OPCs for the same duration to obtain more translational results.



Figure 28. Siponimod at different concentrations (100nM and 1 μ M) on oligodendrocyte progenitor cells for 48h or 72h. OPCs were treated with siponimod for 48h or 72h. Quantification of MBP mRNA by RT-qPCR was performed 5 days after 48h or 72h of treatment. N = 1, n = 4.

II.1.5. Can the storage conditions have an impact on the results?

Although some studies recommend processing EVs from fresh samples, it is not always practical. Therefore, a key question when working with EVs is how to store the samples. Different storage conditions have been described: +4°C for up to 7 days and freezing at -20°C or -80°C, with or without cryoprotectants such as trehalose for longer storage durations [442]. Evidence suggests that storage significantly impacts EV properties, including concentration, size, integrity, molecular cargo, surface composition, and function [443]. An interesting study comparing various storage strategies demonstrated that albumin-supplemented PBS, in addition to trehalose, improved EV recovery rates (particle concentration, diameter, protein, and RNA amount) compared to PBS alone for long-term storage [444]. Higher recovery rates were also observed in less pure EV preparations. Freeze-drying has also been considered and appears to be a convenient way to store EVs [425].

In our first study, EVs were used directly after their isolation, minimizing the impact of storage conditions. However, in the next study, EVs were frozen in PBS due to technical imperatives (EVs produced in Paris). EVs were aliquoted to avoid successive freeze-thaw cycles. We decided not to add a cryoprotectant as EVs were isolated with tangential-flow filtration, a method known to co-isolate protein contaminants that could have a cryoprotective effect [445].

II.1.6. Why did we choose the lysolecithin model?

Since we demonstrated the ability of EV-Siponimod to increase the expression of oligodendrocyte differentiation markers, the aim of the preclinical study was to investigate remyelination following treatment with EV-Siponimod. Therefore, the lysolecithin-induced focal lesion model appeared to be more appropriate than experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis [110]. While the oral cuprizone model is also appropriate for studying remyelination, we opted for intracerebroventricular injection to eliminate the impact of the administration route and obtain a first proof-of-concept. Of course, later on, as this administration is not compatible with the chronic treatment required for models like the cuprizone model, a less invasive administration route will be selected, most likely chosen based on a biodistribution study.

II.2. ENCAPSULATION OF SIPONIMOD INTO EVS, AS SIMPLE AS IT LOOKS LIKE?

In the last decade, the interest in EVs as drug delivery systems has increased considerably, with various encapsulation methods reported, as presented in Table 6 of the introduction. However, the loading efficiency of lipophilic drugs remains largely unexplored, as very few studies report the amount of lipophilic cargo loaded in EVs [309, 310, 446, 447]. Therefore, we assessed different methods such as incubation, electroporation, sonication, saponin treatment, or fusion with liposomes, but these methods yielded inconclusive results. Other PhD students in the lab encountered similar challenges when trying to encapsulate lipids, hydrophilic drugs, or miRNA into EVs. Given the complexity of loading a drug into EVs, we evaluated a new method developed by collaborators in Paris, using turbulences to stimulate the production of EVs and at the same time encapsulate siponimod. This method also has the advantage of isolating high yields of EVs, an important criterion for assessing their functional activity *in vivo* [411]. The mechanism behind the encapsulation of siponimod into EVs using turbulence has not been described.

Two hypotheses could be stated:

- Pre-EV production hypothesis: siponimod might be captured by SCAP through an endocytic pathway, leading to the formation of multivesicular bodies that contain vesicles encapsulating siponimod. This mechanism may involve the binding of siponimod to its receptor, as some studies have suggested the involvement of S1P receptor activation in multivesicular body formation [252].
- 2) Post-EV production hypothesis: turbulence might cause temporary permeabilization of the EV membrane, allowing siponimod to enter. In that case, the risk of losing EV content exists. This hypothesis is supported by the fact that shear stress can induce transient pores in lipid bilayers [448].

As with every loading method, turbulence has its drawbacks. This loading method's main inconvenience is the risk of creating EV-like nanoparticles termed extracellular blebs. These particles are created by inducing cell membrane tension with shear stress, which over time results in elongation of the membrane. When the maximum thermodynamic stability is reached, the membrane tears and fragments into free linear pieces that rapidly and spontaneously self-assemble into spheres to form EV-like nanovesicles [449]. It has been demonstrated that these nanovesicles have similar size, zeta potential, morphology, key protein markers, and lipidomic profiles to natural EVs but are no longer true EVs [450]. Their functional activity has also been reported in some studies [451]. However, regarding the many obstacles encountered with natural EVs as drug delivery systems such as considerable complexity, low isolation yield, and inefficient drug loading, these EV-like nanoparticles may not be a drawback of turbulence but in fact, a promising solution to overcome certain limitations of natural EVs.

In chapter 2 of part III, we observed that EV-Siponimod significantly increased the gene expression of mature oligodendrocyte markers (myelin basic protein MBP, myelin associated glycoprotein MAG, and myelin protein lipid protein PLP) compared to either free siponimod or blank EVs. To decipher whether this effect was due to encapsulation or to an additive effect of siponimod and EVs, independently of encapsulation, we evaluated the impact of co-administration of blank EVs and siponimod on mixed glial cells. The effects observed in chapter 2 of part III were recapitulated with blank EVs, siponimod, and EV-Siponimod. The co-administration of EVs with siponimod also increased the expression of MBP and PLP but had no impact on MAG expression (Figure 29).



Figure 29. Impact of blank EVs, siponimod, EV-Siponimod, or EVs co-administrated with siponimod on the expression of oligodendrocyte differentiation markers by mixed glial cells. Mixed glial cells were treated with blank EVs (6.3 x 10⁸ particles) or siponimod (1 μ M) or EV-Siponimod (6.3 x 10⁸ particles) or blank EVs + siponimod (6.3 x 10⁸ particles and 1 μ M, respectively) for 2 days. Quantification of MBP, MAG and PLP mRNA by RT-qPCR were made 5 days after the treatment removal. N = 3, n = 4. ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

Considering these results, an additive or synergistic effect of siponimod and EVs could be responsible for the observed effects with EV-Siponimod, independent of the encapsulation of siponimod into EVs. However, the effects of EV-Siponimod on MAG expression were not replicated by the co-incubation of EVs and siponimod. Furthermore, we cannot rule out the possibility that an encapsulation occurs when siponimod and EVs are co-incubated, as incubation is a reported method for drug encapsulation into EVs.

Additionally, other parameters should also be considered before concluding that encapsulation is not necessary. One such parameter is EV yield. Adding siponimod to the cell culture medium led to an increase in EV yield, with $2.36 \ge 10^4$ particles/cell for blank EVs and $3.9 \ge 10^4$ particles/cell for EV-Siponimod. Another parameter, not assessed in this thesis, is biodistribution. Homing of EVs to inflammation sites has been reported, suggesting that EV-Siponimod could target siponimod to demyelinated lesions. Furthermore, the effects of co-incubation of blank EVs and free siponimod on LPS-stimulated microglia cells were not evaluated.

II.3. EVS AS NANOMEDICINE, A UTOPIA?

II.3.1. How far are we from clinics?

In this PhD project, we demonstrated the successful encapsulation of siponimod into EVs using a scalable method, achieving higher loading efficiency compared to other techniques such as sonication, extrusion, and freeze-thaw cycles. We also showed that the expression of oligodendrocyte differentiation markers was increased with EV-Siponimod, but not with free siponimod or blank EVs, although it remains uncertain whether encapsulation was solely responsible for these effects. Various studies have also reported the successful encapsulation of nucleic acids, small molecules, or proteins into EVs and demonstrated their therapeutic potential. Therefore, it appears to be reasonable to ask: could we envisage having commercialized EVs as nanomedicines in the near future?

Recently, several companies have been created with the objective of commercializing EVs loaded with antisense oligonucleotides (e.g. Codiak Biosciences), miRNAs (e.g. Avalon Globocare Corp.), siRNAs (e.g. Aruna Bio, Inc.) and mRNAs (Capricor Therapeutics). However, no EV products have been approved by the FDA to date. For a long time, there was no clear regulatory framework, leading to the publication of a public safety notification on exosome products by the FDA in 2019 [452]. Additionally, the EMA has classified EV-based therapeutic products as biological medicinal products, subjecting them to the same regulatory requirements [453].
The commercialization of EV-based products has also been hampered by various limitations, including the low scalability of production and isolation methods used in research, the time-consuming nature of these technologies, and the high level of heterogeneity of EVs, which complicates reproducible large-scale manufacturing [454]. Furthermore, due to these limitations, EV-based therapies may be expensive. As presented in the introduction of this manuscript, various methods have been developed to enhance EV yield, such as production in bioreactors or the use of external signals. While the method used to produce EVs encapsulating siponimod is scalable, the significant loss of siponimod during production renders it unsuitable for large-scale manufacturing.

Therefore, while significant progress has been made in the development of EVs, several challenges remain before their commercialization as nanomedicines, hampering their commercial availability in the coming years.

II.3.2. Are there real advantages to use EVs compared to synthetic nanocarriers?

While the results were promising, we faced several difficulties, such as low encapsulation efficiency, low EV yield, challenges with reproducibility, and difficulties in purifying EVs. Additionally, one of the main advantages of using EVs as nanomedicines is their functional activity. However, the results observed in chapter 1 of part III did not demonstrate a clear and significant effect of EVs in reducing pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in microglia cells. In chapter 2, although EV-Siponimod were able to increase the expression of oligodendrocyte differentiation markers in mixed glial cells, blank EVs were unable to recapitulate these effects. This raises questions about whether EVs are concretely more advantageous than synthetic nanocarriers.

The closest lipid-based nanomedicine to EVs is liposome. Like EVs, liposomes consist of a lipid bilayer enclosing an aqueous core, allowing hydrophobic drugs to integrate into the bilayer and hydrophilic drugs to be incorporated into the core, with an encapsulation efficiency of up to 80% [455]. Extensive research since their discovery in the 1960s has led to the commercialization of FDA-approved liposome-based therapeutics [456]. However, liposomes also have drawbacks such as rapid clearance from the bloodstream, fast release of the drug, off-target accumulation, and the potential to trigger an innate immune response [457]. Compared to liposomes, EVs have several advantages. Their biological origins make them biocompatible, and they can target specific tissues due to their homing properties. Moreover, EVs are more complex, containing nucleic acid and proteins inside the vesicle or on the membrane. However, EVs also have significant drawbacks, including low loading efficiency and limited control over their composition, leading to issues with

reproducibility [214]. Despite theoretical comparisons between EVs and liposomes, the number of studies providing head-to-head comparisons is still limited [456]. During my PhD, no direct comparison between these two nanocarriers was performed, as it is more challenging than it appears due to differences in drug loading and particle concentration.

Recently, a promising idea has emerged: combining the best of both worlds to create EV-like nanoparticles. This could be achieved by generating: 1) hybrid vesicles composed of both EV and liposomal components, 2) bioinspired synthetic vesicles that incorporate characteristics of EVs, or 3) EV-like particles using a cell shearing procedure such as extrusion [456].

Hybrids vesicles are produced through the PEG-mediated fusion of EVs and liposomes. This approach allows for surface modification and drug loading, while preserving the integrity and biological activity of EVs. Although liposomes can be easily produced and customized for specific drug-delivery challenges, the separation process tends to be slow and complex. Given the potential immunogenicity of liposomes, which is influenced by their phospholipid composition, it is important to mimic the natural lipid-composition of EVs to minimize immunogenic responses [458].

Bioinspired synthetic vesicles consist of the creation of fully artificial EV-biomimetics using lipids and proteins found in natural EVs. This strategy requires an in-depth understanding of the nature and function of most EV components to identify the fundamental ones. However, the complexity of artificial vesicles will inevitably be lower than their biological counterparts. The optimal formulation should balance the amount of different lipid categories, excluding the less abundant ones, while maintaining appropriate ratios among various types of fatty acids (saturated, mono- or polyunsaturated). Regarding protein composition, it is essential to identify proteins involved in homing, such as integrins, as well as those involved in cargo transfer, including tetraspanins, lectins, proteoglycans, and fibronectin. The development of artificial EV-biomimetics should proceed incrementally, with increasing complexity [459].

Finally, EV-like particles produced via a cell shearing procedure offer a viable and cost-effective alternative to natural EVs, requiring only a reasonable number of cells and avoiding time-consuming purification procedures. Recent studies have shown that these EV-mimetics exhibit similar physicochemical properties compared to natural EVs, with no significant differences in size, morphology or classical markers [460]. Furthermore, they hold great potential for cargo packaging such as for lipophilic drugs like paclitaxel [461]. However, despite a 71% similarity in membrane proteins between the two groups, the similarity drops to 21% for total protein cargo [460].

II.3.3. My personal view on the question

Interest in EVs as drug delivery systems has considerably increased over the past decade. Numerous papers have been published, highlighting the potential of EVs as promising nanomedicines and demonstrating interesting results for drug encapsulation within EVs. While the theoretical foundations and published results were encouraging, the practical reality appears to be more complicated. Our results, along with discussions with other researchers from the EV field, suggest that the results frequently do not match the reported successes in the literature. Caution is warranted when interpreting reported effects as every detail, such as EV production, EV isolation, and EV storage can impact EV functional activity. Therefore, identifying the most suitable conditions for working with EVs remains a challenge.

Furthermore, despite extensive research on EVs, many unknowns remain regarding their biology, including the mechanisms of cargo loading, the mechanisms of EV secretion, their capture, and the release of their cargo. Answering these questions is fundamental for optimizing EV production, isolation, and encapsulation.

In my opinion, incorporating a drug into EVs after their isolation is not a good idea. The risks associated with membrane destabilization, leading to the loss of EV content and the potential failure of EV reformation are too high. Thus, among post-EV isolation encapsulation methods, incubation is the only suitable option. However, this method is not effective for hydrophilic molecules. For lipophilic drugs, incubation results in a low amount of drug encapsulated. In the case of EV-Siponimod, encapsulation using turbulence yielded an encapsulation efficiency of 12%. While this is higher than the efficiencies reported with other methods, it also means that 88% of siponimod was lost. This loss is acceptable in this instance because siponimod is relatively not expensive (\$150 for 5 mg). However, this level of loss is not compatible with the encapsulation of more expensive drugs.

On the other hand, encapsulation before EV isolation remains, in my opinion, promising, as EVs can be modified via engineered parent cells to incorporate nucleic acids or proteins [214]. Furthermore, companies aiming to commercialize EV-based therapies are predominantly focused on engineered EVs. However, even if this encapsulation method allows for the incorporation of molecules of interest into EVs, several significant hurdles remain, including ensuring reproducibility, producing and purifying EVs using scalable methods that minimize protein contamination, and determining optimal storage conditions for EVs. Additionally, while the impact of EV production and isolation methods on EV functional activity has been reported, its precise

influence is still not fully understood. Therefore, technical advances are crucial to overcoming these EV-related issues. Given these complexities and the current state of the field, I do not believe that EV-based nanomedicines will be approved in the near future, or even in the more distant future.

To be clear, I am not dismissing the extensive work done by other research teams or our own efforts regarding EVs as drug delivery systems. I believe that some of this work has been essential for advancing our understanding of EV biology, EV cargo release, and the functional activity of EVs. Throughout my journey in the EV field, the first part of my research allowed me to gain a better comprehension of SCAP-EVs and the impact of a pro-inflammatory environment on EV content. The second part exposed me to the numerous challenges of encapsulating siponimod into EVs but also yielded promising results on OPC differentiation. Although I remain sceptical about EVs being the future of nanomedicines, I believe that insights from the EV field could be highly beneficial for developing more complex drug delivery systems than those currently reported in the literature. Therefore, in my opinion, EV-like nanoparticles may emerge as promising nanomedicines.

III. PERSPECTIVES

Based on the main results obtained during this thesis and on the related discussions and conclusions elaborated, several short-term perspectives could be proposed to i) optimize the encapsulation, ii) understand better the mechanisms behind EV-Siponimod effects and iii) consider a realistic use of EVs:

i) Optimization of the encapsulation method:

As shown in chapter 2 of part III, we achieved an encapsulation efficiency of 12% with the turbulence technique. While this is relatively high for the encapsulation of a drug into EVs, it may seem low when compared with synthetic nanocarriers. However, due to time limitations (the encapsulation was performed during my stay at Université de Paris), no optimization was conducted. It could thus be interesting to modify various parameters such as siponimod concentrations and shear stress and evaluate their impact on encapsulation efficiency. Additionally, exploring the underlying mechanism of encapsulation could provide valuable insights that may help improve the method.

ii) Several assessments could be performed to gain a better understanding of EV-Siponimod

- Exploring the mechanisms of action of EV-siponimod to determine if the EV-Siponimod effect is mediated by S1P receptors on the plasma membrane and/or within the cells. Since siponimod acts on S1P receptors S1P₁ and S1P₅, we could inhibit siponimod binding to

these receptors using W146 (selective antagonist for $S1P_1$) or suramin (dual antagonist for $S1P_3/S1P_5$) before treating the cells with EV-Siponimod. This could be performed on microglial cells and OPCs, as the results might be more complicated to interpret with mixed glial cells.

- Exploring the internalization of EV-Siponimod by cells. Different internalization pathways have been described in the literature [260]. We could block these pathways using cytochalasin (blocks endocytosis), chlorpromazine (clathrin-mediated endocytosis), genistein (caveolae-mediated endocytosis), and methyl-β-cyclodextrin (lipid raft-mediated endocytosis) for example [425]. This could be performed on microglial cells, OPCs, or immortalized astrocyte cell lines separately, as the mechanism depends on the cell type. Understanding the internalization of EV-Siponimod by the cells could help us better comprehend the mechanism of action of EV-Siponimod. However, caution is necessary as none of the inhibitors reported in the literature exhibit absolute selectivity [462]. Labelled-EVs with fluorescent lipid membrane dye, such as PKH26 and DID, could also give information on the fate of EVs, as well as the knockdown of certain genes involved in the endocytic processes [260, 462].
- Exploring the impact of turbulences on EVs. Since it is known that the EV production method impacts EV composition, it could be interesting to evaluate this impact by comparing the lipids, proteins, and miRNA content of EVs produced by turbulence with those produced in a flask. A comparison between blank-EVs and EV-Siponimod could also be interesting, as siponimod may impact EV composition.

iii) Several assessments could be performed to consider a realistic use of EVs as nanomedicine:

- Finding the optimal sort and long-term storage conditions. Evidence demonstrated that EVs could be degraded if the storage conditions are not appropriate. As explained in the discussion of this thesis, EV-Siponimod were stored at -80°C, but their stability at this temperature was not assessed. It would thus be interesting to compare different storage conditions (-20°C vs -80°C, with or without cryoprotectants) and evaluate the EV degradation and the release of siponimod over time.
- Finding the optimal route of administration. As explained in this chapter, intracerebroventricular administration was chosen to ensure that the efficiency would not be impacted by a poor accumulation in the CNS, but it is not suitable for chronic treatment. Therefore, a biodistribution study should be performed to compare different routes of administration including intravenous, intranasal, and oral administration. Intranasal administration offers a promising non-invasive option to deliver drugs to the brain, and

oral administration is currently used for siponimod. This could be conducted in both healthy mice and mice treated with lysolecithin to consider the attraction of EVs to inflamed sites.

With the objective of proposing an alternative drug delivery system to synthetic ones currently commercialized, several long-term perspectives could be elaborated:

i) Comparing EV-Siponimod with siponimod-loaded liposomes in terms of encapsulation, efficacy, and stability since liposome structure is similar to EVs. Synthetic standard liposomes could be used for this purpose. However, as discussed earlier, a few hurdles must be overcome to perform this comparison including differences in drug loading and particle concentrations.

ii) Designing EV-like nanoparticles encapsulating siponimod. These could be liposomes with a lipid composition similar to the one described in our first study. We could start by assessing a basic composition that includes the most abundant lipids found in our EVs such as phosphatidylcholine 16:0/16:0, phosphatidylethanolamine 16:1/16:0, and cholesterol, and then progressively enhance the complexity by adding lipids such as sphingomyelin 16:0 and ceramide 18:1/16:1. These EV-like nanoparticles could be further decorated with common EV proteins such as tetraspanins, integrins, and CD47. A quality by design approach should be employed to evaluate the impact of the modification in the composition on critical parameters, including particle size, stability, ability to interact with cells and to deliver their cargo. Additionally, promising miRNAs found in activated SCAP-EVs such as miR-100-5p could be incorporated to reduce inflammation, in addition to the encapsulation of siponimod.

IV. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Currently, no available treatment for multiple sclerosis stimulates the remyelination process, one reason being the difficulty drugs face in reaching the central nervous system. This challenge could be addressed by using nanocarriers. During the last decade, the interest in EVs, as therapeutic tools or drug delivery vehicles has constantly increased. EVs can encapsulate a large variety of drugs, possess functional activity including immunomodulatory properties, and have a homing to inflamed tissue. Experiments conducted during this thesis investigated the potential of EVs from stem cells from apical papilla as biological nanocarriers with functional activity for siponimod, a compound that can promote the differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells, a fundamental mechanism preceding remyelination. In a first study, we isolated and characterized EVs from non-activated SCAP and SCAP activated with TNF α and IFN γ , and determined whether SCAP-EVs

could replicate the therapeutic properties of their parent cells. Furthermore, in a second study, we encapsulated siponimod in EVs, using an innovative technique named turbuloporation, allowing us to increase EV yield and load the drug into the vesicles. We then assessed the ability of EV-siponimod *in vitro* to reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in microglia cells and to induce OPC differentiation.

Although some experiments could be performed to optimize our formulation and to improve our comprehension of EV-siponimod, this work made a few contributions to the EV field:

- We showed that the miRNA content of SCAP-EVs, but not their lipid composition, varied depending on whether the SCAP were stimulated with a pro-inflammatory stimulus.
- We observed a slight reduction of the gene expression of pro-inflammatory markers in a microglial cell line following their treatment with activated SCAP-EVs.
- We showed that SCAP-EVs could be use as drug delivery system for siponimod, improving the effect of the free drug on OPC and more broadly on mixed glial cells, although the mechanism of action has not been studied.

-

REFERENCES

- [1] M.S.I. Federation, Number of people with MS, 2023. https://www.atlasofms.org/map/global/epidemiology/number-of-people-with-ms. (Accessed 6 February 2024).
- [2] C. Walton, R. King, L. Rechtman, W. Kaye, E. Leray, R.A. Marrie, N. Robertson, N. La Rocca, B. Uitdehaag, I. van der Mei, M. Wallin, A. Helme, C. Angood Napier, N. Rijke, P. Baneke, Rising prevalence of multiple sclerosis worldwide: Insights from the Atlas of MS, third edition, Mult Scler 26(14) (2020) 1816-1821.
- [3] A.J. Thompson, S.E. Baranzini, J. Geurts, B. Hemmer, O. Ciccarelli, Multiple sclerosis, Lancet 391(10130) (2018) 1622-1636.
- [4] T. Olsson, L.F. Barcellos, L. Alfredsson, Interactions between genetic, lifestyle and environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis, Nat Rev Neurol 13(1) (2017) 25-36.
- [5] K. Bjornevik, M. Cortese, B.C. Healy, J. Kuhle, M.J. Mina, Y. Leng, S.J. Elledge, D.W. Niebuhr, A.I. Scher, K.L. Munger, A. Ascherio, Longitudinal analysis reveals high prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus associated with multiple sclerosis, Science 375(6578) (2022) 296-301.
- [6] T.V. Lanz, R.C. Brewer, P.P. Ho, J.S. Moon, K.M. Jude, D. Fernandez, R.A. Fernandes, A.M. Gomez, G.S. Nadj, C.M. Bartley, R.D. Schubert, I.A. Hawes, S.E. Vazquez, M. Iyer, J.B. Zuchero, B. Teegen, J.E. Dunn, C.B. Lock, L.B. Kipp, V.C. Cotham, B.M. Ueberheide, B.T. Aftab, M.S. Anderson, J.L. DeRisi, M.R. Wilson, R.J.M. Bashford-Rogers, M. Platten, K.C. Garcia, L. Steinman, W.H. Robinson, Clonally expanded B cells in multiple sclerosis bind EBV EBNA1 and GlialCAM, Nature 603(7900) (2022) 321-327.
- [7] S.S. Soldan, P.M. Lieberman, Epstein-Barr virus and multiple sclerosis, Nat Rev Microbiol 21(1) (2023) 51-64.
- [8] K. Bjornevik, T. Riise, I. Casetta, J. Drulovic, E. Granieri, T. Holmoy, M.T. Kampman, A.M. Landtblom, K. Lauer, A. Lossius, S. Magalhaes, K.M. Myhr, T. Pekmezovic, K. Wesnes, C. Wolfson, M. Pugliatti, Sun exposure and multiple sclerosis risk in Norway and Italy: The EnvIMS study, Mult Scler 20(8) (2014) 1042-9.
- [9] K.L. Munger, K. Kochert, K.C. Simon, L. Kappos, C.H. Polman, M.S. Freedman, H.P. Hartung, D.H. Miller, X. Montalban, G. Edan, F. Barkhof, D. Pleimes, R. Sandbrink, A. Ascherio, C. Pohl, Molecular mechanism underlying the impact of vitamin D on disease activity of MS, Ann Clin Transl Neurol 1(8) (2014) 605-17.
- [10] C. Pierrot-Deseilligny, J.C. Souberbielle, Vitamin D and multiple sclerosis: An update, Mult Scler Relat Disord 14 (2017) 35-45.
- [11] R.M. Lucas, S.N. Byrne, J. Correale, S. Ilschner, P.H. Hart, Ultraviolet radiation, vitamin D and multiple sclerosis, Neurodegener Dis Manag 5(5) (2015) 413-24.
- [12] M. Ghareghani, R.J. Reiter, K. Zibara, N. Farhadi, Latitude, Vitamin D, Melatonin, and Gut Microbiota Act in Concert to Initiate Multiple Sclerosis: A New Mechanistic Pathway, Front Immunol 9 (2018) 2484.
- [13] L.E. Mokry, S. Ross, N.J. Timpson, S. Sawcer, G. Davey Smith, J.B. Richards, Obesity and Multiple Sclerosis: A Mendelian Randomization Study, PLoS Med 13(6) (2016) e1002053.
- [14] A.K. Hedstrom, I. Lima Bomfim, L. Barcellos, M. Gianfrancesco, C. Schaefer, I. Kockum, T. Olsson,
 L. Alfredsson, Interaction between adolescent obesity and HLA risk genes in the etiology of multiple sclerosis, Neurology 82(10) (2014) 865-72.
- [15] M. Bistrom, J. Hultdin, O. Andersen, L. Alonso-Magdalena, D. Jons, M. Gunnarsson, M. Vrethem,
 P. Sundstrom, Leptin levels are associated with multiple sclerosis risk, Mult Scler 27(1) (2021) 19-27.

- [16] V. De Rosa, C. Procaccini, G. Cali, G. Pirozzi, S. Fontana, S. Zappacosta, A. La Cava, G. Matarese, A key role of leptin in the control of regulatory T cell proliferation, Immunity 26(2) (2007) 241-55.
- [17] M. Marrodan, M.F. Farez, M.E. Balbuena Aguirre, J. Correale, Obesity and the risk of Multiple Sclerosis. The role of Leptin, Ann Clin Transl Neurol 8(2) (2021) 406-424.
- [18] B. Arneth, Multiple Sclerosis and Smoking, Am J Med 133(7) (2020) 783-788.
- [19] F. Marabita, M. Almgren, L.K. Sjoholm, L. Kular, Y. Liu, T. James, N.B. Kiss, A.P. Feinberg, T. Olsson,
 I. Kockum, L. Alfredsson, T.J. Ekstrom, M. Jagodic, Smoking induces DNA methylation changes in Multiple Sclerosis patients with exposure-response relationship, Sci Rep 7(1) (2017) 14589.
- [20] M. Vandebergh, A. Goris, Smoking and multiple sclerosis risk: a Mendelian randomization study, J Neurol 267(10) (2020) 3083-3091.
- [21] R.E. Mitchell, K. Bates, R.E. Wootton, A. Harroud, J.B. Richards, G. Davey Smith, M.R. Munafo, Little evidence for an effect of smoking on multiple sclerosis risk: A Mendelian Randomization study, PLoS Biol 18(11) (2020) e3000973.
- [22] N.A. Patsopoulos, Genetics of Multiple Sclerosis: An Overview and New Directions, Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 8(7) (2018).
- [23] E. Canto, J.R. Oksenberg, Multiple sclerosis genetics, Mult Scler 24(1) (2018) 75-79.
- [24] C. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics, Multiple sclerosis genomic map implicates peripheral immune cells and microglia in susceptibility, Science 365(6460) (2019).
- [25] C. Cotsapas, M. Mitrovic, Genome-wide association studies of multiple sclerosis, Clin Transl Immunology 7(6) (2018) e1018.
- [26] J.A. Hollenbach, J.R. Oksenberg, The immunogenetics of multiple sclerosis: A comprehensive review, J Autoimmun 64 (2015) 13-25.
- [27] C. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics, M.S.C. Multiple, Locus for severity implicates CNS resilience in progression of multiple sclerosis, Nature 619(7969) (2023) 323-331.
- [28] K. Jamebozorgi, D. Rostami, H. Pormasoumi, E. Taghizadeh, G.E. Barreto, A. Sahebkar, Epigenetic aspects of multiple sclerosis and future therapeutic options, Int J Neurosci 131(1) (2021) 56-64.
- [29] M.K. Sen, M.S.M. Almuslehi, P.J. Shortland, J.R. Coorssen, D.A. Mahns, Revisiting the Pathoetiology of Multiple Sclerosis: Has the Tail Been Wagging the Mouse?, Front Immunol 11 (2020) 572186.
- [30] O. Ellen, S. Ye, D. Nheu, M. Dass, M. Pagnin, E. Ozturk, P. Theotokis, N. Grigoriadis, S. Petratos, The Heterogeneous Multiple Sclerosis Lesion: How Can We Assess and Modify a Degenerating Lesion?, Int J Mol Sci 24(13) (2023).
- [31] S.P. das Neves, J.C. Sousa, N. Sousa, J.J. Cerqueira, F. Marques, Altered astrocytic function in experimental neuroinflammation and multiple sclerosis, Glia 69(6) (2021) 1341-1368.
- [32] J.A. Mazzitelli, F.E. Pulous, L.C.D. Smyth, Z. Kaya, J. Rustenhoven, M.A. Moskowitz, J. Kipnis, M. Nahrendorf, Skull bone marrow channels as immune gateways to the central nervous system, Nat Neurosci 26(12) (2023) 2052-2062.
- [33] F. Herisson, V. Frodermann, G. Courties, D. Rohde, Y. Sun, K. Vandoorne, G.R. Wojtkiewicz, G.S. Masson, C. Vinegoni, J. Kim, D.E. Kim, R. Weissleder, F.K. Swirski, M.A. Moskowitz, M. Nahrendorf, Direct vascular channels connect skull bone marrow and the brain surface enabling myeloid cell migration, Nat Neurosci 21(9) (2018) 1209-1217.
- [34] C. Dong, Cytokine Regulation and Function in T Cells, Annu Rev Immunol 39 (2021) 51-76.

- [35] A. Denic, B. Wootla, M. Rodriguez, CD8(+) T cells in multiple sclerosis, Expert Opin Ther Targets 17(9) (2013) 1053-66.
- [36] B.J. Kaskow, C. Baecher-Allan, Effector T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis, Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 8(4) (2018).
- [37] J.S. Tzartos, M.A. Friese, M.J. Craner, J. Palace, J. Newcombe, M.M. Esiri, L. Fugger, Interleukin-17 production in central nervous system-infiltrating T cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis, Am J Pathol 172(1) (2008) 146-55.
- [38] B.W. van Oosten, M. Lai, S. Hodgkinson, F. Barkhof, D.H. Miller, I.F. Moseley, A.J. Thompson, P. Rudge, A. McDougall, J.G. McLeod, H.J. Ader, C.H. Polman, Treatment of multiple sclerosis with the monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody cM-T412: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, MR-monitored phase II trial, Neurology 49(2) (1997) 351-7.
- [39] M. Salou, B. Nicol, A. Garcia, D.A. Laplaud, Involvement of CD8(+) T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis, Front Immunol 6 (2015) 604.
- [40] I. Medana, M.A. Martinic, H. Wekerle, H. Neumann, Transection of major histocompatibility complex class I-induced neurites by cytotoxic T lymphocytes, Am J Pathol 159(3) (2001) 809-15.
- [41] J. van Langelaar, L. Rijvers, J. Smolders, M.M. van Luijn, B and T Cells Driving Multiple Sclerosis: Identity, Mechanisms and Potential Triggers, Front Immunol 11 (2020) 760.
- [42] G. Comi, A. Bar-Or, H. Lassmann, A. Uccelli, H.P. Hartung, X. Montalban, P.S. Sorensen, R. Hohlfeld, S.L. Hauser, F. Expert Panel of the 27th Annual Meeting of the European Charcot, Role of B Cells in Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders, Ann Neurol 89(1) (2021) 13-23.
- [43] M.T. Cencioni, M. Mattoscio, R. Magliozzi, A. Bar-Or, P.A. Muraro, B cells in multiple sclerosis from targeted depletion to immune reconstitution therapies, Nat Rev Neurol 17(7) (2021) 399-414.
- [44] N. Grigoriadis, V. van Pesch, M.S.G. Paradig, A basic overview of multiple sclerosis immunopathology, Eur J Neurol 22 Suppl 2 (2015) 3-13.
- [45] A. Bar-Or, L. Fawaz, B. Fan, P.J. Darlington, A. Rieger, C. Ghorayeb, P.A. Calabresi, E. Waubant, S.L. Hauser, J. Zhang, C.H. Smith, Abnormal B-cell cytokine responses a trigger of T-cell-mediated disease in MS?, Ann Neurol 67(4) (2010) 452-61.
- [46] R. Li, A. Rezk, Y. Miyazaki, E. Hilgenberg, H. Touil, P. Shen, C.S. Moore, L. Michel, F. Althekair, S. Rajasekharan, J.L. Gommerman, A. Prat, S. Fillatreau, A. Bar-Or, B.c.i.M.S.T. Canadian, Proinflammatory GM-CSF-producing B cells in multiple sclerosis and B cell depletion therapy, Sci Transl Med 7(310) (2015) 310ra166.
- [47] C.R. Zamecnik, G.M. Sowa, A. Abdelhak, R. Dandekar, R.D. Bair, K.J. Wade, C.M. Bartley, A. Tubati, R. Gomez, C. Fouassier, C. Gerungan, J. Alexander, A.E. Wapniarski, R.P. Loudermilk, E.L. Eggers, K.C. Zorn, K. Ananth, N. Jabassini, S.A. Mann, N.R. Ragan, A. Santaniello, R.G. Henry, S.E. Baranzini, S.S. Zamvil, R.M. Bove, C.Y. Guo, J.M. Gelfand, R. Cuneo, H.C. von Budingen, J.R. Oksenberg, B.A. Cree, J.A. Hollenbach, A.J. Green, S.L. Hauser, M.T. Wallin, J.L. DeRisi, M.R. Wilson, A Predictive Autoantibody Signature in Multiple Sclerosis, medRxiv (2023).
- [48] H. Wekerle, B cells in multiple sclerosis, Autoimmunity 50(1) (2017) 57-60.
- [49] C.F. Lucchinetti, J. Parisi, W. Bruck, The pathology of multiple sclerosis, Neurol Clin 23(1) (2005) 77-105, vi.
- [50] C. Luo, C. Jian, Y. Liao, Q. Huang, Y. Wu, X. Liu, D. Zou, Y. Wu, The role of microglia in multiple sclerosis, Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 13 (2017) 1661-1667.

- [51] S. Zia, K.S. Rawji, N.J. Michaels, M. Burr, B.J. Kerr, L.M. Healy, J.R. Plemel, Microglia Diversity in Health and Multiple Sclerosis, Front Immunol 11 (2020) 588021.
- [52] S. Voet, M. Prinz, G. van Loo, Microglia in Central Nervous System Inflammation and Multiple Sclerosis Pathology, Trends Mol Med 25(2) (2019) 112-123.
- [53] A.M.R. van den Bosch, M. van der Poel, N.L. Fransen, M.C.J. Vincenten, A.M. Bobeldijk, A. Jongejan, H.J. Engelenburg, P.D. Moerland, J. Smolders, I. Huitinga, J. Hamann, Profiling of microglia nodules in multiple sclerosis reveals propensity for lesion formation, Nat Commun 15(1) (2024) 1667.
- [54] V.E. Miron, A. Boyd, J.W. Zhao, T.J. Yuen, J.M. Ruckh, J.L. Shadrach, P. van Wijngaarden, A.J. Wagers, A. Williams, R.J.M. Franklin, C. Ffrench-Constant, M2 microglia and macrophages drive oligodendrocyte differentiation during CNS remyelination, Nat Neurosci 16(9) (2013) 1211-1218.
- [55] M. Absinta, D. Maric, M. Gharagozloo, T. Garton, M.D. Smith, J. Jin, K.C. Fitzgerald, A. Song, P. Liu, J.P. Lin, T. Wu, K.R. Johnson, D.B. McGavern, D.P. Schafer, P.A. Calabresi, D.S. Reich, A lymphocyte-microglia-astrocyte axis in chronic active multiple sclerosis, Nature 597(7878) (2021) 709-714.
- [56] V.W. Yong, Microglia in multiple sclerosis: Protectors turn destroyers, Neuron 110(21) (2022) 3534-3548.
- [57] J. Lee, G. Hamanaka, E.H. Lo, K. Arai, Heterogeneity of microglia and their differential roles in white matter pathology, CNS Neurosci Ther 25(12) (2019) 1290-1298.
- [58] G. Ponath, C. Park, D. Pitt, The Role of Astrocytes in Multiple Sclerosis, Front Immunol 9 (2018) 217.
- [59] R. Aharoni, R. Eilam, R. Arnon, Astrocytes in Multiple Sclerosis-Essential Constituents with Diverse Multifaceted Functions, Int J Mol Sci 22(11) (2021).
- [60] G. Ponath, S. Ramanan, M. Mubarak, W. Housley, S. Lee, F.R. Sahinkaya, A. Vortmeyer, C.S. Raine,
 D. Pitt, Myelin phagocytosis by astrocytes after myelin damage promotes lesion pathology, Brain 140(2) (2017) 399-413.
- [61] R.H. Shih, C.Y. Wang, C.M. Yang, NF-kappaB Signaling Pathways in Neurological Inflammation: A Mini Review, Front Mol Neurosci 8 (2015) 77.
- [62] R. Srinivasan, N. Sailasuta, R. Hurd, S. Nelson, D. Pelletier, Evidence of elevated glutamate in multiple sclerosis using magnetic resonance spectroscopy at 3 T, Brain 128(Pt 5) (2005) 1016-25.
- [63] C.C. Chao, J.R. Lokensgard, W.S. Sheng, S. Hu, P.K. Peterson, IL-1-induced iNOS expression in human astrocytes via NF-kappa B, Neuroreport 8(14) (1997) 3163-6.
- [64] M. Castro Dias, J.A. Mapunda, M. Vladymyrov, B. Engelhardt, Structure and Junctional Complexes of Endothelial, Epithelial and Glial Brain Barriers, Int J Mol Sci 20(21) (2019).
- [65] E. Mills Ko, J.H. Ma, F. Guo, L. Miers, E. Lee, P. Bannerman, T. Burns, D. Ko, J. Sohn, A.M. Soulika, D. Pleasure, Deletion of astroglial CXCL10 delays clinical onset but does not affect progressive axon loss in a murine autoimmune multiple sclerosis model, J Neuroinflammation 11 (2014) 105.
- [66] J. Wang, X. Zhang, L. Mu, M. Zhang, Z. Gao, J. Zhang, X. Yao, C. Liu, G. Wang, D. Wang, Q. Kong, Y. Liu, N. Li, B. Sun, H. Li, t-PA acts as a cytokine to regulate lymphocyte-endothelium adhesion in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, Clin Immunol 152(1-2) (2014) 90-100.
- [67] M.V. Sofroniew, Molecular dissection of reactive astrogliosis and glial scar formation, Trends Neurosci 32(12) (2009) 638-47.
- [68] J. Correale, M.F. Farez, The Role of Astrocytes in Multiple Sclerosis Progression, Front Neurol 6 (2015) 180.

- [69] P.J. Albrecht, J.C. Murtie, J.K. Ness, J.M. Redwine, J.R. Enterline, R.C. Armstrong, S.W. Levison, Astrocytes produce CNTF during the remyelination phase of viral-induced spinal cord demyelination to stimulate FGF-2 production, Neurobiol Dis 13(2) (2003) 89-101.
- [70] V.E. Miron, T. Kuhlmann, J.P. Antel, Cells of the oligodendroglial lineage, myelination, and remyelination, Biochim Biophys Acta 1812(2) (2011) 184-93.
- [71] A.O. Dulamea, The contribution of oligodendrocytes and oligodendrocyte progenitor cells to central nervous system repair in multiple sclerosis: perspectives for remyelination therapeutic strategies, Neural Regen Res 12(12) (2017) 1939-1944.
- [72] B.L.L. Clayton, P.J. Tesar, Oligodendrocyte progenitor cell fate and function in development and disease, Curr Opin Cell Biol 73 (2021) 35-40.
- [73] S.P. Fancy, C. Zhao, R.J. Franklin, Increased expression of Nkx2.2 and Olig2 identifies reactive oligodendrocyte progenitor cells responding to demyelination in the adult CNS, Mol Cell Neurosci 27(3) (2004) 247-54.
- [74] C.C. Stolt, S. Rehberg, M. Ader, P. Lommes, D. Riethmacher, M. Schachner, U. Bartsch, M. Wegner, Terminal differentiation of myelin-forming oligodendrocytes depends on the transcription factor Sox10, Genes Dev 16(2) (2002) 165-70.
- [75] F.J. Sim, C. Zhao, J. Penderis, R.J. Franklin, The age-related decrease in CNS remyelination efficiency is attributable to an impairment of both oligodendrocyte progenitor recruitment and differentiation, J Neurosci 22(7) (2002) 2451-9.
- [76] A. Boyd, H. Zhang, A. Williams, Insufficient OPC migration into demyelinated lesions is a cause of poor remyelination in MS and mouse models, Acta Neuropathol 125(6) (2013) 841-59.
- [77] A. Williams, G. Piaton, M.S. Aigrot, A. Belhadi, M. Theaudin, F. Petermann, J.L. Thomas, B. Zalc,
 C. Lubetzki, Semaphorin 3A and 3F: key players in myelin repair in multiple sclerosis?, Brain 130(Pt 10) (2007) 2554-65.
- [78] R. Bansal, K. Stefansson, S.E. Pfeiffer, Proligodendroblast antigen (POA), a developmental antigen expressed by A007/O4-positive oligodendrocyte progenitors prior to the appearance of sulfatide and galactocerebroside, J Neurochem 58(6) (1992) 2221-9.
- [79] S. Jakel, E. Agirre, A. Mendanha Falcao, D. van Bruggen, K.W. Lee, I. Knuesel, D. Malhotra, C. Ffrench-Constant, A. Williams, G. Castelo-Branco, Altered human oligodendrocyte heterogeneity in multiple sclerosis, Nature 566(7745) (2019) 543-547.
- [80] F. Windener, L. Grewing, C. Thomas, M.F. Dorion, M. Otteken, L. Kular, M. Jagodic, J. Antel, S. Albrecht, T. Kuhlmann, Physiological aging and inflammation-induced cellular senescence may contribute to oligodendroglial dysfunction in MS, Acta Neuropathol 147(1) (2024) 82.
- [81] L. Kular, D. Klose, A. Urdanoz-Casado, E. Ewing, N. Planell, D. Gomez-Cabrero, M. Needhamsen, M. Jagodic, Epigenetic clock indicates accelerated aging in glial cells of progressive multiple sclerosis patients, Front Aging Neurosci 14 (2022) 926468.
- [82] M.D. Hartley, G. Altowaijri, D. Bourdette, Remyelination and multiple sclerosis: therapeutic approaches and challenges, Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 14(10) (2014) 485.
- [83] C.A. Dendrou, L. Fugger, M.A. Friese, Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis, Nat Rev Immunol 15(9) (2015) 545-58.
- [84] K.A. Nave, Myelination and support of axonal integrity by glia, Nature 468(7321) (2010) 244-52.
- [85] M. Filippi, A. Bar-Or, F. Piehl, P. Preziosa, A. Solari, S. Vukusic, M.A. Rocca, Multiple sclerosis, Nat Rev Dis Primers 4(1) (2018) 43.

- [86] H. Lassmann, Pathogenic Mechanisms Associated With Different Clinical Courses of Multiple Sclerosis, Front Immunol 9 (2018) 3116.
- [87] H. Lassmann, Multiple Sclerosis Pathology, Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 8(3) (2018).
- [88] B.J. Hurwitz, The diagnosis of multiple sclerosis and the clinical subtypes, Ann Indian Acad Neurol 12(4) (2009) 226-30.
- [89] F.D. Lublin, S.C. Reingold, J.A. Cohen, G.R. Cutter, P.S. Sorensen, A.J. Thompson, J.S. Wolinsky, L.J. Balcer, B. Banwell, F. Barkhof, B. Bebo, Jr., P.A. Calabresi, M. Clanet, G. Comi, R.J. Fox, M.S. Freedman, A.D. Goodman, M. Inglese, L. Kappos, B.C. Kieseier, J.A. Lincoln, C. Lubetzki, A.E. Miller, X. Montalban, P.W. O'Connor, J. Petkau, C. Pozzilli, R.A. Rudick, M.P. Sormani, O. Stuve, E. Waubant, C.H. Polman, Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions, Neurology 83(3) (2014) 278-86.
- [90] W.J. Brownlee, D.H. Miller, Clinically isolated syndromes and the relationship to multiple sclerosis, J Clin Neurosci 21(12) (2014) 2065-71.
- [91] J.W.L. Brown, A. Coles, D. Horakova, E. Havrdova, G. Izquierdo, A. Prat, M. Girard, P. Duquette, M. Trojano, A. Lugaresi, R. Bergamaschi, P. Grammond, R. Alroughani, R. Hupperts, P. McCombe, V. Van Pesch, P. Sola, D. Ferraro, F. Grand'Maison, M. Terzi, J. Lechner-Scott, S. Flechter, M. Slee, V. Shaygannejad, E. Pucci, F. Granella, V. Jokubaitis, M. Willis, C. Rice, N. Scolding, A. Wilkins, O.R. Pearson, T. Ziemssen, M. Hutchinson, K. Harding, J. Jones, C. McGuigan, H. Butzkueven, T. Kalincik, N. Robertson, M.S.S. Group, Association of Initial Disease-Modifying Therapy With Later Conversion to Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis, JAMA 321(2) (2019) 175-187.
- [92] N. Koch-Henriksen, M. Magyari, Apparent changes in the epidemiology and severity of multiple sclerosis, Nat Rev Neurol 17(11) (2021) 676-688.
- [93] R. Capra, C. Cordioli, S. Rasia, F. Gallo, A. Signori, M.P. Sormani, Assessing long-term prognosis improvement as a consequence of treatment pattern changes in MS, Mult Scler 23(13) (2017) 1757-1761.
- [94] N.M.S. Society, Managing Relapses in Multiple Sclerosis. <u>https://www.nationalmssociety.org/managing-ms/treating-ms/managing-relapses</u>. (Accessed 06 June 2024.
- [95] C. Ramo-Tello, Y. Blanco, L. Brieva, B. Casanova, E. Martinez-Caceres, D. Ontaneda, L. Ramio-Torrenta, A. Rovira, Recommendations for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Multiple Sclerosis Relapses, J Pers Med 12(1) (2021).
- [96] S.L. Hauser, B.A.C. Cree, Treatment of Multiple Sclerosis: A Review, Am J Med 133(12) (2020) 1380-1390 e2.
- [97] D.M. Wingerchuk, B.G. Weinshenker, Disease modifying therapies for relapsing multiple sclerosis, BMJ 354 (2016) i3518.
- [98] X. Montalban, S.L. Hauser, L. Kappos, D.L. Arnold, A. Bar-Or, G. Comi, J. de Seze, G. Giovannoni, H.P. Hartung, B. Hemmer, F. Lublin, K.W. Rammohan, K. Selmaj, A. Traboulsee, A. Sauter, D. Masterman, P. Fontoura, S. Belachew, H. Garren, N. Mairon, P. Chin, J.S. Wolinsky, O.C. Investigators, Ocrelizumab versus Placebo in Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis, N Engl J Med 376(3) (2017) 209-220.
- [99] G. Fenu, L. Lorefice, F. Frau, G.C. Coghe, M.G. Marrosu, E. Cocco, Induction and escalation therapies in multiple sclerosis, Antiinflamm Antiallergy Agents Med Chem 14(1) (2015) 26-34.
- [100] C.R. Strader, C.J. Pearce, N.H. Oberlies, Fingolimod (FTY720): a recently approved multiple sclerosis drug based on a fungal secondary metabolite, J Nat Prod 74(4) (2011) 900-7.

- [101] L.J. Scott, Siponimod: A Review in Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis, CNS Drugs 34(11) (2020) 1191-1200.
- [102] Y.N. Lamb, Ozanimod: First Approval, Drugs 80(8) (2020) 841-848.
- [103] A. Markham, Ponesimod: First Approval, Drugs 81(8) (2021) 957-962.
- [104] S. Dhib-Jalbut, Glatiramer acetate (Copaxone) therapy for multiple sclerosis, Pharmacol Ther 98(2) (2003) 245-55.
- [105] C. Kang, H.A. Blair, Ofatumumab: A Review in Relapsing Forms of Multiple Sclerosis, Drugs 82(1) (2022) 55-62.
- [106] Y.Y. Syed, Ocrelizumab: A Review in Multiple Sclerosis, CNS Drugs 32(9) (2018) 883-890.
- [107] E.J. Fox, Mechanism of action of mitoxantrone, Neurology 63(12 Suppl 6) (2004) S15-8.
- [108] L.J. Scott, D.P. Figgitt, Mitoxantrone: a review of its use in multiple sclerosis, CNS Drugs 18(6) (2004) 379-96.
- [109] H.M. Vesterinen, E.S. Sena, C. ffrench-Constant, A. Williams, S. Chandran, M.R. Macleod, Improving the translational hit of experimental treatments in multiple sclerosis, Mult Scler 16(9) (2010) 1044-55.
- [110] B.J. van der Star, D.Y. Vogel, M. Kipp, F. Puentes, D. Baker, S. Amor, In vitro and in vivo models of multiple sclerosis, CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 11(5) (2012) 570-88.
- [111] A.M. Soulika, E. Lee, E. McCauley, L. Miers, P. Bannerman, D. Pleasure, Initiation and progression of axonopathy in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, J Neurosci 29(47) (2009) 14965-79.
- [112] I. Tsunoda, R.S. Fujinami, Neuropathogenesis of Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus infection, an animal model for multiple sclerosis, J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 5(3) (2010) 355-69.
- [113] I. Tsunoda, R.S. Fujinami, Two models for multiple sclerosis: experimental allergic encephalomyelitis and Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus, J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 55(6) (1996) 673-86.
- [114] J.R. Plemel, N.J. Michaels, N. Weishaupt, A.V. Caprariello, M.B. Keough, J.A. Rogers, A. Yukseloglu, J. Lim, V.V. Patel, K.S. Rawji, S.K. Jensen, W. Teo, B. Heyne, S.N. Whitehead, P.K. Stys, V.W. Yong, Mechanisms of lysophosphatidylcholine-induced demyelination: A primary lipid disrupting myelinopathy, Glia 66(2) (2018) 327-347.
- [115] W.F. Blakemore, R.J. Franklin, Remyelination in experimental models of toxin-induced demyelination, Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 318 (2008) 193-212.
- [116] O. Torkildsen, L.A. Brunborg, K.M. Myhr, L. Bo, The cuprizone model for demyelination, Acta Neurol Scand Suppl 188 (2008) 72-6.
- [117] P.A. Muraro, R. Martin, G.L. Mancardi, R. Nicholas, M.P. Sormani, R. Saccardi, Autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation for treatment of multiple sclerosis, Nat Rev Neurol 13(7) (2017) 391-405.
- [118] A.E. Miller, T. Chitnis, B.A. Cohen, K. Costello, N.L. Sicotte, R. Stacom, S. National Medical Advisory Committee of the National Multiple Sclerosis, Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant in Multiple Sclerosis: Recommendations of the National Multiple Sclerosis Society, JAMA Neurol 78(2) (2021) 241-246.
- [119] T. Silfverberg, C. Zjukovskaja, P. Ljungman, A. Nahimi, E. Ahlstrand, A. Dreimane, S. Einarsdottir, J. Fagius, E. Iacobaeus, H. Hagglund, N. Lange, S. Lenhoff, J. Lycke, J. Mellergard, F. Piehl, A. Svenningsson, A. Tolf, H. Cherif, K. Carlson, J. Burman, Haematopoietic stem cell transplantation

for treatment of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis in Sweden: an observational cohort study, J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 95(2) (2024) 125-133.

- [120] R.K. Burt, R. Balabanov, X. Han, C. Burns, J. Gastala, B. Jovanovic, I. Helenowski, J. Jitprapaikulsan, J.P. Fryer, S.J. Pittock, Autologous nonmyeloablative hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for neuromyelitis optica, Neurology 93(18) (2019) e1732-e1741.
- [121] F. Nabizadeh, K. Pirahesh, N. Rafiei, F. Afrashteh, M.A. Ahmadabad, A. Zabeti, O. Mirmosayyeb, Autologous Hematopoietic Stem-Cell Transplantation in Multiple Sclerosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis, Neurol Ther 11(4) (2022) 1553-1569.
- [122] C.E. Kvistad, A.K. Lehmann, S.A.S. Kvistad, T. Holmoy, A.R. Lorentzen, L.H. Trovik, E.K. Kristoffersen, L. Bo, O. Torkildsen, Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for multiple sclerosis: Long-term follow-up data from Norway, Mult Scler 30(6) (2024) 751-754.
- [123] F. Jespersen, S.L. Petersen, P. Andersen, F. Sellebjerg, M. Magyari, P.S. Sorensen, M. Blinkenberg, Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation of patients with aggressive relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis: Danish nation-wide experience, Mult Scler Relat Disord 76 (2023) 104829.
- [124] A. Gugliandolo, P. Bramanti, E. Mazzon, Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Multiple Sclerosis: Recent Evidence from Pre-Clinical to Clinical Studies, Int J Mol Sci 21(22) (2020).
- [125] A. Alanazi, M. Alassiri, D. Jawdat, Y. Almalik, Mesenchymal stem cell therapy: A review of clinical trials for multiple sclerosis, Regen Ther 21 (2022) 201-209.
- [126] S.M. Nabavi, S. Karimi, L. Arab, N. Aghdami, N. Joghtaei, S. Maroufizadeh, N. Jarooghi, T. Bolurieh, F. Abbasi, S. Mardpour, V. Azimyian, F. Moeininia, L. Sanjari, S.E. Hosseini, M. Vosough, Intravenous transplantation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in patients with multiple sclerosis, a phase I/IIa, double blind, randomized controlled study, Mult Scler Relat Disord 78 (2023) 104895.
- [127] A. Uccelli, A. Laroni, R. Ali, M.A. Battaglia, M. Blinkenberg, L. Brundin, M. Clanet, O. Fernandez, J. Marriot, P. Muraro, S.M. Nabavi, R.S. Oliveri, E. Radue, C. Ramo Tello, I. Schiavetti, J. Sellner, P.S. Sorensen, M.P. Sormani, J.T. Wuerfel, M.S. Freedman, M. investigators, Safety, tolerability, and activity of mesenchymal stem cells versus placebo in multiple sclerosis (MESEMS): a phase 2, randomised, double-blind crossover trial, Lancet Neurol 20(11) (2021) 917-929.
- [128] F. Jamali, M. Aldughmi, S. Atiani, A. Al-Radaideh, S. Dahbour, D. Alhattab, H. Khwaireh, S. Arafat, J.A. Jaghbeer, R. Rahmeh, K. Abu Moshref, H. Bawaneh, M.R. Hassuneh, B. Hourani, O. Ababneh, A. Alghwiri, A. Awidi, Human Umbilical Cord-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Treatment of Multiple Sclerosis Patients: Phase I/II Dose-Finding Clinical Study, Cell Transplant 33 (2024) 9636897241233045.
- [129] P. Petrou, I. Kassis, N. Levin, F. Paul, Y. Backner, T. Benoliel, F.C. Oertel, M. Scheel, M. Hallimi, N. Yaghmour, T.B. Hur, A. Ginzberg, Y. Levy, O. Abramsky, D. Karussis, Beneficial effects of autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in active progressive multiple sclerosis, Brain 143(12) (2020) 3574-3588.
- [130] P. Petrou, I. Kassis, A. Ginzberg, M. Halimi, N. Yaghmour, O. Abramsky, D. Karussis, Long-Term Clinical and Immunological Effects of Repeated Mesenchymal Stem Cell Injections in Patients With Progressive Forms of Multiple Sclerosis, Front Neurol 12 (2021) 639315.
- [131] P. Petrou, I. Kassis, A. Ginzberg, M. Hallimi, D. Karussis, Effects of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Transplantation on Cerebrospinal Fluid Biomarkers in Progressive Multiple Sclerosis, Stem Cells Transl Med 11(1) (2022) 55-58.
- [132] M. Amin, C.M. Hersh, Updates and advances in multiple sclerosis neurotherapeutics, Neurodegener Dis Manag 13(1) (2023) 47-70.

- [133] P. Gottle, M. Forster, J. Gruchot, D. Kremer, H.P. Hartung, H. Perron, P. Kury, Rescuing the negative impact of human endogenous retrovirus envelope protein on oligodendroglial differentiation and myelination, Glia 67(1) (2019) 160-170.
- [134] H.P. Hartung, T. Derfuss, B.A. Cree, M.P. Sormani, K. Selmaj, J. Stutters, F. Prados, D. MacManus, H.M. Schneble, E. Lambert, H. Porchet, R. Glanzman, D. Warne, F. Curtin, G. Kornmann, B. Buffet, D. Kremer, P. Kury, D. Leppert, T. Ruckle, F. Barkhof, Efficacy and safety of temelimab in multiple sclerosis: Results of a randomized phase 2b and extension study, Mult Scler 28(3) (2022) 429-440.
- [135] C.J. Schwartzbach, R.A. Grove, R. Brown, D. Tompson, F. Then Bergh, D.L. Arnold, Lesion remyelinating activity of GSK239512 versus placebo in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a randomised, single-blind, phase II study, J Neurol 264(2) (2017) 304-315.
- [136] J.W.L. Brown, N.G. Cunniffe, F. Prados, B. Kanber, J.L. Jones, E. Needham, Z. Georgieva, D. Rog, O.R. Pearson, J. Overell, D. MacManus, R.S. Samson, J. Stutters, C. Ffrench-Constant, C.A.M. Gandini Wheeler-Kingshott, C. Moran, P.D. Flynn, A.W. Michell, R.J.M. Franklin, S. Chandran, D.R. Altmann, D.T. Chard, P. Connick, A.J. Coles, Safety and efficacy of bexarotene in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (CCMR One): a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, parallel-group, phase 2a study, Lancet Neurol 20(9) (2021) 709-720.
- [137] J.W.L. Brown, F. Prados, D.R. Altmann, B. Kanber, J. Stutters, N.G. Cunniffe, J.L. Jones, Z.G. Georgieva, E.J. Needham, C. Daruwalla, C.G. Wheeler-Kingshott, P. Connick, S. Chandran, R. Franklin, D. MacManus, R. Samson, A. Coles, D. Chard, Remyelination varies between and within lesions in multiple sclerosis following bexarotene, Ann Clin Transl Neurol 9(10) (2022) 1626-1642.
- [138] S.M. Ibrahim, A.S. Kamel, K.A. Ahmed, R.A. Mohammed, R.M. Essam, The preferential effect of Clemastine on F3/Contactin-1/Notch-1 compared to Jagged-1/Notch-1 justifies its remyelinating effect in an experimental model of multiple sclerosis in rats, Int Immunopharmacol 128 (2024) 111481.
- [139] A.J. Green, J.M. Gelfand, B.A. Cree, C. Bevan, W.J. Boscardin, F. Mei, J. Inman, S. Arnow, M. Devereux, A. Abounasr, H. Nobuta, A. Zhu, M. Friessen, R. Gerona, H.C. von Budingen, R.G. Henry, S.L. Hauser, J.R. Chan, Clemastine fumarate as a remyelinating therapy for multiple sclerosis (ReBUILD): a randomised, controlled, double-blind, crossover trial, Lancet 390(10111) (2017) 2481-2489.
- [140] N. Cunniffe, A. Coles, Promoting remyelination in multiple sclerosis, J Neurol 268(1) (2021) 30-44.
- [141] Y. Zhang, W.Q. Liu, Z. Hosseinpour, G.B. Pike, G. Cerchiaro, J. Greenfield, V.W. Yong, L.M. Metz, Feasibility study to assess lesion repair in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: A randomized controlled pilot clinical trial of domperidone add-on treatment, Mult Scler Relat Disord 85 (2024) 105525.
- [142] M.W. Koch, K. Sage, S. Kaur, J. Kim, G. Cerchiaro, V.W. Yong, G.R. Cutter, L.M. Metz, Repurposing Domperidone in Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis: A Simon 2-Stage Phase 2 Futility Trial, Neurology 96(18) (2021) e2313-e2322.
- [143] K.A. Rankin, F. Mei, K. Kim, Y.A. Shen, S.R. Mayoral, C. Desponts, D.S. Lorrain, A.J. Green, S.E. Baranzini, J.R. Chan, R. Bove, Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators Enhance CNS Remyelination Independent of Estrogen Receptors, J Neurosci 39(12) (2019) 2184-2194.
- [144] A. Nylander, A. Anderson, W. Rowles, S. Hsu, A.A. Lazar, S.R. Mayoral, S.E. Pease-Raissi, A. Green, R. Bove, Re-WRAP (Remyelination for women at risk of axonal loss and progression): A phase II randomized placebo-controlled delayed-start trial of bazedoxifene for myelin repair in multiple sclerosis, Contemp Clin Trials 134 (2023) 107333.

- [145] M. Fatt, K. Hsu, L. He, F. Wondisford, F.D. Miller, D.R. Kaplan, J. Wang, Metformin Acts on Two Different Molecular Pathways to Enhance Adult Neural Precursor Proliferation/Self-Renewal and Differentiation, Stem Cell Reports 5(6) (2015) 988-995.
- [146] A. Dziedzic, J. Saluk-Bijak, E. Miller, M. Bijak, Metformin as a Potential Agent in the Treatment of Multiple Sclerosis, Int J Mol Sci 21(17) (2020).
- [147] Y. Kamen, K.A. Evans, S. Sitnikov, S.O. Spitzer, O. de Faria, Jr., M. Yucel, R.T. Karadottir, Clemastine and metformin extend the window of NMDA receptor surface expression in ageing oligodendrocyte precursor cells, Sci Rep 14(1) (2024) 4091.
- [148] S. Jiang, X. Wang, T. Cao, R. Kang, L. Huang, Insights on therapeutic potential of clemastine in neurological disorders, Front Mol Neurosci 16 (2023) 1279985.
- [149] A.V. De Keersmaecker, E. Van Doninck, V. Popescu, L. Willem, M. Cambron, G. Laureys, D.H. M, M. Bjerke, E. Roelant, M. Lemmerling, B. D'Hooghe M, J. Derdelinckx, T. Reynders, B. Willekens, A metformin add-on clinical study in multiple sclerosis to evaluate brain remyelination and neurodegeneration (MACSiMiSE-BRAIN): study protocol for a multi-center randomized placebo controlled clinical trial, Front Immunol 15 (2024) 1362629.
- [150] F.J. Najm, M. Madhavan, A. Zaremba, E. Shick, R.T. Karl, D.C. Factor, T.E. Miller, Z.S. Nevin, C. Kantor, A. Sargent, K.L. Quick, D.M. Schlatzer, H. Tang, R. Papoian, K.R. Brimacombe, M. Shen, M.B. Boxer, A. Jadhav, A.P. Robinson, J.R. Podojil, S.D. Miller, R.H. Miller, P.J. Tesar, Drug-based modulation of endogenous stem cells promotes functional remyelination in vivo, Nature 522(7555) (2015) 216-20.
- [151] S.D. Newsome, F. Tian, T. Shoemaker, K.C. Fitzgerald, S.D. Cassard, J. Fiol, S. Snoops, D.S. Cooper, J.S.R. Mammen, P. Bhargava, E.M. Mowry, P.A. Calabresi, A Phase 1b, Open-Label Study to Evaluate the Safety and Tolerability of the Putative Remyelinating Agent, Liothyronine, in Individuals with MS, Neurotherapeutics 20(5) (2023) 1263-1274.
- [152] G.A. Gonzalez, M.P. Hofer, Y.A. Syed, A.I. Amaral, J. Rundle, S. Rahman, C. Zhao, M.R.N. Kotter, Tamoxifen accelerates the repair of demyelinated lesions in the central nervous system, Sci Rep 6 (2016) 31599.
- [153] X. Su, H. Yuan, Y. Bai, J. Chen, M. Sui, X. Zhang, Y. Liang, W. Feng, Z. Dou, H. Zhu, Clobetasol Attenuates White Matter Injury by Promoting Oligodendrocyte Precursor Cell Differentiation, Pediatr Neurosurg 55(4) (2020) 188-196.
- [154] C.G. Jung, H.J. Kim, V.E. Miron, S. Cook, T.E. Kennedy, C.A. Foster, J.P. Antel, B. Soliven, Functional consequences of S1P receptor modulation in rat oligodendroglial lineage cells, Glia 55(16) (2007) 1656-67.
- [155] C. O'Sullivan, A. Schubart, A.K. Mir, K.K. Dev, The dual S1PR1/S1PR5 drug BAF312 (Siponimod) attenuates demyelination in organotypic slice cultures, J Neuroinflammation 13 (2016) 31.
- [156] E.S. Vasileiou, K.C. Fitzgerald, Multiple Sclerosis Pathogenesis and Updates in Targeted Therapeutic Approaches, Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 23(9) (2023) 481-496.
- [157] M. Aoki, H. Aoki, R. Ramanathan, N.C. Hait, K. Takabe, Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Signaling in Immune Cells and Inflammation: Roles and Therapeutic Potential, Mediators Inflamm 2016 (2016) 8606878.
- [158] H. Nishimura, T. Akiyama, I. Irei, S. Hamazaki, Y. Sadahira, Cellular localization of sphingosine-1phosphate receptor 1 expression in the human central nervous system, J Histochem Cytochem 58(9) (2010) 847-56.

- [159] G. Comi, H.P. Hartung, R. Bakshi, I.M. Williams, H. Wiendl, Benefit-Risk Profile of Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Receptor Modulators in Relapsing and Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis, Drugs 77(16) (2017) 1755-1768.
- [160] A. Roggeri, M. Schepers, A. Tiane, B. Rombaut, L. van Veggel, N. Hellings, J. Prickaerts, A. Pittaluga, T. Vanmierlo, Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Receptor Modulators and Oligodendroglial Cells: Beyond Immunomodulation, Int J Mol Sci 21(20) (2020).
- [161] V.A. Blaho, T. Hla, An update on the biology of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors, J Lipid Res 55(8) (2014) 1596-608.
- [162] G.A. Bravo, R.R. Cedeno, M.P. Casadevall, L. Ramio-Torrenta, Sphingosine-1-Phosphate (S1P) and S1P Signaling Pathway Modulators, from Current Insights to Future Perspectives, Cells 11(13) (2022).
- [163] J.A. Cohen, J. Chun, Mechanisms of fingolimod's efficacy and adverse effects in multiple sclerosis, Ann Neurol 69(5) (2011) 759-77.
- [164] A.M. Subei, J.A. Cohen, Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulators in multiple sclerosis, CNS Drugs 29(7) (2015) 565-75.
- [165] J.C. Martinez-Morales, M.T. Romero-Avila, G. Reyes-Cruz, J.A. Garcia-Sainz, S1P(1) receptor phosphorylation, internalization, and interaction with Rab proteins: effects of sphingosine 1phosphate, FTY720-P, phorbol esters, and paroxetine, Biosci Rep 38(6) (2018).
- [166] J. Chun, G. Giovannoni, S.F. Hunter, Sphingosine 1-phosphate Receptor Modulator Therapy for Multiple Sclerosis: Differential Downstream Receptor Signalling and Clinical Profile Effects, Drugs 81(2) (2021) 207-231.
- [167] V. Brinkmann, J.G. Cyster, T. Hla, FTY720: sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor-1 in the control of lymphocyte egress and endothelial barrier function, Am J Transplant 4(7) (2004) 1019-25.
- [168] S.R. Schwab, J.G. Cyster, Finding a way out: lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs, Nat Immunol 8(12) (2007) 1295-301.
- [169] M. Matloubian, C.G. Lo, G. Cinamon, M.J. Lesneski, Y. Xu, V. Brinkmann, M.L. Allende, R.L. Proia, J.G. Cyster, Lymphocyte egress from thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs is dependent on S1P receptor 1, Nature 427(6972) (2004) 355-60.
- [170] J. Chun, H.P. Hartung, Mechanism of action of oral fingolimod (FTY720) in multiple sclerosis, Clin Neuropharmacol 33(2) (2010) 91-101.
- [171] F. Mullershausen, F. Zecri, C. Cetin, A. Billich, D. Guerini, K. Seuwen, Persistent signaling induced by FTY720-phosphate is mediated by internalized S1P1 receptors, Nat Chem Biol 5(6) (2009) 428-34.
- [172] N.J. Pyne, S. Pyne, Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Receptor 1 Signaling in Mammalian Cells, Molecules 22(3) (2017).
- [173] K. Budde, L.S. R, B. Nashan, R. Brunkhorst, W.L. P, T. Mayer, L. Brookman, J. Nedelman, A. Skerjanec, T. Bohler, H.H. Neumayer, Pharmacodynamics of single doses of the novel immunosuppressant FTY720 in stable renal transplant patients, Am J Transplant 3(7) (2003) 846-54.
- [174] Y. Yanagawa, Y. Masubuchi, K. Chiba, FTY720, a novel immunosuppressant, induces sequestration of circulating mature lymphocytes by acceleration of lymphocyte homing in rats, III. Increase in frequency of CD62L-positive T cells in Peyer's patches by FTY720-induced lymphocyte homing, Immunology 95(4) (1998) 591-4.

- [175] M. Mehling, V. Brinkmann, J. Antel, A. Bar-Or, N. Goebels, C. Vedrine, C. Kristofic, J. Kuhle, R.L. Lindberg, L. Kappos, FTY720 therapy exerts differential effects on T cell subsets in multiple sclerosis, Neurology 71(16) (2008) 1261-7.
- [176] M. Ocwieja, K. Meiser, O.J. David, J. Valencia, F. Wagner, S.J. Schreiber, U. Pleyer, S. Ziemer, R. Schmouder, Effect of fingolimod (FTY720) on cerebral blood flow, platelet function and macular thickness in healthy volunteers, Br J Clin Pharmacol 78(6) (2014) 1354-65.
- [177] P. Gergely, B. Nuesslein-Hildesheim, D. Guerini, V. Brinkmann, M. Traebert, C. Bruns, S. Pan, N.S. Gray, K. Hinterding, N.G. Cooke, A. Groenewegen, A. Vitaliti, T. Sing, O. Luttringer, J. Yang, A. Gardin, N. Wang, W.J. Crumb, Jr., M. Saltzman, M. Rosenberg, E. Wallstrom, The selective sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulator BAF312 redirects lymphocyte distribution and has species-specific effects on heart rate, Br J Pharmacol 167(5) (2012) 1035-47.
- [178] E. Legangneux, A. Gardin, D. Johns, Dose titration of BAF312 attenuates the initial heart rate reducing effect in healthy subjects, Br J Clin Pharmacol 75(3) (2013) 831-41.
- [179] M. Kipp, Does Siponimod Exert Direct Effects in the Central Nervous System?, Cells 9(8) (2020).
- [180] S.L. Cohan, R.H.B. Benedict, B.A.C. Cree, J. DeLuca, L.H. Hua, J. Chun, The Two Sides of Siponimod: Evidence for Brain and Immune Mechanisms in Multiple Sclerosis, CNS Drugs 36(7) (2022) 703-719.
- [181] V.E. Miron, J.A. Hall, T.E. Kennedy, B. Soliven, J.P. Antel, Cyclical and dose-dependent responses of adult human mature oligodendrocytes to fingolimod, Am J Pathol 173(4) (2008) 1143-52.
- [182] T. Okada, T. Kajimoto, S. Jahangeer, S. Nakamura, Sphingosine kinase/sphingosine 1-phosphate signalling in central nervous system, Cell Signal 21(1) (2009) 7-13.
- [183] D.E. Dukala, B. Soliven, S1P1 deletion in oligodendroglial lineage cells: Effect on differentiation and myelination, Glia 64(4) (2016) 570-82.
- [184] H.J. Kim, V.E. Miron, D. Dukala, R.L. Proia, S.K. Ludwin, M. Traka, J.P. Antel, B. Soliven, Neurobiological effects of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulation in the cuprizone model, FASEB J 25(5) (2011) 1509-18.
- [185] C. Jaillard, S. Harrison, B. Stankoff, M.S. Aigrot, A.R. Calver, G. Duddy, F.S. Walsh, M.N. Pangalos, N. Arimura, K. Kaibuchi, B. Zalc, C. Lubetzki, Edg8/S1P5: an oligodendroglial receptor with dual function on process retraction and cell survival, J Neurosci 25(6) (2005) 1459-69.
- [186] A.S. Novgorodov, M. El-Alwani, J. Bielawski, L.M. Obeid, T.I. Gudz, Activation of sphingosine-1phosphate receptor S1P5 inhibits oligodendrocyte progenitor migration, FASEB J 21(7) (2007) 1503-14.
- [187] M. Dietrich, C. Hecker, E. Martin, D. Langui, M. Gliem, B. Stankoff, C. Lubetzki, J. Gruchot, P. Gottle, A. Issberner, M. Nasiri, P. Ramseier, C. Beerli, S. Tisserand, N. Beckmann, D. Shimshek, P. Petzsch, D. Akbar, B. Levkau, H. Stark, K. Kohrer, H.P. Hartung, P. Kury, S.G. Meuth, M. Bigaud, B. Zalc, P. Albrecht, Increased Remyelination and Proregenerative Microglia Under Siponimod Therapy in Mechanistic Models, Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm 9(3) (2022).
- [188] R. van Doorn, M.A. Lopes Pinheiro, G. Kooij, K. Lakeman, B. van het Hof, S.M. van der Pol, D. Geerts, J. van Horssen, P. van der Valk, E. van der Kam, E. Ronken, A. Reijerkerk, H.E. de Vries, Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 5 mediates the immune quiescence of the human brain endothelial barrier, J Neuroinflammation 9 (2012) 133.
- [189] K. Yasuda, T. Maki, S. Saito, Y. Yamamoto, H. Kinoshita, Y.K. Choi, T.V. Arumugam, Y.A. Lim, C.L.H. Chen, P.T. Wong, M. Ihara, R. Takahashi, Effect of fingolimod on oligodendrocyte maturation under prolonged cerebral hypoperfusion, Brain Res 1720 (2019) 146294.

- [190] V.E. Miron, C.G. Jung, H.J. Kim, T.E. Kennedy, B. Soliven, J.P. Antel, FTY720 modulates human oligodendrocyte progenitor process extension and survival, Ann Neurol 63(1) (2008) 61-71.
- [191] A.E. Nystad, R.R. Lereim, S. Wergeland, E. Oveland, K.M. Myhr, L. Bo, O. Torkildsen, Fingolimod downregulates brain sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 levels but does not promote remyelination or neuroprotection in the cuprizone model, J Neuroimmunol 339 (2020) 577091.
- [192] A. Slowik, T. Schmidt, C. Beyer, S. Amor, T. Clarner, M. Kipp, The sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor agonist FTY720 is neuroprotective after cuprizone-induced CNS demyelination, Br J Pharmacol 172(1) (2015) 80-92.
- [193] S. Kim, J. Bielawski, H. Yang, Y. Kong, B. Zhou, J. Li, Functional antagonism of sphingosine-1phosphate receptor 1 prevents cuprizone-induced demyelination, Glia 66(3) (2018) 654-669.
- [194] J. Zhang, Z.G. Zhang, Y. Li, X. Ding, X. Shang, M. Lu, S.B. Elias, M. Chopp, Fingolimod treatment promotes proliferation and differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells in mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, Neurobiol Dis 76 (2015) 57-66.
- [195] A. Yazdi, H. Baharvand, M. Javan, Enhanced remyelination following lysolecithin-induced demyelination in mice under treatment with fingolimod (FTY720), Neuroscience 311 (2015) 34-44.
- [196] S.J. Jackson, G. Giovannoni, D. Baker, Fingolimod modulates microglial activation to augment markers of remyelination, J Neuroinflammation 8 (2011) 76.
- [197] M. Bigaud, B. Rudolph, E. Briard, C. Beerli, A. Hofmann, E. Hermes, F. Muellershausen, A. Schubart, A. Gardin, Siponimod (BAF312) penetrates, distributes, and acts in the central nervous system: Preclinical insights, Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin 7(4) (2021) 20552173211049168.
- [198] A. Mannioui, Q. Vauzanges, J.B. Fini, E. Henriet, S. Sekizar, L. Azoyan, J.L. Thomas, D.D. Pasquier, C. Giovannangeli, B. Demeneix, C. Lubetzki, B. Zalc, The Xenopus tadpole: An in vivo model to screen drugs favoring remyelination, Mult Scler 24(11) (2018) 1421-1432.
- [199] R. Van Doorn, J. Van Horssen, D. Verzijl, M. Witte, E. Ronken, B. Van Het Hof, K. Lakeman, C.D. Dijkstra, P. Van Der Valk, A. Reijerkerk, A.E. Alewijnse, S.L. Peters, H.E. De Vries, Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 and 3 are upregulated in multiple sclerosis lesions, Glia 58(12) (2010) 1465-76.
- [200] J.W. Choi, S.E. Gardell, D.R. Herr, R. Rivera, C.W. Lee, K. Noguchi, S.T. Teo, Y.C. Yung, M. Lu, G. Kennedy, J. Chun, FTY720 (fingolimod) efficacy in an animal model of multiple sclerosis requires astrocyte sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 (S1P1) modulation, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(2) (2011) 751-6.
- [201] P.A. Smith, C. Schmid, S. Zurbruegg, M. Jivkov, A. Doelemeyer, D. Theil, V. Dubost, N. Beckmann, Fingolimod inhibits brain atrophy and promotes brain-derived neurotrophic factor in an animal model of multiple sclerosis, J Neuroimmunol 318 (2018) 103-113.
- [202] R. Deogracias, M. Yazdani, M.P. Dekkers, J. Guy, M.C. Ionescu, K.E. Vogt, Y.A. Barde, Fingolimod, a sphingosine-1 phosphate receptor modulator, increases BDNF levels and improves symptoms of a mouse model of Rett syndrome, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(35) (2012) 14230-5.
- [203] F.S. Hoffmann, J. Hofereiter, H. Rubsamen, J. Melms, S. Schwarz, H. Faber, P. Weber, B. Putz, V. Loleit, F. Weber, R. Hohlfeld, E. Meinl, M. Krumbholz, Fingolimod induces neuroprotective factors in human astrocytes, J Neuroinflammation 12 (2015) 184.
- [204] V. Rothhammer, J.E. Kenison, E. Tjon, M.C. Takenaka, K.A. de Lima, D.M. Borucki, C.C. Chao, A. Wilz, M. Blain, L. Healy, J. Antel, F.J. Quintana, Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulation suppresses pathogenic astrocyte activation and chronic progressive CNS inflammation, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114(8) (2017) 2012-2017.

- [205] S.F. Spampinato, B. Obermeier, A. Cotleur, A. Love, Y. Takeshita, Y. Sano, T. Kanda, R.M. Ransohoff, Sphingosine 1 Phosphate at the Blood Brain Barrier: Can the Modulation of S1P Receptor 1 Influence the Response of Endothelial Cells and Astrocytes to Inflammatory Stimuli?, PLoS One 10(7) (2015) e0133392.
- [206] F. Mullershausen, L.M. Craveiro, Y. Shin, M. Cortes-Cros, F. Bassilana, M. Osinde, W.L. Wishart, D. Guerini, M. Thallmair, M.E. Schwab, R. Sivasankaran, K. Seuwen, K.K. Dev, Phosphorylated FTY720 promotes astrocyte migration through sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors, J Neurochem 102(4) (2007) 1151-61.
- [207] M.R. Vargas, J.A. Johnson, The Nrf2-ARE cytoprotective pathway in astrocytes, Expert Rev Mol Med 11 (2009) e17.
- [208] E. Colombo, C. Bassani, A. De Angelis, F. Ruffini, L. Ottoboni, G. Comi, G. Martino, C. Farina, Siponimod (BAF312) Activates Nrf2 While Hampering NFkappaB in Human Astrocytes, and Protects From Astrocyte-Induced Neurodegeneration, Front Immunol 11 (2020) 635.
- [209] A. Gentile, A. Musella, S. Bullitta, D. Fresegna, F. De Vito, R. Fantozzi, E. Piras, F. Gargano, G. Borsellino, L. Battistini, A. Schubart, G. Mandolesi, D. Centonze, Siponimod (BAF312) prevents synaptic neurodegeneration in experimental multiple sclerosis, J Neuroinflammation 13(1) (2016) 207.
- [210] P. Hundehege, M. Cerina, S. Eichler, C. Thomas, A.M. Herrmann, K. Gobel, T. Muntefering, J. Fernandez-Orth, S. Bock, V. Narayanan, T. Budde, E.J. Speckmann, H. Wiendl, A. Schubart, T. Ruck, S.G. Meuth, The next-generation sphingosine-1 receptor modulator BAF312 (siponimod) improves cortical network functionality in focal autoimmune encephalomyelitis, Neural Regen Res 14(11) (2019) 1950-1960.
- [211] S. Cuzzocrea, T. Doyle, M. Campolo, I. Paterniti, E. Esposito, S.A. Farr, D. Salvemini, Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Receptor Subtype 1 as a Therapeutic Target for Brain Trauma, J Neurotrauma 35(13) (2018) 1452-1466.
- [212] S.F. Spampinato, S. Merlo, Y. Sano, T. Kanda, M.A. Sortino, Protective effect of the sphingosine-1 phosphate receptor agonist siponimod on disrupted blood brain barrier function, Biochem Pharmacol 186 (2021) 114465.
- [213] L.X. Yang, Y.Y. Yao, J.R. Yang, H.L. Cheng, X.J. Zhu, Z.J. Zhang, Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 regulates blood-brain barrier permeability in epileptic mice, Neural Regen Res 18(8) (2023) 1763-1769.
- [214] V. Gratpain, A. Mwema, Y. Labrak, G.G. Muccioli, V. van Pesch, A. des Rieux, Extracellular vesicles for the treatment of central nervous system diseases, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 174 (2021) 535-552.
- [215] L.L. Muldoon, G. Nilaver, R.A. Kroll, M.A. Pagel, X.O. Breakefield, E.A. Chiocca, B.L. Davidson, R. Weissleder, E.A. Neuwelt, Comparison of intracerebral inoculation and osmotic blood-brain barrier disruption for delivery of adenovirus, herpesvirus, and iron oxide particles to normal rat brain, Am J Pathol 147(6) (1995) 1840-51.
- [216] R. Rempe, S. Cramer, S. Huwel, H.J. Galla, Transport of Poly(n-butylcyano-acrylate) nanoparticles across the blood-brain barrier in vitro and their influence on barrier integrity, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 406(1) (2011) 64-9.
- [217] Y.E. Seo, T. Bu, W.M. Saltzman, Nanomaterials for convection-enhanced delivery of agents to treat brain tumors, Curr Opin Biomed Eng 4 (2017) 1-12.
- [218] P. Toman, C.F. Lien, Z. Ahmad, S. Dietrich, J.R. Smith, Q. An, E. Molnar, G.J. Pilkington, D.C. Gorecki, J. Tsibouklis, E. Barbu, Nanoparticles of alkylglyceryl-dextran-graft-poly(lactic acid) for drug delivery to the brain: Preparation and in vitro investigation, Acta Biomater 23 (2015) 250-62.

- [219] E. Ahmad, Y. Feng, J. Qi, W. Fan, Y. Ma, H. He, F. Xia, X. Dong, W. Zhao, Y. Lu, W. Wu, Evidence of nose-to-brain delivery of nanoemulsions: cargoes but not vehicles, Nanoscale 9(3) (2017) 1174-1183.
- [220] O. Gartziandia, E. Herran, J.L. Pedraz, E. Carro, M. Igartua, R.M. Hernandez, Chitosan coated nanostructured lipid carriers for brain delivery of proteins by intranasal administration, Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 134 (2015) 304-13.
- [221] M. Yasir, U.V.S. Sara, I. Chauhan, P.K. Gaur, A.P. Singh, D. Puri, Ameeduzzafar, Solid lipid nanoparticles for nose to brain delivery of donepezil: formulation, optimization by Box–Behnken design, in vitro and in vivo evaluation, Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology (2017) 1-14.
- [222] M. Zhang, X. Zang, M. Wang, Z. Li, M. Qiao, H. Hu, D. Chen, Exosome-based nanocarriers as bioinspired and versatile vehicles for drug delivery: recent advances and challenges, J Mater Chem B 7(15) (2019) 2421-2433.
- [223] I. Osorio-Querejeta, S. Carregal-Romero, A. Ayerdi-Izquierdo, I. Mager, N.L. A, M. Wood, A. Egimendia, M. Betanzos, A. Alberro, L. Iparraguirre, L. Moles, I. Llarena, M. Moller, F. Goni-de-Cerio, G. Bijelic, P. Ramos-Cabrer, M. Munoz-Culla, D. Otaegui, MiR-219a-5p Enriched Extracellular Vesicles Induce OPC Differentiation and EAE Improvement More Efficiently Than Liposomes and Polymeric Nanoparticles, Pharmaceutics 12(2) (2020).
- [224] F. Danhier, E. Ansorena, J.M. Silva, R. Coco, A. Le Breton, V. Preat, PLGA-based nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications, J Control Release 161(2) (2012) 505-22.
- [225] D.M. Teleanu, C. Chircov, A.M. Grumezescu, R.I. Teleanu, Neurotoxicity of Nanomaterials: An Up-to-Date Overview, Nanomaterials (Basel) 9(1) (2019).
- [226] A. Gupta, H.B. Eral, T.A. Hatton, P.S. Doyle, Nanoemulsions: formation, properties and applications, Soft Matter 12(11) (2016) 2826-41.
- [227] M. Kumar, R.S. Bishnoi, A.K. Shukla, C.P. Jain, Techniques for Formulation of Nanoemulsion Drug Delivery System: A Review, Prev Nutr Food Sci 24(3) (2019) 225-234.
- [228] K.K. Gill, A. Kaddoumi, S. Nazzal, PEG-lipid micelles as drug carriers: physiochemical attributes, formulation principles and biological implication, J Drug Target 23(3) (2015) 222-31.
- [229] T. Huo, R.F. Barth, W. Yang, R.J. Nakkula, R. Koynova, B. Tenchov, A.R. Chaudhury, L. Agius, T. Boulikas, H. Elleaume, R.J. Lee, Preparation, biodistribution and neurotoxicity of liposomal cisplatin following convection enhanced delivery in normal and F98 glioma bearing rats, PLoS One 7(11) (2012) e48752.
- [230] U. Puapermpoonsiri, V. Lipipun, N. Vardhanabhuti, Synergistic effect of phospholipid-based liposomes and propylthiouracil on U-937 cell growth, J Liposome Res 15(3-4) (2005) 215-27.
- [231] L.R. Trivedi, A.A.E. Ali, D. Sharma, An Updated Review On:Liposomes as Drug Delivery System, Pharmatutor 6(2) (2018) 50.
- [232] V. Mishra, K.K. Bansal, A. Verma, N. Yadav, S. Thakur, K. Sudhakar, J.M. Rosenholm, Solid Lipid Nanoparticles: Emerging Colloidal Nano Drug Delivery Systems, Pharmaceutics 10(4) (2018).
- [233] E. Winter, C. Dal Pizzol, C. Locatelli, T.B. Crezkynski-Pasa, Development and Evaluation of Lipid Nanoparticles for Drug Delivery: Study of Toxicity In, Vitro and In Vivo, J Nanosci Nanotechnol 16(2) (2016) 1321-30.
- [234] M. Agrawal, S. Saraf, S. Saraf, S.K. Dubey, A. Puri, R.J. Patel, Ajazuddin, V. Ravichandiran, U.S. Murty, A. Alexander, Recent strategies and advances in the fabrication of nano lipid carriers and their application towards brain targeting, J Control Release 321 (2020) 372-415.

- [235] M. Kardara, S. Hatziantoniou, A. Sfika, A.G. Vassiliou, E. Mourelatou, C. Muagkou, A. Armaganidis, C. Roussos, S.E. Orfanos, A. Kotanidou, N.A. Maniatis, Caveolar uptake and endothelialprotective effects of nanostructured lipid carriers in acid aspiration murine acute lung injury, Pharm Res 30(7) (2013) 1836-47.
- [236] N.T. Huynh, C. Passirani, P. Saulnier, J.P. Benoit, Lipid nanocapsules: a new platform for nanomedicine, Int J Pharm 379(2) (2009) 201-9.
- [237] Y. Xu, M. Van Hul, F. Suriano, V. Preat, P.D. Cani, A. Beloqui, Novel strategy for oral peptide delivery in incretin-based diabetes treatment, Gut 69(5) (2020) 911-919.
- [238] S. Malhotra, Z.M. Amin, G. Dobhal, S. Cottam, T. Nann, R.V. Goreham, Novel devices for isolation and detection of bacterial and mammalian extracellular vesicles, Mikrochim Acta 188(4) (2021) 139.
- [239] J.A. Welsh, D.C.I. Goberdhan, L. O'Driscoll, E.I. Buzas, C. Blenkiron, B. Bussolati, H. Cai, D. Di Vizio, T.A.P. Driedonks, U. Erdbrugger, J.M. Falcon-Perez, Q.L. Fu, A.F. Hill, M. Lenassi, S.K. Lim, M.G. Mahoney, S. Mohanty, A. Moller, R. Nieuwland, T. Ochiya, S. Sahoo, A.C. Torrecilhas, L. Zheng, A. Zijlstra, S. Abuelreich, R. Bagabas, P. Bergese, E.M. Bridges, M. Brucale, D. Burger, R.P. Carney, E. Cocucci, R. Crescitelli, E. Hanser, A.L. Harris, N.J. Haughey, A. Hendrix, A.R. Ivanov, T. Jovanovic-Talisman, N.A. Kruh-Garcia, V. Ku'ulei-Lyn Faustino, D. Kyburz, C. Lasser, K.M. Lennon, J. Lotvall, A.L. Maddox, E.S. Martens-Uzunova, R.R. Mizenko, L.A. Newman, A. Ridolfi, E. Rohde, T. Rojalin, A. Rowland, A. Saftics, U.S. Sandau, J.A. Saugstad, F. Shekari, S. Swift, D. Ter-Ovanesyan, J.P. Tosar, Z. Useckaite, F. Valle, Z. Varga, E. van der Pol, M.J.C. van Herwijnen, M.H.M. Wauben, A.M. Wehman, S. Williams, A. Zendrini, A.J. Zimmerman, M. Consortium, C. Thery, K.W. Witwer, Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles (MISEV2023): From basic to advanced approaches, J Extracell Vesicles 13(2) (2024) e12404.
- [240] Y. Couch, E.I. Buzas, D. Di Vizio, Y.S. Gho, P. Harrison, A.F. Hill, J. Lotvall, G. Raposo, P.D. Stahl, C. Thery, K.W. Witwer, D.R.F. Carter, A brief history of nearly EV-erything - The rise and rise of extracellular vesicles, J Extracell Vesicles 10(14) (2021) e12144.
- [241] K.W. Witwer, C. Thery, Extracellular vesicles or exosomes? On primacy, precision, and popularity influencing a choice of nomenclature, J Extracell Vesicles 8(1) (2019) 1648167.
- [242] S.J. Gould, G. Raposo, As we wait: coping with an imperfect nomenclature for extracellular vesicles, J Extracell Vesicles 2 (2013).
- [243] B. Gyorgy, T.G. Szabo, M. Pasztoi, Z. Pal, P. Misjak, B. Aradi, V. Laszlo, E. Pallinger, E. Pap, A. Kittel,
 G. Nagy, A. Falus, E.I. Buzas, Membrane vesicles, current state-of-the-art: emerging role of extracellular vesicles, Cell Mol Life Sci 68(16) (2011) 2667-88.
- [244] C. Thery, K.W. Witwer, E. Aikawa, M.J. Alcaraz, J.D. Anderson, R. Andriantsitohaina, A. Antoniou, T. Arab, F. Archer, G.K. Atkin-Smith, D.C. Ayre, J.M. Bach, D. Bachurski, H. Baharvand, L. Balaj, S. Baldacchino, N.N. Bauer, A.A. Baxter, M. Bebawy, C. Beckham, A. Bedina Zavec, A. Benmoussa, A.C. Berardi, P. Bergese, E. Bielska, C. Blenkiron, S. Bobis-Wozowicz, E. Boilard, W. Boireau, A. Bongiovanni, F.E. Borras, S. Bosch, C.M. Boulanger, X. Breakefield, A.M. Breglio, M.A. Brennan, D.R. Brigstock, A. Brisson, M.L. Broekman, J.F. Bromberg, P. Bryl-Gorecka, S. Buch, A.H. Buck, D. Burger, S. Busatto, D. Buschmann, B. Bussolati, E.I. Buzas, J.B. Byrd, G. Camussi, D.R. Carter, S. Caruso, L.W. Chamley, Y.T. Chang, C. Chen, S. Chen, L. Cheng, A.R. Chin, A. Clayton, S.P. Clerici, A. Cocks, E. Cocucci, R.J. Coffey, A. Cordeiro-da-Silva, Y. Couch, F.A. Coumans, B. Coyle, R. Crescitelli, M.F. Criado, C. D'Souza-Schorey, S. Das, A. Datta Chaudhuri, P. de Candia, E.F. De Santana, O. De Wever, H.A. Del Portillo, T. Demaret, S. Deville, A. Devitt, B. Dhondt, D. Di Vizio, L.C. Dieterich, V. Dolo, A.P. Dominguez Rubio, M. Dominici, M.R. Dourado, T.A. Driedonks, F.V. Duarte, H.M. Duncan, R.M. Eichenberger, K. Ekstrom, S. El Andaloussi, C. Elie-Caille, U. Erdbrugger, J.M. Falcon-Perez, F. Fatima, J.E. Fish, M. Flores-Bellver, A. Forsonits, A. Frelet-Barrand, F. Fricke, G. Fuhrmann, S. Gabrielsson, A. Gamez-Valero, C. Gardiner, K. Gartner, R.

Gaudin, Y.S. Gho, B. Giebel, C. Gilbert, M. Gimona, I. Giusti, D.C. Goberdhan, A. Gorgens, S.M. Gorski, D.W. Greening, J.C. Gross, A. Gualerzi, G.N. Gupta, D. Gustafson, A. Handberg, R.A. Haraszti, P. Harrison, H. Hegyesi, A. Hendrix, A.F. Hill, F.H. Hochberg, K.F. Hoffmann, B. Holder, H. Holthofer, B. Hosseinkhani, G. Hu, Y. Huang, V. Huber, S. Hunt, A.G. Ibrahim, T. Ikezu, J.M. Inal, M. Isin, A. Ivanova, H.K. Jackson, S. Jacobsen, S.M. Jay, M. Jayachandran, G. Jenster, L. Jiang, S.M. Johnson, J.C. Jones, A. Jong, T. Jovanovic-Talisman, S. Jung, R. Kalluri, S.I. Kano, S. Kaur, Y. Kawamura, E.T. Keller, D. Khamari, E. Khomyakova, A. Khvorova, P. Kierulf, K.P. Kim, T. Kislinger, M. Klingeborn, D.J. Klinke, 2nd, M. Kornek, M.M. Kosanovic, A.F. Kovacs, E.M. Kramer-Albers, S. Krasemann, M. Krause, I.V. Kurochkin, G.D. Kusuma, S. Kuypers, S. Laitinen, S.M. Langevin, L.R. Languino, J. Lannigan, C. Lasser, L.C. Laurent, G. Lavieu, E. Lazaro-Ibanez, S. Le Lay, M.S. Lee, Y.X.F. Lee, D.S. Lemos, M. Lenassi, A. Leszczynska, I.T. Li, K. Liao, S.F. Libregts, E. Ligeti, R. Lim, S.K. Lim, A. Line, K. Linnemannstons, A. Llorente, C.A. Lombard, M.J. Lorenowicz, A.M. Lorincz, J. Lotvall, J. Lovett, M.C. Lowry, X. Loyer, Q. Lu, B. Lukomska, T.R. Lunavat, S.L. Maas, H. Malhi, A. Marcilla, J. Mariani, J. Mariscal, E.S. Martens-Uzunova, L. Martin-Jaular, M.C. Martinez, V.R. Martins, M. Mathieu, S. Mathivanan, M. Maugeri, L.K. McGinnis, M.J. McVey, D.G. Meckes, Jr., K.L. Meehan, I. Mertens, V.R. Minciacchi, A. Moller, M. Moller Jorgensen, A. Morales-Kastresana, J. Morhayim, F. Mullier, M. Muraca, L. Musante, V. Mussack, D.C. Muth, K.H. Myburgh, T. Najrana, M. Nawaz, I. Nazarenko, P. Nejsum, C. Neri, T. Neri, R. Nieuwland, L. Nimrichter, J.P. Nolan, E.N. Nolte-'t Hoen, N. Noren Hooten, L. O'Driscoll, T. O'Grady, A. O'Loghlen, T. Ochiya, M. Olivier, A. Ortiz, L.A. Ortiz, X. Osteikoetxea, O. Ostergaard, M. Ostrowski, J. Park, D.M. Pegtel, H. Peinado, F. Perut, M.W. Pfaffl, D.G. Phinney, B.C. Pieters, R.C. Pink, D.S. Pisetsky, E. Pogge von Strandmann, I. Polakovicova, I.K. Poon, B.H. Powell, I. Prada, L. Pulliam, P. Quesenberry, A. Radeghieri, R.L. Raffai, S. Raimondo, J. Rak, M.I. Ramirez, G. Raposo, M.S. Rayyan, N. Regev-Rudzki, F.L. Ricklefs, P.D. Robbins, D.D. Roberts, S.C. Rodrigues, E. Rohde, S. Rome, K.M. Rouschop, A. Rughetti, A.E. Russell, P. Saa, S. Sahoo, E. Salas-Huenuleo, C. Sanchez, J.A. Saugstad, M.J. Saul, R.M. Schiffelers, R. Schneider, T.H. Schoyen, A. Scott, E. Shahaj, S. Sharma, O. Shatnyeva, F. Shekari, G.V. Shelke, A.K. Shetty, K. Shiba, P.R. Siljander, A.M. Silva, A. Skowronek, O.L. Snyder, 2nd, R.P. Soares, B.W. Sodar, C. Soekmadji, J. Sotillo, P.D. Stahl, W. Stoorvogel, S.L. Stott, E.F. Strasser, S. Swift, H. Tahara, M. Tewari, K. Timms, S. Tiwari, R. Tixeira, M. Tkach, W.S. Toh, R. Tomasini, A.C. Torrecilhas, J.P. Tosar, V. Toxavidis, L. Urbanelli, P. Vader, B.W. van Balkom, S.G. van der Grein, J. Van Deun, M.J. van Herwijnen, K. Van Keuren-Jensen, G. van Niel, M.E. van Royen, A.J. van Wijnen, M.H. Vasconcelos, I.J. Vechetti, Jr., T.D. Veit, L.J. Vella, E. Velot, F.J. Verweij, B. Vestad, J.L. Vinas, T. Visnovitz, K.V. Vukman, J. Wahlgren, D.C. Watson, M.H. Wauben, A. Weaver, J.P. Webber, V. Weber, A.M. Wehman, D.J. Weiss, J.A. Welsh, S. Wendt, A.M. Wheelock, Z. Wiener, L. Witte, J. Wolfram, A. Xagorari, P. Xander, J. Xu, X. Yan, M. Yanez-Mo, H. Yin, Y. Yuana, V. Zappulli, J. Zarubova, V. Zekas, J.Y. Zhang, Z. Zhao, L. Zheng, A.R. Zheutlin, A.M. Zickler, P. Zimmermann, A.M. Zivkovic, D. Zocco, E.K. Zuba-Surma, Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines, J Extracell Vesicles 7(1) (2018) 1535750.

- [245] R.M. Johnstone, M. Adam, J.R. Hammond, L. Orr, C. Turbide, Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes), J Biol Chem 262(19) (1987) 9412-20.
- [246] X. Xu, Y. Lai, Z.C. Hua, Apoptosis and apoptotic body: disease message and therapeutic target potentials, Biosci Rep 39(1) (2019).
- [247] G. van Niel, G. D'Angelo, G. Raposo, Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 19(4) (2018) 213-228.
- [248] S. Roy, F.H. Hochberg, P.S. Jones, Extracellular vesicles: the growth as diagnostics and therapeutics; a survey, J Extracell Vesicles 7(1) (2018) 1438720.

- [249] E.-T. Consortium, J. Van Deun, P. Mestdagh, P. Agostinis, O. Akay, S. Anand, J. Anckaert, Z.A. Martinez, T. Baetens, E. Beghein, L. Bertier, G. Berx, J. Boere, S. Boukouris, M. Bremer, D. Buschmann, J.B. Byrd, C. Casert, L. Cheng, A. Cmoch, D. Daveloose, E. De Smedt, S. Demirsoy, V. Depoorter, B. Dhondt, T.A. Driedonks, A. Dudek, A. Elsharawy, I. Floris, A.D. Foers, K. Gartner, A.D. Garg, E. Geeurickx, J. Gettemans, F. Ghazavi, B. Giebel, T.G. Kormelink, G. Hancock, H. Helsmoortel, A.F. Hill, V. Hyenne, H. Kalra, D. Kim, J. Kowal, S. Kraemer, P. Leidinger, C. Leonelli, Y. Liang, L. Lippens, S. Liu, A. Lo Cicero, S. Martin, S. Mathivanan, P. Mathiyalagan, T. Matusek, G. Milani, M. Monguio-Tortajada, L.M. Mus, D.C. Muth, A. Nemeth, E.N. Nolte-'t Hoen, L. O'Driscoll, R. Palmulli, M.W. Pfaffl, B. Primdal-Bengtson, E. Romano, Q. Rousseau, S. Sahoo, N. Sampaio, M. Samuel, B. Scicluna, B. Soen, A. Steels, J.V. Swinnen, M. Takatalo, S. Thaminy, C. Thery, J. Tulkens, I. Van Audenhove, S. van der Grein, A. Van Goethem, M.J. van Herwijnen, G. Van Niel, N. Van Roy, A.R. Van Vliet, N. Vandamme, S. Vanhauwaert, G. Vergauwen, F. Verweij, A. Wallaert, M. Wauben, K.W. Witwer, M.I. Zonneveld, O. De Wever, J. Vandesompele, A. Hendrix, EV-TRACK: transparent reporting and centralizing knowledge in extracellular vesicle research, Nat Methods 14(3) (2017) 228-232.
- [250] G. Raposo, W. Stoorvogel, Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends, J Cell Biol 200(4) (2013) 373-83.
- [251] S. Stuffers, C. Sem Wegner, H. Stenmark, A. Brech, Multivesicular endosome biogenesis in the absence of ESCRTs, Traffic 10(7) (2009) 925-37.
- [252] K. Trajkovic, C. Hsu, S. Chiantia, L. Rajendran, D. Wenzel, F. Wieland, P. Schwille, B. Brugger, M. Simons, Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes, Science 319(5867) (2008) 1244-7.
- [253] S.I. Buschow, E.N. Nolte-'t Hoen, G. van Niel, M.S. Pols, T. ten Broeke, M. Lauwen, F. Ossendorp, C.J. Melief, G. Raposo, R. Wubbolts, M.H. Wauben, W. Stoorvogel, MHC II in dendritic cells is targeted to lysosomes or T cell-induced exosomes via distinct multivesicular body pathways, Traffic 10(10) (2009) 1528-42.
- [254] J.F. Nabhan, R. Hu, R.S. Oh, S.N. Cohen, Q. Lu, Formation and release of arrestin domaincontaining protein 1-mediated microvesicles (ARMMs) at plasma membrane by recruitment of TSG101 protein, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(11) (2012) 4146-51.
- [255] L.M. Doyle, M.Z. Wang, Overview of Extracellular Vesicles, Their Origin, Composition, Purpose, and Methods for Exosome Isolation and Analysis, Cells 8(7) (2019).
- [256] M.P. Zaborowski, L. Balaj, X.O. Breakefield, C.P. Lai, Extracellular Vesicles: Composition, Biological Relevance, and Methods of Study, Bioscience 65(8) (2015) 783-797.
- [257] E.R. Abels, X.O. Breakefield, Introduction to Extracellular Vesicles: Biogenesis, RNA Cargo Selection, Content, Release, and Uptake, Cell Mol Neurobiol 36(3) (2016) 301-12.
- [258] M. Mathieu, L. Martin-Jaular, G. Lavieu, C. Thery, Specificities of secretion and uptake of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles for cell-to-cell communication, Nat Cell Biol 21(1) (2019) 9-17.
- [259] S.A.A. Kooijmans, O.G. de Jong, R.M. Schiffelers, Exploring interactions between extracellular vesicles and cells for innovative drug delivery system design, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 173 (2021) 252-278.
- [260] L.A. Mulcahy, R.C. Pink, D.R. Carter, Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake, J Extracell Vesicles 3 (2014).
- [261] G.J. Doherty, H.T. McMahon, Mechanisms of endocytosis, Annu Rev Biochem 78 (2009) 857-902.

- [262] H.C. Christianson, K.J. Svensson, T.H. van Kuppevelt, J.P. Li, M. Belting, Cancer cell exosomes depend on cell-surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans for their internalization and functional activity, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(43) (2013) 17380-5.
- [263] L. Ginini, S. Billan, E. Fridman, Z. Gil, Insight into Extracellular Vesicle-Cell Communication: From Cell Recognition to Intracellular Fate, Cells 11(9) (2022).
- [264] D. Corbeil, M.F. Santos, J. Karbanova, T. Kurth, G. Rappa, A. Lorico, Uptake and Fate of Extracellular Membrane Vesicles: Nucleoplasmic Reticulum-Associated Late Endosomes as a New Gate to Intercellular Communication, Cells 9(9) (2020).
- [265] T.B. Gandek, L. van der Koog, A. Nagelkerke, A Comparison of Cellular Uptake Mechanisms, Delivery Efficacy, and Intracellular Fate between Liposomes and Extracellular Vesicles, Adv Healthc Mater 12(25) (2023) e2300319.
- [266] K. O'Brien, S. Ughetto, S. Mahjoum, A.V. Nair, X.O. Breakefield, Uptake, functionality, and rerelease of extracellular vesicle-encapsulated cargo, Cell Rep 39(2) (2022) 110651.
- [267] K. Sidhom, P.O. Obi, A. Saleem, A Review of Exosomal Isolation Methods: Is Size Exclusion Chromatography the Best Option?, Int J Mol Sci 21(18) (2020).
- [268] C. Gardiner, D. Di Vizio, S. Sahoo, C. Thery, K.W. Witwer, M. Wauben, A.F. Hill, Techniques used for the isolation and characterization of extracellular vesicles: results of a worldwide survey, J Extracell Vesicles 5 (2016) 32945.
- [269] C. Thery, S. Amigorena, G. Raposo, A. Clayton, Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids, Curr Protoc Cell Biol Chapter 3 (2006) Unit 3 22.
- [270] D.D. Taylor, Isolation and molecular characterization of extracellular vesicles, Methods 87 (2015) 1-2.
- [271] P. Li, M. Kaslan, S.H. Lee, J. Yao, Z. Gao, Progress in Exosome Isolation Techniques, Theranostics 7(3) (2017) 789-804.
- [272] A. Cheruvanky, H. Zhou, T. Pisitkun, J.B. Kopp, M.A. Knepper, P.S. Yuen, R.A. Star, Rapid isolation of urinary exosomal biomarkers using a nanomembrane ultrafiltration concentrator, Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 292(5) (2007) F1657-61.
- [273] K.S. Visan, R.J. Lobb, S. Ham, L.G. Lima, C. Palma, C.P.Z. Edna, L.Y. Wu, H. Gowda, K.K. Datta, G. Hartel, C. Salomon, A. Moller, Comparative analysis of tangential flow filtration and ultracentrifugation, both combined with subsequent size exclusion chromatography, for the isolation of small extracellular vesicles, J Extracell Vesicles 11(9) (2022) e12266.
- [274] K. Kim, J. Park, J.H. Jung, R. Lee, J.H. Park, J.M. Yuk, H. Hwang, J.H. Yeon, Cyclic tangential flow filtration system for isolation of extracellular vesicles, APL Bioeng 5(1) (2021) 016103.
- [275] M.Y. Konoshenko, E.A. Lekchnov, A.V. Vlassov, P.P. Laktionov, Isolation of Extracellular Vesicles: General Methodologies and Latest Trends, Biomed Res Int 2018 (2018) 8545347.
- [276] S.G. Antimisiaris, S. Mourtas, A. Marazioti, Exosomes and Exosome-Inspired Vesicles for Targeted Drug Delivery, Pharmaceutics 10(4) (2018).
- [277] J.C. Contreras-Naranjo, H.J. Wu, V.M. Ugaz, Microfluidics for exosome isolation and analysis: enabling liquid biopsy for personalized medicine, Lab Chip 17(21) (2017) 3558-3577.
- [278] F. Fricke, Buschmann D., Plaffi MW., Isolation and characterization of extracellular vesicles, 2019. https://doi.org/10.47184/tev.2019.01.02. (Accessed 16 May 2024).
- [279] G. Brooke, M. Cook, C. Blair, R. Han, C. Heazlewood, B. Jones, M. Kambouris, K. Kollar, S. McTaggart, R. Pelekanos, A. Rice, T. Rossetti, K. Atkinson, Therapeutic applications of mesenchymal stromal cells, Semin Cell Dev Biol 18(6) (2007) 846-58.

- [280] S. Schrepfer, T. Deuse, H. Reichenspurner, M.P. Fischbein, R.C. Robbins, M.P. Pelletier, Stem cell transplantation: the lung barrier, Transplant Proc 39(2) (2007) 573-6.
- [281] D.J. Prockop, M. Brenner, W.E. Fibbe, E. Horwitz, K. Le Blanc, D.G. Phinney, P.J. Simmons, L. Sensebe, A. Keating, Defining the risks of mesenchymal stromal cell therapy, Cytotherapy 12(5) (2010) 576-8.
- [282] N. Heldring, I. Mager, M.J. Wood, K. Le Blanc, S.E. Andaloussi, Therapeutic Potential of Multipotent Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Their Extracellular Vesicles, Hum Gene Ther 26(8) (2015) 506-17.
- [283] B. Yu, X. Zhang, X. Li, Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells, Int J Mol Sci 15(3) (2014) 4142-57.
- [284] F. Laso-Garcia, J. Ramos-Cejudo, F.J. Carrillo-Salinas, L. Otero-Ortega, A. Feliu, M. Gomez-de Frutos, M. Mecha, E. Diez-Tejedor, C. Guaza, M. Gutierrez-Fernandez, Therapeutic potential of extracellular vesicles derived from human mesenchymal stem cells in a model of progressive multiple sclerosis, PLoS One 13(9) (2018) e0202590.
- [285] A.D. Pusic, K.M. Pusic, B.L. Clayton, R.P. Kraig, IFNgamma-stimulated dendritic cell exosomes as a potential therapeutic for remyelination, J Neuroimmunol 266(1-2) (2014) 12-23.
- [286] D. Giunti, C. Marini, B. Parodi, C. Usai, M. Milanese, G. Bonanno, N. Kerlero de Rosbo, A. Uccelli, Role of miRNAs shuttled by mesenchymal stem cell-derived small extracellular vesicles in modulating neuroinflammation, Sci Rep 11(1) (2021) 1740.
- [287] M. Riazifar, M.R. Mohammadi, E.J. Pone, A. Yeri, C. Lasser, A.I. Segaliny, L.L. McIntyre, G.V. Shelke, E. Hutchins, A. Hamamoto, E.N. Calle, R. Crescitelli, W. Liao, V. Pham, Y. Yin, J. Jayaraman, J.R.T. Lakey, C.M. Walsh, K. Van Keuren-Jensen, J. Lotvall, W. Zhao, Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes as Nanotherapeutics for Autoimmune and Neurodegenerative Disorders, ACS Nano 13(6) (2019) 6670-6688.
- [288] A. Fathollahi, S.M. Hashemi, M. Haji Molla Hoseini, S. Tavakoli, E. Farahani, F. Yeganeh, Intranasal administration of small extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells ameliorated the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, Int Immunopharmacol 90 (2021) 107207.
- [289] M. Jafarinia, F. Alsahebfosoul, H. Salehi, N. Eskandari, M. Azimzadeh, M. Mahmoodi, S. Asgary, M. Ganjalikhani Hakemi, Therapeutic effects of extracellular vesicles from human adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells on chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, J Cell Physiol 235(11) (2020) 8779-8790.
- [290] S. Ahmadvand Koohsari, A. Absalan, D. Azadi, Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cellderived extracellular vesicles attenuate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis via regulating pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines, Sci Rep 11(1) (2021) 11658.
- [291] J. Zhang, B.A. Buller, Z.G. Zhang, Y. Zhang, M. Lu, D.L. Rosene, M. Medalla, T.L. Moore, M. Chopp, Exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells promote remyelination and reduce neuroinflammation in the demyelinating central nervous system, Exp Neurol 347 (2022) 113895.
- [292] T.R. Doeppner, J. Herz, A. Gorgens, J. Schlechter, A.K. Ludwig, S. Radtke, K. de Miroschedji, P.A. Horn, B. Giebel, D.M. Hermann, Extracellular Vesicles Improve Post-Stroke Neuroregeneration and Prevent Postischemic Immunosuppression, Stem Cells Transl Med 4(10) (2015) 1131-43.
- [293] Y. Zhang, M. Chopp, Y. Meng, M. Katakowski, H. Xin, A. Mahmood, Y. Xiong, Effect of exosomes derived from multipluripotent mesenchymal stromal cells on functional recovery and neurovascular plasticity in rats after traumatic brain injury, J Neurosurg 122(4) (2015) 856-67.

- [294] D.K. Kim, H. Nishida, S.Y. An, A.K. Shetty, T.J. Bartosh, D.J. Prockop, Chromatographically isolated CD63+CD81+ extracellular vesicles from mesenchymal stromal cells rescue cognitive impairments after TBI, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(1) (2016) 170-5.
- [295] K. Drommelschmidt, M. Serdar, I. Bendix, J. Herz, F. Bertling, S. Prager, M. Keller, A.K. Ludwig, V. Duhan, S. Radtke, K. de Miroschedji, P.A. Horn, Y. van de Looij, B. Giebel, U. Felderhoff-Muser, Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles ameliorate inflammation-induced preterm brain injury, Brain Behav Immun 60 (2017) 220-232.
- [296] Z. Zhuang, M. Liu, J. Luo, X. Zhang, Z. Dai, B. Zhang, H. Chen, J. Xue, M. He, H. Xu, A. Liu, Exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells attenuate neurological damage in traumatic brain injury by alleviating glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity, Exp Neurol 357 (2022) 114182.
- [297] M. Kodali, L.N. Madhu, R.L. Reger, B. Milutinovic, R. Upadhya, J.J. Gonzalez, S. Attaluri, B. Shuai, D.L.G. Gitai, S. Rao, J.M. Choi, S.Y. Jung, A.K. Shetty, Intranasally administered human MSCderived extracellular vesicles inhibit NLRP3-p38/MAPK signaling after TBI and prevent chronic brain dysfunction, Brain Behav Immun 108 (2023) 118-134.
- [298] Q. Long, D. Upadhya, B. Hattiangady, D.K. Kim, S.Y. An, B. Shuai, D.J. Prockop, A.K. Shetty, Intranasal MSC-derived A1-exosomes ease inflammation, and prevent abnormal neurogenesis and memory dysfunction after status epilepticus, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114(17) (2017) E3536-E3545.
- [299] Q. Luo, P. Xian, T. Wang, S. Wu, T. Sun, W. Wang, B. Wang, H. Yang, Y. Yang, H. Wang, W. Liu, Q. Long, Antioxidant activity of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles restores hippocampal neurons following seizure damage, Theranostics 11(12) (2021) 5986-6005.
- [300] T. Katsuda, R. Tsuchiya, N. Kosaka, Y. Yoshioka, K. Takagaki, K. Oki, F. Takeshita, Y. Sakai, M. Kuroda, T. Ochiya, Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells secrete functional neprilysin-bound exosomes, Sci Rep 3 (2013) 1197.
- [301] K. An, I. Klyubin, Y. Kim, J.H. Jung, A.J. Mably, S.T. O'Dowd, T. Lynch, D. Kanmert, C.A. Lemere, G.M. Finan, J.W. Park, T.W. Kim, D.M. Walsh, M.J. Rowan, J.H. Kim, Exosomes neutralize synaptic-plasticity-disrupting activity of Abeta assemblies in vivo, Mol Brain 6 (2013) 47.
- [302] K. Yuyama, H. Sun, S. Sakai, S. Mitsutake, M. Okada, H. Tahara, J. Furukawa, N. Fujitani, Y. Shinohara, Y. Igarashi, Decreased amyloid-beta pathologies by intracerebral loading of glycosphingolipid-enriched exosomes in Alzheimer model mice, J Biol Chem 289(35) (2014) 24488-98.
- [303] S. Sha, X. Shen, Y. Cao, L. Qu, Mesenchymal stem cells-derived extracellular vesicles ameliorate Alzheimer's disease in rat models via the microRNA-29c-3p/BACE1 axis and the Wnt/betacatenin pathway, Aging (Albany NY) 13(11) (2021) 15285-15306.
- [304] S. Liu, M. Fan, J.X. Xu, L.J. Yang, C.C. Qi, Q.R. Xia, J.F. Ge, Exosomes derived from bone-marrow mesenchymal stem cells alleviate cognitive decline in AD-like mice by improving BDNF-related neuropathology, J Neuroinflammation 19(1) (2022) 35.
- [305] A. Jarmalaviciute, V. Tunaitis, U. Pivoraite, A. Venalis, A. Pivoriunas, Exosomes from dental pulp stem cells rescue human dopaminergic neurons from 6-hydroxy-dopamine-induced apoptosis, Cytotherapy 17(7) (2015) 932-9.
- [306] K. Narbute, V. Pilipenko, J. Pupure, Z. Dzirkale, U. Jonavice, V. Tunaitis, K. Kriauciunaite, A. Jarmalaviciute, B. Jansone, V. Klusa, A. Pivoriunas, Intranasal Administration of Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Human Teeth Stem Cells Improves Motor Symptoms and Normalizes Tyrosine Hydroxylase Expression in the Substantia Nigra and Striatum of the 6-Hydroxydopamine-Treated Rats, Stem Cells Transl Med 8(5) (2019) 490-499.

- [307] H.X. Chen, F.C. Liang, P. Gu, B.L. Xu, H.J. Xu, W.T. Wang, J.Y. Hou, D.X. Xie, X.Q. Chai, S.J. An, Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells repair a Parkinson's disease model by inducing autophagy, Cell Death Dis 11(4) (2020) 288.
- [308] P. Vader, E.A. Mol, G. Pasterkamp, R.M. Schiffelers, Extracellular vesicles for drug delivery, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 106(Pt A) (2016) 148-156.
- [309] M.J. Haney, N.L. Klyachko, Y. Zhao, R. Gupta, E.G. Plotnikova, Z. He, T. Patel, A. Piroyan, M. Sokolsky, A.V. Kabanov, E.V. Batrakova, Exosomes as drug delivery vehicles for Parkinson's disease therapy, J Control Release 207 (2015) 18-30.
- [310] M.J. Haney, N.L. Klyachko, E.B. Harrison, Y. Zhao, A.V. Kabanov, E.V. Batrakova, TPP1 Delivery to Lysosomes with Extracellular Vesicles and their Enhanced Brain Distribution in the Animal Model of Batten Disease, Adv Healthc Mater 8(11) (2019) e1801271.
- [311] M.S. Kim, M.J. Haney, Y. Zhao, V. Mahajan, I. Deygen, N.L. Klyachko, E. Inskoe, A. Piroyan, M. Sokolsky, O. Okolie, S.D. Hingtgen, A.V. Kabanov, E.V. Batrakova, Development of exosome-encapsulated paclitaxel to overcome MDR in cancer cells, Nanomedicine 12(3) (2016) 655-664.
- [312] S.A.A. Kooijmans, S. Stremersch, K. Braeckmans, S.C. de Smedt, A. Hendrix, M.J.A. Wood, R.M. Schiffelers, K. Raemdonck, P. Vader, Electroporation-induced siRNA precipitation obscures the efficiency of siRNA loading into extracellular vesicles, J Control Release 172(1) (2013) 229-238.
- [313] M.C. Didiot, L.M. Hall, A.H. Coles, R.A. Haraszti, B.M. Godinho, K. Chase, E. Sapp, S. Ly, J.F. Alterman, M.R. Hassler, D. Echeverria, L. Raj, D.V. Morrissey, M. DiFiglia, N. Aronin, A. Khvorova, Exosome-mediated Delivery of Hydrophobically Modified siRNA for Huntingtin mRNA Silencing, Mol Ther 24(10) (2016) 1836-1847.
- [314] D. Sun, X. Zhuang, X. Xiang, Y. Liu, S. Zhang, C. Liu, S. Barnes, W. Grizzle, D. Miller, H.G. Zhang, A novel nanoparticle drug delivery system: the anti-inflammatory activity of curcumin is enhanced when encapsulated in exosomes, Mol Ther 18(9) (2010) 1606-14.
- [315] T. Yang, P. Martin, B. Fogarty, A. Brown, K. Schurman, R. Phipps, V.P. Yin, P. Lockman, S. Bai, Exosome delivered anticancer drugs across the blood-brain barrier for brain cancer therapy in Danio rerio, Pharm Res 32(6) (2015) 2003-14.
- [316] M. Qu, Q. Lin, L. Huang, Y. Fu, L. Wang, S. He, Y. Fu, S. Yang, Z. Zhang, L. Zhang, X. Sun, Dopamineloaded blood exosomes targeted to brain for better treatment of Parkinson's disease, J Control Release 287 (2018) 156-166.
- [317] J. Skog, T. Wurdinger, S. van Rijn, D.H. Meijer, L. Gainche, M. Sena-Esteves, W.T. Curry, Jr., B.S. Carter, A.M. Krichevsky, X.O. Breakefield, Glioblastoma microvesicles transport RNA and proteins that promote tumour growth and provide diagnostic biomarkers, Nat Cell Biol 10(12) (2008) 1470-6.
- [318] H. Valadi, K. Ekstrom, A. Bossios, M. Sjostrand, J.J. Lee, J.O. Lotvall, Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells, Nat Cell Biol 9(6) (2007) 654-9.
- [319] L. Alvarez-Erviti, Y. Seow, H. Yin, C. Betts, S. Lakhal, M.J. Wood, Delivery of siRNA to the mouse brain by systemic injection of targeted exosomes, Nat Biotechnol 29(4) (2011) 341-5.
- [320] J.M. Cooper, P.B. Wiklander, J.Z. Nordin, R. Al-Shawi, M.J. Wood, M. Vithlani, A.H. Schapira, J.P. Simons, S. El-Andaloussi, L. Alvarez-Erviti, Systemic exosomal siRNA delivery reduced alpha-synuclein aggregates in brains of transgenic mice, Mov Disord 29(12) (2014) 1476-85.
- [321] S. Guo, N. Perets, O. Betzer, S. Ben-Shaul, A. Sheinin, I. Michaelevski, R. Popovtzer, D. Offen, S. Levenberg, Intranasal Delivery of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Exosomes Loaded with

Phosphatase and Tensin Homolog siRNA Repairs Complete Spinal Cord Injury, ACS Nano 13(9) (2019) 10015-10028.

- [322] R. Kojima, D. Bojar, G. Rizzi, G.C. Hamri, M.D. El-Baba, P. Saxena, S. Auslander, K.R. Tan, M. Fussenegger, Designer exosomes produced by implanted cells intracerebrally deliver therapeutic cargo for Parkinson's disease treatment, Nat Commun 9(1) (2018) 1305.
- [323] Y. Jahangard, H. Monfared, A. Moradi, M. Zare, J. Mirnajafi-Zadeh, S.J. Mowla, Therapeutic Effects of Transplanted Exosomes Containing miR-29b to a Rat Model of Alzheimer's Disease, Front Neurosci 14 (2020) 564.
- [324] S. Ghosh, S. Banerjee, P.C. Sil, The beneficial role of curcumin on inflammation, diabetes and neurodegenerative disease: A recent update, Food Chem Toxicol 83 (2015) 111-24.
- [325] X. Zhuang, X. Xiang, W. Grizzle, D. Sun, S. Zhang, R.C. Axtell, S. Ju, J. Mu, L. Zhang, L. Steinman, D. Miller, H.G. Zhang, Treatment of brain inflammatory diseases by delivering exosome encapsulated anti-inflammatory drugs from the nasal region to the brain, Mol Ther 19(10) (2011) 1769-79.
- [326] H. Bernheimer, W. Birkmayer, O. Hornykiewicz, K. Jellinger, F. Seitelberger, Brain dopamine and the syndromes of Parkinson and Huntington. Clinical, morphological and neurochemical correlations, J Neurol Sci 20(4) (1973) 415-55.
- [327] Y. Qi, L. Guo, Y. Jiang, Y. Shi, H. Sui, L. Zhao, Brain delivery of quercetin-loaded exosomes improved cognitive function in AD mice by inhibiting phosphorylated tau-mediated neurofibrillary tangles, Drug Deliv 27(1) (2020) 745-755.
- [328] M. Izadpanah, L. Dargahi, J. Ai, A. Asgari Taei, S. Ebrahimi Barough, S.J. Mowla, G. TavoosiDana, M. Farahmandfar, Extracellular Vesicles as a Neprilysin Delivery System Memory Improvement in Alzheimer's Disease, Iran J Pharm Res 19(2) (2020) 45-60.
- [329] G. Morad, C.V. Carman, E.J. Hagedorn, J.R. Perlin, L.I. Zon, N. Mustafaoglu, T.E. Park, D.E. Ingber, C.C. Daisy, M.A. Moses, Tumor-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Breach the Intact Blood-Brain Barrier via Transcytosis, ACS Nano 13(12) (2019) 13853-13865.
- [330] D. Yuan, Y. Zhao, W.A. Banks, K.M. Bullock, M. Haney, E. Batrakova, A.V. Kabanov, Macrophage exosomes as natural nanocarriers for protein delivery to inflamed brain, Biomaterials 142 (2017) 1-12.
- [331] W.A. Banks, P. Sharma, K.M. Bullock, K.M. Hansen, N. Ludwig, T.L. Whiteside, Transport of Extracellular Vesicles across the Blood-Brain Barrier: Brain Pharmacokinetics and Effects of Inflammation, Int J Mol Sci 21(12) (2020).
- [332] J.H. Huang, X.M. Yin, Y. Xu, C.C. Xu, X. Lin, F.B. Ye, Y. Cao, F.Y. Lin, Systemic Administration of Exosomes Released from Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Attenuates Apoptosis, Inflammation, and Promotes Angiogenesis after Spinal Cord Injury in Rats, J Neurotrauma 34(24) (2017) 3388-3396.
- [333] S.J. Shiue, R.H. Rau, H.S. Shiue, Y.W. Hung, Z.X. Li, K.D. Yang, J.K. Cheng, Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes as a cell-free therapy for nerve injury-induced pain in rats, Pain 160(1) (2019) 210-223.
- [334] O. Betzer, N. Perets, A. Angel, M. Motiei, T. Sadan, G. Yadid, D. Offen, R. Popovtzer, In Vivo Neuroimaging of Exosomes Using Gold Nanoparticles, ACS Nano 11(11) (2017) 10883-10893.
- [335] N. Perets, S. Hertz, M. London, D. Offen, Intranasal administration of exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells ameliorates autistic-like behaviors of BTBR mice, Mol Autism 9 (2018) 57.

- [336] C.P. Lai, O. Mardini, M. Ericsson, S. Prabhakar, C. Maguire, J.W. Chen, B.A. Tannous, X.O. Breakefield, Dynamic biodistribution of extracellular vesicles in vivo using a multimodal imaging reporter, ACS Nano 8(1) (2014) 483-494.
- [337] M.J. Haney, Y. Zhao, Y.S. Jin, E.V. Batrakova, Extracellular Vesicles as Drug Carriers for Enzyme Replacement Therapy to Treat CLN2 Batten Disease: Optimization of Drug Administration Routes, Cells 9(5) (2020).
- [338] N. Perets, O. Betzer, R. Shapira, S. Brenstein, A. Angel, T. Sadan, U. Ashery, R. Popovtzer, D. Offen, Golden Exosomes Selectively Target Brain Pathologies in Neurodegenerative and Neurodevelopmental Disorders, Nano Lett 19(6) (2019) 3422-3431.
- [339] M.E. Hung, J.N. Leonard, Stabilization of exosome-targeting peptides via engineered glycosylation, J Biol Chem 290(13) (2015) 8166-72.
- [340] R.B. Rountree, S.J. Mandl, J.M. Nachtwey, K. Dalpozzo, L. Do, J.R. Lombardo, P.L. Schoonmaker, K. Brinkmann, U. Dirmeier, R. Laus, A. Delcayre, Exosome targeting of tumor antigens expressed by cancer vaccines can improve antigen immunogenicity and therapeutic efficacy, Cancer Res 71(15) (2011) 5235-44.
- [341] Z. Ye, T. Zhang, W. He, H. Jin, C. Liu, Z. Yang, J. Ren, Methotrexate-Loaded Extracellular Vesicles Functionalized with Therapeutic and Targeted Peptides for the Treatment of Glioblastoma Multiforme, ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10(15) (2018) 12341-12350.
- [342] T. Tian, H.X. Zhang, C.P. He, S. Fan, Y.L. Zhu, C. Qi, N.P. Huang, Z.D. Xiao, Z.H. Lu, B.A. Tannous, J. Gao, Surface functionalized exosomes as targeted drug delivery vehicles for cerebral ischemia therapy, Biomaterials 150 (2018) 137-149.
- [343] M. Khongkow, T. Yata, S. Boonrungsiman, U.R. Ruktanonchai, D. Graham, K. Namdee, Surface modification of gold nanoparticles with neuron-targeted exosome for enhanced blood-brain barrier penetration, Sci Rep 9(1) (2019) 8278.
- [344] G. Jia, Y. Han, Y. An, Y. Ding, C. He, X. Wang, Q. Tang, NRP-1 targeted and cargo-loaded exosomes facilitate simultaneous imaging and therapy of glioma in vitro and in vivo, Biomaterials 178 (2018) 302-316.
- [345] T.Z. Nazari-Shafti, C. Stamm, V. Falk, M.Y. Emmert, Exosomes for Cardioprotection: Are We Ready for Clinical Translation?, Eur Heart J 40(12) (2019) 953-956.
- [346] M. Gimona, K. Pachler, S. Laner-Plamberger, K. Schallmoser, E. Rohde, Manufacturing of Human Extracellular Vesicle-Based Therapeutics for Clinical Use, Int J Mol Sci 18(6) (2017).
- [347] W. Whitford, P. Guterstam, Exosome manufacturing status, Future Med Chem 11(10) (2019) 1225-1236.
- [348] M. Piffoux, A. Nicolas-Boluda, V. Mulens-Arias, S. Richard, G. Rahmi, F. Gazeau, C. Wilhelm, A.K.A. Silva, Extracellular vesicles for personalized medicine: The input of physically triggered production, loading and theranostic properties, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 138 (2019) 247-258.
- [349] L. Sun, H.X. Wang, X.J. Zhu, P.H. Wu, W.Q. Chen, P. Zou, Q.B. Li, Z.C. Chen, Serum deprivation elevates the levels of microvesicles with different size distributions and selectively enriched proteins in human myeloma cells in vitro, Acta Pharmacol Sin 35(3) (2014) 381-93.
- [350] F. Colombo, M. Bastoni, A. Nigro, P. Podini, A. Finardi, G. Casella, M. Ramesh, C. Farina, C. Verderio, R. Furlan, Cytokines Stimulate the Release of Microvesicles from Myeloid Cells Independently from the P2X7 Receptor/Acid Sphingomyelinase Pathway, Front Immunol 9 (2018) 204.
- [351] H.W. King, M.Z. Michael, J.M. Gleadle, Hypoxic enhancement of exosome release by breast cancer cells, BMC Cancer 12 (2012) 421.

- [352] M.O. Gomzikova, A.M. Aimaletdinov, O.V. Bondar, I.G. Starostina, N.V. Gorshkova, O.A. Neustroeva, S.K. Kletukhina, S.V. Kurbangaleeva, V.V. Vorobev, E.E. Garanina, J.L. Persson, J. Jeyapalan, N.P. Mongan, S.F. Khaiboullina, A.A. Rizvanov, Immunosuppressive properties of cytochalasin B-induced membrane vesicles of mesenchymal stem cells: comparing with extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells, Sci Rep 10(1) (2020) 10740.
- [353] L. Martinez-Lostao, F. Garcia-Alvarez, G. Basanez, E. Alegre-Aguaron, P. Desportes, L. Larrad, J. Naval, M.J. Martinez-Lorenzo, A. Anel, Liposome-bound APO2L/TRAIL is an effective treatment in a rabbit model of rheumatoid arthritis, Arthritis Rheum 62(8) (2010) 2272-82.
- [354] M. Piffoux, A.K.A. Silva, C. Wilhelm, F. Gazeau, D. Tareste, Modification of Extracellular Vesicles by Fusion with Liposomes for the Design of Personalized Biogenic Drug Delivery Systems, ACS Nano 12(7) (2018) 6830-6842.
- [355] M. Kodali, O.W. Castro, D.K. Kim, A. Thomas, B. Shuai, S. Attaluri, R. Upadhya, D. Gitai, L.N. Madhu, D.J. Prockop, A.K. Shetty, Intranasally Administered Human MSC-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Pervasively Incorporate into Neurons and Microglia in both Intact and Status Epilepticus Injured Forebrain, Int J Mol Sci 21(1) (2019).
- [356] G. van Niel, D.R.F. Carter, A. Clayton, D.W. Lambert, G. Raposo, P. Vader, Challenges and directions in studying cell-cell communication by extracellular vesicles, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 23(5) (2022) 369-382.
- [357] S. Stremersch, S.C. De Smedt, K. Raemdonck, Therapeutic and diagnostic applications of extracellular vesicles, J Control Release 244(Pt B) (2016) 167-183.
- [358] F. Urabe, N. Kosaka, K. Ito, T. Kimura, S. Egawa, T. Ochiya, Extracellular vesicles as biomarkers and therapeutic targets for cancer, Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 318(1) (2020) C29-C39.
- [359] R.E. Lane, D. Korbie, M.M. Hill, M. Trau, Extracellular vesicles as circulating cancer biomarkers: opportunities and challenges, Clin Transl Med 7(1) (2018) 14.
- [360] P.D. Robbins, A.E. Morelli, Regulation of immune responses by extracellular vesicles, Nat Rev Immunol 14(3) (2014) 195-208.
- [361] Allogenic Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Exosome in Patients With Acute Ischemic Stroke. https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT03384433. (Accessed 2 May 2024).
- [362] I.K. Herrmann, M.J.A. Wood, G. Fuhrmann, Extracellular vesicles as a next-generation drug delivery platform, Nat Nanotechnol 16(7) (2021) 748-759.
- [363] S. Staubach, F.N. Bauer, T. Tertel, V. Borger, O. Stambouli, D. Salzig, B. Giebel, Scaled preparation of extracellular vesicles from conditioned media, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 177 (2021) 113940.
- [364] J.P. Armstrong, M.N. Holme, M.M. Stevens, Re-Engineering Extracellular Vesicles as Smart Nanoscale Therapeutics, ACS Nano 11(1) (2017) 69-83.
- [365] M. Yanez-Mo, P.R. Siljander, Z. Andreu, A.B. Zavec, F.E. Borras, E.I. Buzas, K. Buzas, E. Casal, F. Cappello, J. Carvalho, E. Colas, A. Cordeiro-da Silva, S. Fais, J.M. Falcon-Perez, I.M. Ghobrial, B. Giebel, M. Gimona, M. Graner, I. Gursel, M. Gursel, N.H. Heegaard, A. Hendrix, P. Kierulf, K. Kokubun, M. Kosanovic, V. Kralj-Iglic, E.M. Kramer-Albers, S. Laitinen, C. Lasser, T. Lener, E. Ligeti, A. Line, G. Lipps, A. Llorente, J. Lotvall, M. Mancek-Keber, A. Marcilla, M. Mittelbrunn, I. Nazarenko, E.N. Nolte-'t Hoen, T.A. Nyman, L. O'Driscoll, M. Olivan, C. Oliveira, E. Pallinger, H.A. Del Portillo, J. Reventos, M. Rigau, E. Rohde, M. Sammar, F. Sanchez-Madrid, N. Santarem, K. Schallmoser, M.S. Ostenfeld, W. Stoorvogel, R. Stukelj, S.G. Van der Grein, M.H. Vasconcelos, M.H. Wauben, O. De Wever, Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions, J Extracell Vesicles 4 (2015) 27066.

- [366] N. Kim, S.G. Cho, Clinical applications of mesenchymal stem cells, Korean J Intern Med 28(4) (2013) 387-402.
- [367] P. De Berdt, P. Bottemanne, J. Bianco, M. Alhouayek, A. Diogenes, A. Lloyd, A. Llyod, J. Gerardo-Nava, G.A. Brook, V. Miron, G.G. Muccioli, A.D. Rieux, Stem cells from human apical papilla decrease neuro-inflammation and stimulate oligodendrocyte progenitor differentiation via activin-A secretion, Cell Mol Life Sci 75(15) (2018) 2843-2856.
- [368] P. De Berdt, K. Vanvarenberg, B. Ucakar, C. Bouzin, A. Paquot, V. Gratpain, A. Loriot, V. Payen, B. Bearzatto, G.G. Muccioli, L. Gatto, A. Diogenes, A. des Rieux, The human dental apical papilla promotes spinal cord repair through a paracrine mechanism, Cell Mol Life Sci 79(5) (2022) 252.
- [369] N.B. Ruparel, J.F. de Almeida, M.A. Henry, A. Diogenes, Characterization of a stem cell of apical papilla cell line: effect of passage on cellular phenotype, J Endod 39(3) (2013) 357-63.
- [370] M.R. Friedlander, S.D. Mackowiak, N. Li, W. Chen, N. Rajewsky, miRDeep2 accurately identifies known and hundreds of novel microRNA genes in seven animal clades, Nucleic Acids Res 40(1) (2012) 37-52.
- [371] M.I. Love, W. Huber, S. Anders, Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNAseq data with DESeq2, Genome Biol 15(12) (2014) 550.
- [372] Y. Ru, K.J. Kechris, B. Tabakoff, P. Hoffman, R.A. Radcliffe, R. Bowler, S. Mahaffey, S. Rossi, G.A. Calin, L. Bemis, D. Theodorescu, The multiMiR R package and database: integration of microRNAtarget interactions along with their disease and drug associations, Nucleic Acids Res 42(17) (2014) e133.
- [373] T. Wu, E. Hu, S. Xu, M. Chen, P. Guo, Z. Dai, T. Feng, L. Zhou, W. Tang, L. Zhan, X. Fu, S. Liu, X. Bo, G. Yu, clusterProfiler 4.0: A universal enrichment tool for interpreting omics data, Innovation (N Y) 2(3) (2021) 100141.
- [374] V. Mutemberezi, B. Buisseret, J. Masquelier, O. Guillemot-Legris, M. Alhouayek, G.G. Muccioli, Oxysterol levels and metabolism in the course of neuroinflammation: insights from in vitro and in vivo models, J Neuroinflammation 15(1) (2018) 74.
- [375] Y. Labrak, B. Heurtault, B. Frisch, P. Saulnier, E. Lepeltier, V.E. Miron, G.G. Muccioli, A. des Rieux, Impact of anti-PDGFRalpha antibody surface functionalization on LNC uptake by oligodendrocyte progenitor cells, Int J Pharm 618 (2022) 121623.
- [376] A. Mwema, P. Bottemanne, A. Paquot, B. Ucakar, K. Vanvarenberg, M. Alhouayek, G.G. Muccioli, A. des Rieux, Lipid nanocapsules for the nose-to-brain delivery of the anti-inflammatory bioactive lipid PGD(2)-G, Nanomedicine 48 (2023) 102633.
- [377] M. Alhouayek, D.M. Lambert, N.M. Delzenne, P.D. Cani, G.G. Muccioli, Increasing endogenous 2-arachidonoylglycerol levels counteracts colitis and related systemic inflammation, FASEB J 25(8) (2011) 2711-21.
- [378] M. Tkach, C. Thery, Communication by Extracellular Vesicles: Where We Are and Where We Need to Go, Cell 164(6) (2016) 1226-1232.
- [379] T.E. Whittaker, A. Nagelkerke, V. Nele, U. Kauscher, M.M. Stevens, Experimental artefacts can lead to misattribution of bioactivity from soluble mesenchymal stem cell paracrine factors to extracellular vesicles, J Extracell Vesicles 9(1) (2020) 1807674.
- [380] B.J. Benedikter, F.G. Bouwman, T. Vajen, A.C.A. Heinzmann, G. Grauls, E.C. Mariman, E.F.M. Wouters, P.H. Savelkoul, C. Lopez-Iglesias, R.R. Koenen, G.G.U. Rohde, F.R.M. Stassen, Ultrafiltration combined with size exclusion chromatography efficiently isolates extracellular vesicles from cell culture media for compositional and functional studies, Sci Rep 7(1) (2017) 15297.
- [381] M. Nakano, M. Fujimiya, Potential effects of mesenchymal stem cell derived extracellular vesicles and exosomal miRNAs in neurological disorders, Neural Regen Res 16(12) (2021) 2359-2366.
- [382] X. Gao, Y. Xiong, Q. Li, M. Han, D. Shan, G. Yang, S. Zhang, D. Xin, R. Zhao, Z. Wang, H. Xue, G. Li, Extracellular vesicle-mediated transfer of miR-21-5p from mesenchymal stromal cells to neurons alleviates early brain injury to improve cognitive function via the PTEN/Akt pathway after subarachnoid hemorrhage, Cell Death Dis 11(5) (2020) 363.
- [383] X. Wang, Y. Wang, M. Kong, J. Yang, MiR-22-3p suppresses sepsis-induced acute kidney injury by targeting PTEN, Biosci Rep 40(6) (2020).
- [384] Y. Cui, K. Yin, Y. Gong, Y. Qu, H. Liu, H. Lin, Atrazine induces necroptosis by miR-181-5p targeting inflammation and glycometabolism in carp lymphocytes, Fish Shellfish Immunol 94 (2019) 730-738.
- [385] P. Luo, C. Jiang, P. Ji, M. Wang, J. Xu, Exosomes of stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth as an anti-inflammatory agent in temporomandibular joint chondrocytes via miR-100-5p/mTOR, Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1) (2019) 216.
- [386] T. Xie, J. Liang, N. Liu, Q. Wang, Y. Li, P.W. Noble, D. Jiang, MicroRNA-127 inhibits lung inflammation by targeting IgG Fcgamma receptor I, J Immunol 188(5) (2012) 2437-44.
- [387] Q. Luo, J. Zhu, Q. Zhang, J. Xie, C. Yi, T. Li, MicroRNA-486-5p Promotes Acute Lung Injury via Inducing Inflammation and Apoptosis by Targeting OTUD7B, Inflammation 43(3) (2020) 975-984.
- [388] L. Casadei, F. Calore, C.J. Creighton, M. Guescini, K. Batte, O.H. Iwenofu, A. Zewdu, D.A. Braggio, K.L. Bill, P. Fadda, F. Lovat, G. Lopez, P. Gasparini, J.L. Chen, R.D. Kladney, G. Leone, D. Lev, C.M. Croce, R.E. Pollock, Exosome-Derived miR-25-3p and miR-92a-3p Stimulate Liposarcoma Progression, Cancer Res 77(14) (2017) 3846-3856.
- [389] Y. Zhang, J. Yang, X. Zhou, N. Wang, Z. Li, Y. Zhou, J. Feng, D. Shen, W. Zhao, Knockdown of miR-222 inhibits inflammation and the apoptosis of LPS-stimulated human intervertebral disc nucleus pulposus cells, Int J Mol Med 44(4) (2019) 1357-1365.
- [390] M.S. Joerger-Messerli, G. Thomi, V. Haesler, I. Keller, P. Renz, D.V. Surbek, A. Schoeberlein, Human Wharton's Jelly Mesenchymal Stromal Cell-Derived Small Extracellular Vesicles Drive Oligodendroglial Maturation by Restraining MAPK/ERK and Notch Signaling Pathways, Front Cell Dev Biol 9 (2021) 622539.
- [391] D. Baltimore, M.P. Boldin, R.M. O'Connell, D.S. Rao, K.D. Taganov, MicroRNAs: new regulators of immune cell development and function, Nat Immunol 9(8) (2008) 839-45.
- [392] J. Ye, R. Guo, Y. Shi, F. Qi, C. Guo, L. Yang, miR-155 Regulated Inflammation Response by the SOCS1-STAT3-PDCD4 Axis in Atherogenesis, Mediators Inflamm 2016 (2016) 8060182.
- [393] C. Zhou, L. Zhao, K. Wang, Q. Qi, M. Wang, L. Yang, P. Sun, H. Mu, MicroRNA-146a inhibits NFkappaB activation and pro-inflammatory cytokine production by regulating IRAK1 expression in THP-1 cells, Exp Ther Med 18(4) (2019) 3078-3084.
- [394] A. Rodriguez, E. Vigorito, S. Clare, M.V. Warren, P. Couttet, D.R. Soond, S. van Dongen, R.J. Grocock, P.P. Das, E.A. Miska, D. Vetrie, K. Okkenhaug, A.J. Enright, G. Dougan, M. Turner, A. Bradley, Requirement of bic/microRNA-155 for normal immune function, Science 316(5824) (2007) 608-11.
- [395] S. Mockly, H. Seitz, Inconsistencies and Limitations of Current MicroRNA Target Identification Methods, Methods Mol Biol 1970 (2019) 291-314.
- [396] A. Adamo, J. Brandi, S. Caligola, P. Delfino, R. Bazzoni, R. Carusone, D. Cecconi, R. Giugno, M. Manfredi, E. Robotti, E. Marengo, G. Bassi, P. Takam Kamga, G. Dal Collo, A. Gatti, A. Mercuri,

M. Arigoni, M. Olivero, R.A. Calogero, M. Krampera, Extracellular Vesicles Mediate Mesenchymal Stromal Cell-Dependent Regulation of B Cell PI3K-AKT Signaling Pathway and Actin Cytoskeleton, Front Immunol 10 (2019) 446.

- [397] X. He, W. Jiang, Z. Luo, T. Qu, Z. Wang, N. Liu, Y. Zhang, P.R. Cooper, W. He, IFN-gamma regulates human dental pulp stem cells behavior via NF-kappaB and MAPK signaling, Sci Rep 7 (2017) 40681.
- [398] M. Holopainen, R.A. Colas, S. Valkonen, F. Tigistu-Sahle, K. Hyvarinen, F. Mazzacuva, P. Lehenkari, R. Kakela, J. Dalli, E. Kerkela, S. Laitinen, Polyunsaturated fatty acids modify the extracellular vesicle membranes and increase the production of proresolving lipid mediators of human mesenchymal stromal cells, Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 1864(10) (2019) 1350-1362.
- [399] R.C. Lai, S.S. Tan, R.W. Yeo, A.B. Choo, A.T. Reiner, Y. Su, Y. Shen, Z. Fu, L. Alexander, S.K. Sze, S.K. Lim, MSC secretes at least 3 EV types each with a unique permutation of membrane lipid, protein and RNA, J Extracell Vesicles 5 (2016) 29828.
- [400] N. Pacienza, R.H. Lee, E.H. Bae, D.K. Kim, Q. Liu, D.J. Prockop, G. Yannarelli, In Vitro Macrophage Assay Predicts the In Vivo Anti-inflammatory Potential of Exosomes from Human Mesenchymal Stromal Cells, Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 13 (2019) 67-76.
- [401] L.A. Vonk, S.F.J. van Dooremalen, N. Liv, J. Klumperman, P.J. Coffer, D.B.F. Saris, M.J. Lorenowicz, Mesenchymal Stromal/stem Cell-derived Extracellular Vesicles Promote Human Cartilage Regeneration In Vitro, Theranostics 8(4) (2018) 906-920.
- [402] P. Xu, Y. Xin, Z. Zhang, X. Zou, K. Xue, H. Zhang, W. Zhang, K. Liu, Extracellular vesicles from adipose-derived stem cells ameliorate ultraviolet B-induced skin photoaging by attenuating reactive oxygen species production and inflammation, Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1) (2020) 264.
- [403] K.W. Witwer, E.I. Buzas, L.T. Bemis, A. Bora, C. Lasser, J. Lotvall, E.N. Nolte-'t Hoen, M.G. Piper, S. Sivaraman, J. Skog, C. Thery, M.H. Wauben, F. Hochberg, Standardization of sample collection, isolation and analysis methods in extracellular vesicle research, J Extracell Vesicles 2 (2013).
- [404] C. Lo Sicco, D. Reverberi, C. Balbi, V. Ulivi, E. Principi, L. Pascucci, P. Becherini, M.C. Bosco, L. Varesio, C. Franzin, M. Pozzobon, R. Cancedda, R. Tasso, Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles as Mediators of Anti-Inflammatory Effects: Endorsement of Macrophage Polarization, Stem Cells Transl Med 6(3) (2017) 1018-1028.
- [405] H. Kang, M.J. Lee, S.J. Park, M.S. Lee, Lipopolysaccharide-Preconditioned Periodontal Ligament Stem Cells Induce M1 Polarization of Macrophages through Extracellular Vesicles, Int J Mol Sci 19(12) (2018).
- [406] D. Jakimovski, S. Bittner, R. Zivadinov, S.A. Morrow, R.H. Benedict, F. Zipp, B. Weinstock-Guttman, Multiple sclerosis, Lancet 403(10422) (2024) 183-202.
- [407] V. Gratpain, A. Loriot, P. Bottemanne, L. d'Auria, R. Terrasi, V.L. Payen, V. van Pesch, G.G. Muccioli, A. des Rieux, Influence of a pro-inflammatory stimulus on the miRNA and lipid content of human dental stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles and their impact on microglial activation, Heliyon 10(5) (2024) e27025.
- [408] U. Glaenzel, Y. Jin, R. Nufer, W. Li, K. Schroer, S. Adam-Stitah, S. Peter van Marle, E. Legangneux, H. Borell, A.D. James, A. Meissner, G. Camenisch, A. Gardin, Metabolism and Disposition of Siponimod, a Novel Selective S1P(1)/S1P(5) Agonist, in Healthy Volunteers and In Vitro Identification of Human Cytochrome P450 Enzymes Involved in Its Oxidative Metabolism, Drug Metab Dispos 46(7) (2018) 1001-1013.
- [409] W. Ong, J. Lin, M.E. Bechler, K. Wang, M. Wang, C. Ffrench-Constant, S.Y. Chew, Microfiber drug/gene delivery platform for study of myelination, Acta Biomater 75 (2018) 152-160.

- [410] A. Grangier, J. Branchu, J. Volatron, M. Piffoux, F. Gazeau, C. Wilhelm, A.K.A. Silva, Technological advances towards extracellular vesicles mass production, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 176 (2021) 113843.
- [411] A. Pinto, I. Marangon, J. Mereaux, A. Nicolas-Boluda, G. Lavieu, C. Wilhelm, L. Sarda-Mantel, A.K.A. Silva, M. Pocard, F. Gazeau, Immune Reprogramming Precision Photodynamic Therapy of Peritoneal Metastasis by Scalable Stem-Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles, ACS Nano 15(2) (2021) 3251-3263.
- [412] R.R. Mizenko, T. Brostoff, T. Rojalin, H.J. Koster, H.S. Swindell, G.S. Leiserowitz, A. Wang, R.P. Carney, Tetraspanins are unevenly distributed across single extracellular vesicles and bias sensitivity to multiplexed cancer biomarkers, J Nanobiotechnology 19(1) (2021) 250.
- [413] R. Lees, R. Tempest, A. Law, D. Aubert, O.G. Davies, S. Williams, N. Peake, B. Peacock, Single Extracellular Vesicle Transmembrane Protein Characterization by Nano-Flow Cytometry, J Vis Exp (185) (2022).
- [414] J. Kowal, G. Arras, M. Colombo, M. Jouve, J.P. Morath, B. Primdal-Bengtson, F. Dingli, D. Loew, M. Tkach, C. Thery, Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(8) (2016) E968-77.
- [415] W. Thompson, E.T. Papoutsakis, The role of biomechanical stress in extracellular vesicle formation, composition and activity, Biotechnol Adv 66 (2023) 108158.
- [416] J. Gruchot, F. Lein, I. Lewen, L. Reiche, V. Weyers, P. Petzsch, P. Gottle, K. Kohrer, H.P. Hartung, P. Kury, D. Kremer, Siponimod Modulates the Reaction of Microglial Cells to Pro-Inflammatory Stimulation, Int J Mol Sci 23(21) (2022).
- [417] M.E. Bechler, A Neuron-Free Microfiber Assay to Assess Myelin Sheath Formation, Methods Mol Biol 1936 (2019) 97-110.
- [418] B. Emery, Regulation of oligodendrocyte differentiation and myelination, Science 330(6005) (2010) 779-82.
- [419] H.S. Domingues, C.C. Portugal, R. Socodato, J.B. Relvas, Oligodendrocyte, Astrocyte, and Microglia Crosstalk in Myelin Development, Damage, and Repair, Front Cell Dev Biol 4 (2016) 71.
- [420] S.F. Haruna Hirose, Shingo Kanemaru, Shohei Yoshimoto, Noriyoshi Matsumoto, Hisashi Anan, Etsuko Matsuzaki Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1-mediated odontogenic differentiation of mouse apical papilla-derived stem cells, Journal of Dental Sciences (2024).
- [421] E. Matsuzaki, M. Minakami, N. Matsumoto, H. Anan, Dental regenerative therapy targeting sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) signaling pathway in endodontics, Jpn Dent Sci Rev 56(1) (2020) 127-134.
- [422] M.A. Mazzola, R. Raheja, G. Murugaiyan, H. Rajabi, D. Kumar, T. Pertel, K. Regev, R. Griffin, L. Aly, P. Kivisakk, P. Nejad, B. Patel, N. Gwanyalla, H. Hei, B. Glanz, T. Chitnis, H.L. Weiner, R. Gandhi, Identification of a novel mechanism of action of fingolimod (FTY720) on human effector T cell function through TCF-1 upregulation, J Neuroinflammation 12 (2015) 245.
- [423] A. Ntranos, O. Hall, D.P. Robinson, I.V. Grishkan, J.T. Schott, D.M. Tosi, S.L. Klein, P.A. Calabresi, A.R. Gocke, FTY720 impairs CD8 T-cell function independently of the sphingosine-1-phosphate pathway, J Neuroimmunol 270(1-2) (2014) 13-21.
- [424] A. Ogasawara, H. Takeuchi, H. Komiya, Y. Ogawa, K. Nishimura, S. Kubota, S. Hashiguchi, K. Takahashi, M. Kunii, K. Tanaka, M. Tada, H. Doi, F. Tanaka, Anti-inflammatory effects of siponimod on astrocytes, Neurosci Res 184 (2022) 38-46.
- [425] S. Le Saux, H. Aarrass, J. Lai-Kee-Him, P. Bron, J. Armengaud, G. Miotello, J. Bertrand-Michel, E. Dubois, S. George, O. Faklaris, J.M. Devoisselle, P. Legrand, J. Chopineau, M. Morille, Post-

production modifications of murine mesenchymal stem cell (mMSC) derived extracellular vesicles (EVs) and impact on their cellular interaction, Biomaterials 231 (2020) 119675.

- [426] A. Ogaki, Y. Ikegaya, R. Koyama, Extracellular Vesicles Taken up by Astrocytes, Int J Mol Sci 22(19) (2021).
- [427] M. Palviainen, H. Saari, O. Karkkainen, J. Pekkinen, S. Auriola, M. Yliperttula, M. Puhka, K. Hanhineva, P.R. Siljander, Metabolic signature of extracellular vesicles depends on the cell culture conditions, J Extracell Vesicles 8(1) (2019) 1596669.
- [428] F. Ferro, R. Spelat, G. Shaw, N. Duffy, M.N. Islam, P.M. O'Shea, D. O'Toole, L. Howard, J.M. Murphy, Survival/Adaptation of Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells After Long-Term Starvation Through Selective Processes, Stem Cells 37(6) (2019) 813-827.
- [429] R.A. Haraszti, R. Miller, M.L. Dubuke, H.E. Rockwell, A.H. Coles, E. Sapp, M.C. Didiot, D. Echeverria, M. Stoppato, Y.Y. Sere, J. Leszyk, J.F. Alterman, B. Godinho, M.R. Hassler, J. McDaniel, N.R. Narain, R. Wollacott, Y. Wang, S.A. Shaffer, M.A. Kiebish, M. DiFiglia, N. Aronin, A. Khvorova, Serum Deprivation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Improves Exosome Activity and Alters Lipid and Protein Composition, iScience 16 (2019) 230-241.
- [430] B.M. Lehrich, Y. Liang, M.S. Fiandaca, Foetal bovine serum influence on in vitro extracellular vesicle analyses, J Extracell Vesicles 10(3) (2021) e12061.
- [431] A. Berger, I. Araujo-Filho, M. Piffoux, A. Nicolas-Boluda, A. Grangier, I. Boucenna, C.C. Real, F.L.N. Marques, D. de Paula Faria, A.C.M. do Rego, C. Broudin, F. Gazeau, C. Wilhelm, O. Clement, C. Cellier, C.A. Buchpiguel, G. Rahmi, A.K.A. Silva, Local administration of stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in a thermoresponsive hydrogel promotes a pro-healing effect in a rat model of colo-cutaneous post-surgical fistula, Nanoscale 13(1) (2021) 218-232.
- [432] H.H. Tsai, K.C. Yang, M.H. Wu, J.C. Chen, C.L. Tseng, The Effects of Different Dynamic Culture Systems on Cell Proliferation and Osteogenic Differentiation in Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells, Int J Mol Sci 20(16) (2019).
- [433] K.W. Witwer, B.W.M. Van Balkom, S. Bruno, A. Choo, M. Dominici, M. Gimona, A.F. Hill, D. De Kleijn, M. Koh, R.C. Lai, S.A. Mitsialis, L.A. Ortiz, E. Rohde, T. Asada, W.S. Toh, D.J. Weiss, L. Zheng, B. Giebel, S.K. Lim, Defining mesenchymal stromal cell (MSC)-derived small extracellular vesicles for therapeutic applications, J Extracell Vesicles 8(1) (2019) 1609206.
- [434] M. Dominici, K. Le Blanc, I. Mueller, I. Slaper-Cortenbach, F. Marini, D. Krause, R. Deans, A. Keating, D. Prockop, E. Horwitz, Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement, Cytotherapy 8(4) (2006) 315-7.
- [435] D.B. Patel, K.M. Gray, Y. Santharam, T.N. Lamichhane, K.M. Stroka, S.M. Jay, Impact of cell culture parameters on production and vascularization bioactivity of mesenchymal stem cellderived extracellular vesicles, Bioeng Transl Med 2(2) (2017) 170-179.
- [436] A. Del Fattore, R. Luciano, L. Pascucci, B.M. Goffredo, E. Giorda, M. Scapaticci, A. Fierabracci, M. Muraca, Immunoregulatory Effects of Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles on T Lymphocytes, Cell Transplant 24(12) (2015) 2615-27.
- [437] J.E. Hellwinkel, J.S. Redzic, T.A. Harland, D. Gunaydin, T.J. Anchordoquy, M.W. Graner, Gliomaderived extracellular vesicles selectively suppress immune responses, Neuro Oncol 18(4) (2016) 497-506.
- [438] M.T. Harting, A.K. Srivastava, S. Zhaorigetu, H. Bair, K.S. Prabhakara, N.E. Toledano Furman, J.V. Vykoukal, K.A. Ruppert, C.S. Cox, Jr., S.D. Olson, Inflammation-Stimulated Mesenchymal Stromal Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Attenuate Inflammation, Stem Cells 36(1) (2018) 79-90.

- [439] A.K. Rutman, S. Negi, M. Gasparrini, C.P. Hasilo, J. Tchervenkov, S. Paraskevas, Immune Response to Extracellular Vesicles From Human Islets of Langerhans in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes, Endocrinology 159(11) (2018) 3834-3847.
- [440] D.W. Hagey, M. Ojansivu, B.R. Bostancioglu, O. Saher, J.P. Bost, M.O. Gustafsson, R. Gramignoli, M. Svahn, D. Gupta, M.M. Stevens, A. Gorgens, S. El Andaloussi, The cellular response to extracellular vesicles is dependent on their cell source and dose, Sci Adv 9(35) (2023) eadh1168.
- [441] L. Fernandez-Messina, C. Gutierrez-Vazquez, E. Rivas-Garcia, F. Sanchez-Madrid, H. de la Fuente, Immunomodulatory role of microRNAs transferred by extracellular vesicles, Biol Cell 107(3) (2015) 61-77.
- [442] M. Richter, K. Fuhrmann, G. Fuhrmann, Evaluation of the Storage Stability of Extracellular Vesicles, J Vis Exp (147) (2019).
- [443] S. Gelibter, G. Marostica, A. Mandelli, S. Siciliani, P. Podini, A. Finardi, R. Furlan, The impact of storage on extracellular vesicles: A systematic study, J Extracell Vesicles 11(2) (2022) e12162.
- [444] A. Gorgens, G. Corso, D.W. Hagey, R. Jawad Wiklander, M.O. Gustafsson, U. Felldin, Y. Lee, R.B. Bostancioglu, H. Sork, X. Liang, W. Zheng, D.K. Mohammad, S.I. van de Wakker, P. Vader, A.M. Zickler, D.R. Mamand, L. Ma, M.N. Holme, M.M. Stevens, O.P.B. Wiklander, S. El Andaloussi, Identification of storage conditions stabilizing extracellular vesicles preparations, J Extracell Vesicles 11(6) (2022) e12238.
- [445] F.A.W. Coumans, A.R. Brisson, E.I. Buzas, F. Dignat-George, E.E.E. Drees, S. El-Andaloussi, C. Emanueli, A. Gasecka, A. Hendrix, A.F. Hill, R. Lacroix, Y. Lee, T.G. van Leeuwen, N. Mackman, I. Mager, J.P. Nolan, E. van der Pol, D.M. Pegtel, S. Sahoo, P.R.M. Siljander, G. Sturk, O. de Wever, R. Nieuwland, Methodological Guidelines to Study Extracellular Vesicles, Circ Res 120(10) (2017) 1632-1648.
- [446] G. Fuhrmann, R. Chandrawati, P.A. Parmar, T.J. Keane, S.A. Maynard, S. Bertazzo, M.M. Stevens, Engineering Extracellular Vesicles with the Tools of Enzyme Prodrug Therapy, Adv Mater 30(15) (2018) e1706616.
- [447] G. Treton, C. Sayer, M. Schurz, M. Jaritsch, A. Muller, C.T. Matea, V. Stanojlovic, H. Melo-Benirschke, C. Be, C. Krembel, S. Rodde, M. Haffke, S. Hintermann, A. Marzinzik, S. Ripoche, C. Blochl, J. Hollerweger, D. Auer, C. Cabrele, C.G. Huber, M. Hintersteiner, T. Wagner, A. Lingel, N. Meisner-Kober, Quantitative and functional characterisation of extracellular vesicles after passive loading with hydrophobic or cholesterol-tagged small molecules, J Control Release 361 (2023) 694-716.
- [448] D.P. Tieleman, H. Leontiadou, A.E. Mark, S.J. Marrink, Simulation of pore formation in lipid bilayers by mechanical stress and electric fields, J Am Chem Soc 125(21) (2003) 6382-3.
- [449] M.N. Thone, Y.J. Kwon, Extracellular blebs: Artificially-induced extracellular vesicles for facile production and clinical translation, Methods 177 (2020) 135-145.
- [450] D. Jeong, W. Jo, J. Yoon, J. Kim, S. Gianchandani, Y.S. Gho, J. Park, Nanovesicles engineered from ES cells for enhanced cell proliferation, Biomaterials 35(34) (2014) 9302-10.
- [451] M. Lu, Y. Huang, Bioinspired exosome-like therapeutics and delivery nanoplatforms, Biomaterials 242 (2020) 119925.
- [452] U.S. FDA, Public Safety Notification on Exosome Products, 2019. <u>https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/safety-availability-biologics/public-safety-notification-exosome-products</u>. (Accessed 2 June 2024).
- [453] A.K.A. Silva, M. Morille, M. Piffoux, S. Arumugam, P. Mauduit, J. Larghero, A. Bianchi, K. Aubertin,
 O. Blanc-Brude, D. Noel, E. Velot, C. Ravel, C. Elie-Caille, A. Sebbagh, C. Boulanger, C. Wilhelm,

G. Rahmi, I. Raymond-Letron, K. Cherukula, T. Montier, C. Martinaud, J.M. Bach, O. Favre-Bulle, J. Spadavecchia, C. Jorgensen, P. Menasche, C. Aussel, J. Chopineau, M. Mosser, M. Ullah, N. Sailliet, N. Luciani, N. Mathieu, P.E. Rautou, S. Brouard, W. Boireau, S. Jauliac, M. Dedier, J.H. Trouvin, F. Gazeau, M. Trouillas, J. Peltzer, A. Monsel, S. Banzet, Development of extracellular vesicle-based medicinal products: A position paper of the group "Extracellular Vesicle translatiOn to clinicaL perspectiVEs - EVOLVE France", Adv Drug Deliv Rev 179 (2021) 114001.

- [454] C. Paganini, U. Capasso Palmiero, G. Pocsfalvi, N. Touzet, A. Bongiovanni, P. Arosio, Scalable Production and Isolation of Extracellular Vesicles: Available Sources and Lessons from Current Industrial Bioprocesses, Biotechnol J 14(10) (2019) e1800528.
- [455] P. Panwar, B. Pandey, P.C. Lakhera, K.P. Singh, Preparation, characterization, and in vitro release study of albendazole-encapsulated nanosize liposomes, Int J Nanomedicine 5 (2010) 101-8.
- [456] L. van der Koog, T.B. Gandek, A. Nagelkerke, Liposomes and Extracellular Vesicles as Drug Delivery Systems: A Comparison of Composition, Pharmacokinetics, and Functionalization, Adv Healthc Mater 11(5) (2022) e2100639.
- [457] L. Sercombe, T. Veerati, F. Moheimani, S.Y. Wu, A.K. Sood, S. Hua, Advances and Challenges of Liposome Assisted Drug Delivery, Front Pharmacol 6 (2015) 286.
- [458] M. Richter, P. Vader, G. Fuhrmann, Approaches to surface engineering of extracellular vesicles, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 173 (2021) 416-426.
- [459] G. Rosso, V. Cauda, Biomimicking Extracellular Vesicles with Fully Artificial Ones: A Rational Design of EV-BIOMIMETICS toward Effective Theranostic Tools in Nanomedicine, ACS Biomater Sci Eng 9(11) (2023) 5924-5932.
- [460] Y. Wen, Q. Fu, A. Soliwoda, S. Zhang, M. Zheng, W. Mao, Y. Wan, Cell-derived nanovesicles prepared by membrane extrusion are good substitutes for natural extracellular vesicles, Extracell Vesicle 1 (2022).
- [461] S. Kalimuthu, P. Gangadaran, R.L. Rajendran, L. Zhu, J.M. Oh, H.W. Lee, A. Gopal, S.H. Baek, S.Y. Jeong, S.W. Lee, J. Lee, B.C. Ahn, A New Approach for Loading Anticancer Drugs Into Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Exosome Mimetics for Cancer Therapy, Front Pharmacol 9 (2018) 1116.
- [462] A.I. Ivanov, Pharmacological inhibition of endocytic pathways: is it specific enough to be useful?, Methods Mol Biol 440 (2008) 15-33.